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Letter from the Chairman
of the Supervisory Board

Dear Sir or Madam,

After a particularly difficutt period of economic downturn, the year 2010 brought ease and a growing stabilisation of the market.
Due to a well-considered strategy PKN ORLEN managed to take full advantage of the improved macroeconomic climate.
Consistency in implementation of optimising solutions resulted in achievement of the best financial result in five years and
significant strengthening of the Company’s position. This confirmed adequacy of the adopted and consistently implemented
plan for development of the Company.

In 2010 the Company completed the first stage of the strategy developed two years earlier. Results achieved in that period
considerably exceeded market expectations and improved the Company’s financial liquidity. Operating profit for the last year
amounted to PLN 3.1 billion, while net profit amounted to PLN 2.5 billion. Moreover, the Company achieved record total
sales volumes, which exceeded the level of 34 million tonnes for the first time in history. Visible reduction of debt enhanced
the trust of investors and shareholders as well as strengthened the position of PKN ORLEN.

The Company continued preparations for divestment processes planned in the long-term development strategy for PKN ORLEN.
These transactions will allow the assumed ownership structure of ORLEN Capital Group to be achieved. However, it is worth
noting that due to significant improvement of the financial standing of the Company and thus ability to finance development
investments from current funds it will be possible to carry out divestments at the convenient time for the Company, when
favourable market conditions will allow the Company to achieve the highest possible capital gains.

PKN ORLEN continued to develop on international markets, among others in Germany where in 2010 — in accordance with
the acquisition plan included in the strategy — it expanded its fuel stations network by 56 new stations. Due to completion of pro-
ceedings between Agrofert Holding and PKN ORLEN in the arbitration court Unipetrol strengthened its position on the Czech
market and investors’ trust in the company increased, which resulted in significant increase of the stock exchange price.

In 2010 the Company also conducted analyses that will allow it to develop strategies for investments in Lithuania.
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Last year activities centred around the development of new investments and expansion of these competencies of the Com-
pany that constitute the basis for implementation of the second stage of the strategy assuming development of PKN ORLEN
into the multi-utility company. In the scope of all concessions held for exploration of raw materials the Company conducted
in accordance with the plan numerous technical and strategic research works and analyses which will allow to further develop
activities in this segment. Moreover, the Company carried out increasingly advanced works on development of the energy
sector, for example construction of the gas power plant in Wioctawek entered into a new stage of works.

Moreover, in 2010 the Company implemented the strategy of developing key productive assets. It is worth noting that 2010
was crucial in terms of completed technological investments, both in the petrochemical segment and in the scope of develop-
ment of the energy sector. These will allow the company modernise production processes, increase efficiency of petrol usage
and expand the portfolio of petrochemical products. Completed projects mark the beginning of the series of environmental

investments constituting a part of the Company’s development strategy.

Last year PKN ORLEN conducted numerous image projects related to questions of vital importance for Poland and the Polish
economy, initiated a debate on economic issues and supported development of Polish sport and Polish sportsmen on the inter-

national arena. Activities carried out by the Company were appreciated and awarded by experts as well as the public.

I hope that for PKN ORLEN the coming year will be the time to further strengthen its market positious and improve its financial
standing. | am convinced that striving persistently to fulfil the assumed objectives will allow us to take advantage of the macro-
economic situation in the best possible way to ensure development of the Company.

Maciej Mataczynski

acty et aeed e
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
of PKN ORLEN



PKN ORLEN Management Board

Dariusz Jacek KraWiec — President of the Management Board,
Chief Executive Officer

From 7 June 2008 he acted as Vice-President of the Management Board of PKN ORLEN
and on |8 September 2008 he was appointed President of the Management Board, CEO.
Aged 43, he is a graduate of the Poznan University of Economics.

In the years 1992-1997 he worked for Bank PEKAO SA, Ernst & Young SA and Price-
Waterhouse Sp. z 0.0. In 1998, he was with the UK branch of the Japanese investment bank
Nomura plc headquartered in London, where he was responsible for the Polish market.

Next, in 1998-2002, he held the post of President of the Management Board and CEO
of Impexmetal S.A. In 2002 he became President of the Management Board of Elektrim S.A.
From 2006 to 2008 he was President of the Management Board of Action SA. He presided
over the supervisory boards of the following companies: Huta Aluminium “Konin” SA,
Metalexfrance SA Paris, S and | SA Lozanna, ce-market.com SA, and was a member
of supervisory boards of other companies: Impexmetal SA, Elektrim SA, PTC Sp. z o.0.,
Elektrim Telekomunikacja Sp. z o.0., Elektrim Magadex SA, Elektrim Volt SA and PTE AIG.

Currently, he serves as Chair of the Supervisory Board of Unipetrol a.s. and Member
of the Supervisory Board of Polkomtel SA.

Stawomir JQd FZGjCZYk — Vice-President of the Management Board,
Chief Financial Officer

On 7 June 2008 he was appointed Member of the Management Board of PKN ORLEN,
and Vice-President of the Management Board, CFO in September 2008. Aged 42,
he is a graduate of the tédz University of Technology. In 1997, he graduated from the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in London as a British Certified Accountant.

In the years 1992—1997 he worked for: Telebud, ASEA Brown Boveri, PriceWater-
house Sp. z 0.0. In 1997-2002 he was Member of the Management Board, Financial
Director in Impexmetal SA He served as Chair and Member of the Supervisory Boards
of the Group’s companies in Poland, Europe, Singapore and the US. In 2002-2003 he held
the position of Financial Director in ORFE SA and Member of the Management Board
of Cefarm Slaski SA In the following years (2003-2005) he headed the Controlling Divi-
sion of Telekomunikacja Polska Group. From 2005 until June 2008 he served as President
of the Management Board, CEO of TPEmiTel Sp. o.0. controlled by Telekomunikacja
Polska Group.

Currently, he is Deputy Chair of the Supervisory Board of Unipetrol a.s., Member
of the Supervisory Board of Polkomtel S.A. and Member of the Management Board
of AB ORLEN Lietuva.

Composition of Management Board as of 31 May 201 1.



PKN ORLEN Annual Report 2010

PKN ORLEN Management Board

Wojciech Kotlarek - Member of the Management Board, Sales

Appointed to the position of Member of the PKN ORLEN Management Board on 7 June 2008.
Aged 49, he is a graduate of the AGH University of Science and Technology in Krakéw, Faculty
of Drilling, Oil and Gas. In 1997-2002, he completed post-graduate courses at the War-
saw School of Economics: “Project Management” and “Enterprise Management Strategy”.

In 1988—1999 he held managerial positions in Polskie Gérnictwo Naftowe i Gazownictwo,
Dora Sp. j.v. and Neste Polska Sp. z 0.0. From 1999 to 2006 he worked for PKN ORLEN
as Director of Regional Wholesale Office. In the following years (2006—2008), he served
as Vice-President of the Management Board, Chief Operating Officer of Petrolot.

Currently, he presides over the supervisory boards of the following companies: IKS “Solino” SA,
ORLEN Transport SA.

Krystian Pater — Member of the Management Board, Refinery Operations

Appointed to the position of Member of the PKIN ORLEN Management Board on |5 March 2007.
Aged 46, he is a graduate of the Nicolaus Copernicus University in Torun, Facutty of Chemistry.

He completed post-graduate courses in “Chemical Engineering and Equipment” at the Warsaw
University of Technology (1989), “Management and Marketing” at the Pawet Wiodkowic
University College (1997), “Petroleum Sector Management” (1998) and “Value Based
Management” (2001-2002) at the Warsaw School of Economics.

From 1993, he worked in Petrochemia Plock S.A., and then PKN ORLEN, where from
2005 to 2007 he performed the duties of Executive Director for Refinery Production.

Currently he is Member of the Management Board of AB ORLEN Lietuva and Member
of the Supervisory Board of Unipetrol a.s. Additionally, he holds the functions of: Vice-
President of the Management Board of SITPNIG, Member of the Management Board
of CONCAWE and Chairman of the Association of Oil Industry Workers in Ptock.

Marek Serafin — Member of the Management Board, Petrochemical Operations

Appointed to the position of Member of the PKN ORLEN Management Board on 7 June 2008.
Aged 41, he is a graduate of the Poznan University of Technology, Faculty of Civil Engineer-
ing. He completed MBA studies at the Warsaw University of Technology Business School
organised in collaboration with the London Business School.

In 1994-1998 he held the position of Experienced Senior Consultant at Arthur Andersen,
later, in 1998-1999, he worked as Operating Planning Director in Kampania Piwowar-
ska SA. In 1999-2002, he worked for Impexmetal S.A. Group, first as Operations Director
at Huta Aluminium “Konin” SA, then as President of the Management Board, CEO of Huta
“Zawiercie” SA. From 2002 he was General Manager at the ArcelorMittal Group and,
concurrently, President of the Management Board of Huta Warszawa, as well as President
of the Management Board of Silscrap Sp. z o.o.

Currently he serves as: President of the Supervisory Board of ANWIL SA and Basell Orlen
Polyolefins Sp. z 0.0. and Vice-President of the Management Board of Unipetrol a.s.
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Letter from the President
of the Management Board of PKN ORLEN

Ladies and Gentlemen,
Dear Shareholders,

[t is with great satisfaction that | announce the successful completion in 2010 of the first stage of the Company'’s strategy
adopted two years earlier. Moreover, we posted the best financial results in five years. The Company’s position at the begin-
ning of the previous year was not comfortable, both due to its precarious financial standing as well as the prevailing economic
environment. The results for 2010 fully confirm that the pursued strategy is effective and well chosen.

After two years of downturn, the economic conditions in the fuel industry began to stabilise, which is particularly important
for downstream companies. The improved economic climate combined with measures taken to enhance our operating effi-
ciency allowed us to close the year with excellent financial results, which surpassed market expectations.

In 2010, operating profit was PLN 3.1bn and net profit reached PLN 2.5 bn. Revenue generated in 2010 grew by 23%
year on year, while operating and net profit were higher by PLN 2 bn and PLN 1.2 bn, respectively, than the 2009 figures.
The Company posted the highest ever total sales volumes of more than 34 million tonnes, with the strongest growth recorded
by the retail segment. Last year, the ORLEN Group increased the volume of crude oil processed to 28 million tonnes. A par-
ticularly noteworthy fact was that in Q4 2010 the Lithuanian Mazeikiu refinery fully utilised its production capacities for the first
time in a decade.

Although the economic recovery was still very fragile, we were able to significantly improve our liquidity position, as evidenced
by PLN 3.2 bn of free cash flows and more than EUR [bn of available credit facilities. Thanks to our determination in pursu-
ing the envisaged objectives, the ORLEN Group emerged from a difficult period and regained the trust of its Shareholders,
financial institutions and rating agencies — Fitch and Moody's upgraded the Company'’s rating outlook from negative to stable,
and the price of PKN ORLEN shares grew by as much as nearly 35% over the year, outperforming the WIG 20 index,
which gained less than 5%.



2010 also witnessed intensive work to prepare and lay down strong foundations for the second stage of the Group’s strategy
whereby it is to develop into a multi-utility business. Although the process will be long and require substantial capital expendi-
ture, all the strategic and technical objectives have been met according to plans. As part of our strategy aimed to develop
the upstream operations, in 2010 we carried out tests and analyses under another phase of work on all our exploration licences
on the Baltic shelf, in the province of Lublin and on the Sierakéw field, where we are engaged in a joint project with PGNIG.
Moreover, we executed an agreement with the Ukrainian Ministry of Environmental Protection, under which we will be able
to explore for hydrocarbons in the territory of Ukraine.

We are also well advanced in the work designed to develop a power generation segment, where the first stage will consist
in the construction of a gas-fired power plant in Wioctawek. In 2010, we obtained two key documents: a final environmental
permit for the project and a grid connection approval. We also announced a tender to find a supplier of a steam turbine
to be installed at the plant.

We continue our efforts to achieve the Group's target ownership structure. In that context, in 2010 we were mainly involved
in preparations to sell our stakes in Polkomtel and Anwil. Thanks to the work carried out in 2010 related to the disposal
of Polkomtel shares, we reached the most advanced stage of the transaction to date. On the other hand, due to unfavour-
able market conditions, we did not close the sale of Anwil shares, which we believe were undervalued by bidders. It is worth
noting that — thanks to the significant strengthening of the Company’s financial standing over the last two years — we can
afford to put our divestment plans on hold until the market climate becomes more favourable. In response to signals from
the market, we began to analyse in detail the scenario of making two separate sale offers, one for Anwil's fertiliser segment
and one for its PVC production business.

In 2010, we also took steps to develop the optimum strategy for ORLEN Lietuva. A reputable advisor — global investment
bank Nomura — was engaged to prepare a relevant recommendation. We expect the recommendation to be delivered in late
Ql orearly Q2 2011,

As part of our strategic commitment to identify acquisition opportunities which satisfy our requirements, we expanded our
German network to include 56 new service stations in Thuringia and Saxony, purchased last year from OMV Deutschland
GmbH. As a result, the German network of the ORLEN Group entered new markets in those German states where it was

previously absent.

In 2010, the Arbitration Court of Prague passed the long-awaited awards in the arbitration proceedings instigated against PKN
ORLEN by Agrofert Holding. The Court, which considered the individual cases, dismissed three of the four claims brought
by the Czech company and declared 90% of the total damages claimed to be groundless. The resolution of the dispute, which
lasted for many years, contributed to the stabilisation of the Company’s position in the Czech Republic, helping restore investor

confidence. The price of Unipetrol shares surged by more than 41% over 2010.

The previous year saw a breakthrough in the Group’s technology-related capex projects covering its key production assets.

As planned, we placed in service a hydrogen generation unit and commissioned a diesel oil hydrodesulphurisation unit (HON VII).
We also completed the technical stage of the construction of strategic facilities in the petrochemical segment, i.e. a paraxylene
unit in Plock and a purified terephthalic acid unit in Wioctawek. The launch of the units will allow us to significantly enhance
gasoline utilisation and expand our petrochemical product mix. We also launched a programme designed to develop our
power generation assets. We started the first project in that area — the construction of the most technologically advanced steam
boiler in Poland — one of a number of environmental projects planned to be implemented by the end of 2017.
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To sum up the Company’s activities in 2010, we need to mention projects run by the Company as a leader of the Polish economy.
One of the key projects was the Company'’s first “Future Fuelled by Knowledge” conference, devoted to Poland’s economic
transformation after 1989, which attracted many prominent representatives of the political, cultural and business life. The confer-
ence was a natural expression of PKN ORLEN's philosophy whereby it has committed to raise themes relevant for business
and initiate public debate on key economic issues. The Company also remains engaged in important sports events and supports

talent representing Poland on an international arena.

Over the last 12 months, the Company'’s efforts were appreciated both by experts and the public. ORLEN was awarded
the title of the most valuable Polish brand in the ranking of the Rzeczpospolita daily, we were also the highest ranked Polish
company in the Platts TOP 250 Global Energy Companies ranking. The accuracy of our decisions was confirmed by the Best
Managed Company in CEE 2010 award granted by the prestigious Euromoney magazine and the IR Magazine's award
for the best investor relations. The Company was also granted the title of IT Leader for the best implementation of IT resou-
rces in the industrial sector.

At the beginning of 2010, we were confident that we were following the right path and that our plans would allow us to strengthen
the Company’s market position. We achieved much more than we hoped for. The ORLEN Group is regaining strength
and its development plans are based on solid foundations, which justifies an optimistic outlook for the future.

However, that success would not be possible without the effort and commitment of the Company’s Employees and Partners,
to whom | am deeply grateful. | would also like to thank the Shareholders and Members of the Supervisory Board for their
trust and support, which helped us deliver all our strategic objectives and post such excellent performance, benefiting the entire
ORLEN Group.

Dariusz Jacek Krawiec

President of the Management Board, CEO
PKN ORLEN



THE INTERNATIONAL YEAR OF CHEMISTRY 2011

It would be difficult to imagine modern civilisation without chemistry. Cleaning products, medications or fuel would not
exist without complex chemical processes used at every stage of industrial production. A lot of daily use products such
as kitchen tables, plates, wall and floor coverings, textiles, and even casings of computers and mobile phones are
the products of modern chemistry. It lies behind almost every item and product we deal with in everyday life. Even food
we eat is in substantial part chemically processed, and its basic ingredients have been produced on the basis of artificial
fertilisers containing precisely controlled amounts of elements stimulating the growth of plants. “Artificial fertilisers are
so important for our civilisation that if they were withdrawn from use, within one year probably one in three or four
people in the world would die of hunger” — emphasizes Prof. Dr. Hab. Robert Hotyst from the Institute of Physical
Chemistry at the Polish Academy of Sciences.

source: Institute of Physical Chemistry (Polish Academy of Sciences) — www.ichf.edu.pl
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About PKN ORLEN....

Our mission

Aiming to become the regional leader, we ensure
long-term value creation for our shareholders by offering

our customers products and services of the highest quality.
All our operations adhere to 'best practice’ principles
of corporate governance and social responsibility, with

a focus on care for our employees and the natural

environment.

Our motto

Whenever you need us.

PKN ORLEN s a regional leader of the crude oil industry,
a leading producer and dealer of refinery and petrochemi-
cal products. The main activities of the Company include
processing of crude oil into petrol, diesel fuel, furnace oil,

aviation fuel, plastics and petrochemical products.

The Company manages seven refineries in Poland,
the Czech Republic and Lithuania, including refinery and
petrochemical facilities located in Plock (Poland) ranked
among the most modern and efficient facilities of the kind

in Europe.

PKN ORLEN has the largest fuel station network with
2,601 fuel stations in Central Europe, covering Poland,
Germany, the Czech Republic and Lithuania. ORLEN
retail network is based on effective logistics infrastructure
consisting of over and underground storage facilities and

a network of long-distance pipelines.

As at the end of 2010, the number of ORLEN Group
employees totalled 22,040* people, including 4,513 in PKN
ORLEN, 4,250 in Unipetrol Group, 2,696 in ORLEN
Lietuva Group and 126 in ORLEN Deutschland.

PKN ORLEN
on the Capital Market

PKN ORLEN shares are listed on the Warsaw Stock
Exchange and in the form of Global Depository Receipts
(GDRs) on the London Stock Exchange. Trading in depo-
sitory receipts also takes place in the USA on the OTC
market.

The Company shares are listed on the official market
at the Warsaw Stock Exchange in the continuous trading
system and are included among the largest company
indexes: WIG20 and WIG, as well as WIG-fuel index.
Since 19 November 2009, PKN ORLEN has maintained
its position in the elite group of Polish companies included
among the Respect Index, an index of companies involved
in corporate social responsibility.

The Company share capital amounts to PLN 534,636,326.25
and is divided into 427,709,061 ordinary bearer shares
with a par value of PLN .25 per share.

* In this context ORLEN Group refers to the Company and its subsidiaries

covered by consolidation.
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The Bank of New York Mellon is the depository
of the Company’s depository receipts. The transaction
unit on the London Stock Exchange is | GDR, which

equals two shares of the Company.

One of PKN ORLEN subsidiaries, the Czech company
Unipetrol a.s., is also present on the capital market, with
its shares listed on the Prague Stock Exchange, and the OTC
market (RM—SYSTEIVI a.s.). This company’s share capital
is divided into 181,334,764 ordinary shares with a par
value of CZK 100 per share, of which 67,108,265 shares
are currently traded. Bonds issued by Unipetrol are also
listed on the Prague Stock Exchange. Par value of 2,000
bonds in trading amounts to CZK 2,000,000,000.

In 2010 the price of PKN ORLEN shares increased by
almost 35%, while in the same period the index of the big-
gest WIG20 companies increased by no more than |5%.
As at the end of the year one share of the Company
was worth PLN 45.8, which means that the market
value of the Company amounted to PLN 19,589 min.
On the continuous quotation market in the previous year
about 300 min shares changed their owner, which consti-
tutes 70% of issued shares. The lowest price in that year
was PLN 30.90, whereas the highest price was PLN 49.55.

ORLEN Brand

Although the ORLEN brand has been present on the market
for a relatively short time, i.e. since 2000, today it is the most
valuable Polish brand, the synonym of the national, mod-
ern, professional brand offering innovative products and
solutions on the world-class level, serving people in their
everyday life in accordance with the credo: ‘Always there
when you need us”.

After a decade PKN ORLEN has become the leader
of the Polish economy, as well as the regional leader
of the refinery and petrochemical industry. PKN ORLEN
brand is the symbol of the world-class products brand
and model expansive enterprise, a company observing
the principles of corporate social responsibility, ethics,
corporate governance and full transparency, taking care
of development of its employees and protecting the natural
environment. Thanks to effective domestic and international

investments, ORLEN has joined the group of companies

perceived as model representatives of their countries.

The market image of the Company is shaped by the network
of ORLEN fuel stations. ORLEN brand marks motor fuels,
operating fluids, car lubricants and a broad range of other
automotive chemicals.

The current value of the corporate brand is evidenced by
the fact that in 2010 ORLEN brand was declared, already
for the fourth time in succession, the most valuable domestic
brand. In the MARQA ranking the brand came first and
was valued at almost PLN 3.8 billion. At the same time
it recorded increase of value by 4% as compared to 2009.
Moreover, the Company’s economy station brand — BLISKA
was highly ranked in the 16" position and its value was
estimated at PLN 699.7 min.

PKN ORLEN SHAREHOLDING STRUCTURE
as at 31 December 2010

Aviva OFE*

5.08%

Others**
State Treasury

67.40%
27.52%

* According to information submitted to the Company on 9 February
2010.

** On 23 November 2010 the Company received a notification that
on 18 November 2010 ING OFE decreased its share to the level
below 5%.



In 2010 PKN ORLEN again won the first place in the Polish
edition of the biggest consumer survey European Trusted
Brands and received the Golden Trusted Brand Logo.
The survey was organised by Reader’s Digest monthly.
In the “Fuel Station” category the Company also took
the highest position as the brand with the best reputation
in terms of ecology. In 2011, already for the tenth time
in a row, the Company was awarded the title of the Trusted
Brand in the “Fuel Station” category.

The Company may be also proud of the title of the Polish
Economy Ambassador in the category “European Brand”
in the second edition of the competition organized
by Business Centre Club under the honorary patronage
of the Minister of Foreign Affairs. It has been appreciated
that PKN ORLEN is a reliable economic partner promo-
ting Poland on the international arena and contributing
to economic growth of the country.

Corporate social responsibility

Understanding the importance of the issue and grow-
ing role of corporate social responsibility the Company
is implementing the project “PKN ORLEN 2011-2013
corporate social responsibility strategy”, which focuses
on supporting business objectives and the potential direc-

tions of development of the Company.

The Company is distinguished by regularity and qual-
ity of social reporting. The jury of the “Social Reports”
competition organized by CSR Consulting, Responsible
Business Forum and PricewaterhouseCoopers awarded
PKN ORLEN the document for the third time in a row
with the prestigious distinction for the best report.

An important element of social activities conducted by PKN
ORLEN is its charity policy. For a few years now the Com-
pany has been solidifying the tendency to consistently
conduct activities within the scope of a couple of important
directions of charity policy instead of performing separate

activities related to charity.

ORLEN. Safe Roads

ORLEN. Safe Roads programme has been actively con-
ducted by PKN ORLEN since 2006. lts aim is to promote
and educate about road traffic safety. So far four editions
of the Programme have been completed.

Already the fourth edition of ORLEN. Safe Roads pro-
gramme carried out in 2010 had the motto “2 hours
driving, 20 minutes break” and informed how important
it is to be rested when sitting at the steering wheel and
to make regular stops during long trips by car.

Social sponsoring

PKN ORLEN participates in the implementation of major
projects and activities related to promotion of national
heritage, Polish culture and tradition. In 2010 the Com-
pany continued cooperation with the National Museum
in Warsaw, which entailed activities related to the celebration
of the 600" anniversary of the Battle of Grunwald. Moreo-
ver, PKN ORLEN contributed to the purchase of specialist
conservation equipment necessary for renovation works
on “The Battle of Grunwald” painting by Jan Matejko.

During 2010, in response to the needs and expectations
of the local community the Company continued cooperation
with the Mazovian Museum in Plock with the most valuable
collection of Art Nouveau in Poland. Activities targeted
at the local community also include support of professional
sport. In 2010 the Company became the titular sponsor
of the Wista Plock handball team.

PKN ORLEN also engaged in social initiatives. In order
to direct attention to problems facing mentally disabled
people and contribute to the removal of barriers between
the disabled and healthy people, PKN ORLEN supported
the organization of the European Summer Special Olympics,
which gathered almost 1,600 competitors representing

in total 56 countries from Europe and the CIS countries.

As the market leader PKN ORLEN engaged in organization
of important industry events, as well as those distinguishing
vigorous enterprises. For instance, the Company partici-
pated in sponsoring of the ranking of “500 most valuable
brands” by Rzeczpospolita daily, the Congress of Crude Oil
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and Gas Entrepreneurs in Bobrka or the ranking “Listed
Company of the Year” organized by Puls Biznesu daily.
During the 20" Economic Forum in Krynica PKN ORLEN
organized a panel discussion: “Implications of strategic and
international significance of shale gas production in Poland”.
The experts’ debate focused on the significance of discovery
of unconventional gas deposits in Poland from the regional
and international perspective.

Sports sponsoring

ORLEN Team

The first professional rally team in Poland was created
on the initiative of the Company. The team was created
in 1999 and from that time it has been one of the main
pillars of the Company's sponsoring communication
for the ORLEN commercial brand and the VERVA prod-
uct brand. In 2010 the drivers again achieved very good
results at all key events. Kuba Przygonski opened the year
with a fantastic result in the 32" Dakar Rally, taking the 8"
place and becoming the highest ranked Polish motorcyclist
in the history of this extremely difficult competition. Sub-
sequently, other drivers contributed their titles: Krzysztof
Hotowczyc won the FIA Cup for Cross-Country Bajas
and Jacek Czachor became the World Vice-Champion.
Kuba Przygonski expanded his successes with the 3™
place in the European Championship cycle, while Marek
Dabrowski took the 5" place. Moreover, Szymon Ruta
was highly ranked, who participated in flat rallies and
finished at the 7" position when participating for the first
time in the cycle of the European Rally Championships.

VERVA Racing Team

In 2010 PKN ORLEN created VERVA Racing Team, the first
Polish racing team in history participating in the prestigious
Porsche Supercup series. VERVA Racing Team is not only
sport undertaking on unprecedented level in Poland, but
also an innovative platform of marketing communication
supporting sales and strengthening the image of the key
brand of the Company — premium VERVA fuel.

VERVA Street Racing

In August 2010 on the street track in the centre of Warsaw
over 75 thousand viewers admired in person the struggle
of the fastest sports cars in the world, while about |5 mil-

lion people viewed the event via broadcasts in the media.

Organized by PKN ORLEN innovative VERVA Street
Racing event gave automotive fans a unique opportunity
to see the competition of FI cars, stunt motorcycles, cars
participating in Porsche Supercup series. Due to success

of the project, it will be continued in 201 1.

Olympic Mobile Stop Cafe

Olympic Mobile Stop Cafe was the initiative of PKN ORLEN
— the sponsor of the Polish representation at the Olympic
Games in Vancouver. At the time of the Olympic Games,
during three successive weekends of February the mo-
bile Stop Cafe restaurant toured the resorts in the Tatra
Mountains. The key element of the project was Olympic
Mobile Stop Cafe — catering trailer promoting the Stop
Cafe brand.

ORLEN Sports Team

Apart from automotive sports, another sport discipline most
intensively supported by PKN ORLEN is athletics. Due
to its national character, PKN ORLEN marks its presence
in the sport that stimulates emotions in a unique way.
The year 2010 constituted uninterrupted series of suc-
cesses of the ORLEN Sports Team members composed
of the best Polish athletes leading on international arenas
and setting new records. At the European Championships
in Barcelona Piotr Matachowski won the gold medal, Tomasz
Majewski got the silver medal, while Anita Wtodarczyk
— the bronze medal. Moreover, Piotr Matachowski won
the Diamond League, and Anita Wiodarczyk set the world
record in the hammer throw at the |0" European Athletic
Festival Enea Cup in Bydgoszcz, thus marking herself
for the second time in the history of this sport as the re-
cord-setter in this discipline. Also last year the Company
started cooperation with Marcin Lewandowski and Adam
Kszczot — the gold and bronze medals winners in 800m
run at the European Championships in Barcelona.

In total, Polish athletes brought to Poland from Barcelona
9 medals, which is the best result of our representatives
at the European Championships since 1974. This result
gave the Polish representation, whose general sponsor
is PKN ORLEN, the 8" place in the medal count (after
Russia, France, Great Britain, Germany, Turkey, Spain and
Ukraine). Moreover, Poland took the 7" place in the score
count, taking into account the places from | to 8 (after

Russia, France, Great Britain, Germany, Spain and Ukraine).



MARIA SKLEODOWSKA-CURIE (1867-1934)

Born on 7 November 1867 in Warsaw, died on 4 July 1934 in Passy.

An outstanding Polish physicist and chemist who lived and studied in France, the first woman awarded with the pro-
fessor degree at the Sorbonne, wife of Piotr Curie. In 1898 she discovered with her husband radium and polonium.
She was a co-founder of the science of radioactivity (she introduced the term “radioactivity”), the author of pioneer

works on physics and nuclear chemistry.

She was twice the laureate and the first woman who received the Nobel Prize —in 1903 with her husband for research
into natural radioactivity phenomenon discovered by Henri Becquerel (in physics) and in 1911 for work on chemical and
physical properties of polonium and radium, and for works regarding methods of isolating, purifying and measuring

the activity of radioactive elements (in chemistry).

In 1910 her basic work on radioactivity was published, and that year she obtained (with support of the French chemist

André-Luis Debierne) metallic radium.

In 1935 the Nobel Prize was awarded also to their daughter — Iréne Joliot-Curie and her husband Frédéric Joliot,

and therefore the Curie family is the family which received the largest number of Nobel prizes.

In 1914 she established the Radium Institute in Paris, where she worked until her death. On her initiative the Radium

Institute in Warsaw was established in 1932.
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ORLEN Group strategy.........cccceceeeveeeeeeeeenennnnne.

Building position for further
dynamic growth

In accordance with the assumptions of the development
strategy for 2009-2013, in 2010 the Company contin-
ued growth-oriented activities focusing on: improvement
of operating and financial results, increase of efficiency,
reduction of debt and completion of the biggest invest-
ment projects. Despite relatively unfavourable external
surrounding, 2010 was very successful for PKN ORLEN.

In 2010 PKN ORLEN achieved in five years the best
operating profit (EBIT) and net profit to the amount
of PLN 3.1 billion and PLN 2.5 billion, respectively. It
also realised the biggest total sales volumes in history
(over 34 min tonnes). The Company consistently re-
duced its debt. Debt as at the end of 2010 amounted
to PLN 7.8 billion, which was less by PLN 2.5 billion
as compared to 2009. Due to significant reduction of debt,
PKN ORLEN fulfilled the target set in the strategy —
the financial leverage level amounted to 39% and is within
the safe range between 30% and 40%. Revenue on sales
increased last year by 23% — to about PLN 84 billion,
and operating profit EBIT and net profit were higher than
in 2009 by PLN 2 billion (increase to PLN 3.1 billion) and
PLN 1.2 billion (increase to PLN 2.5 billion), respectively.
Strategic successes of PKN ORLEN were objectively and
visibly verified by the capital market. At the Warsaw Stock
Exchange the price of the Company’s stock increased
by about 35%, while at the same time the WIG20 index
grew by approximately 15%.

In the unstable market environment in 2010, the Com-
pany’s priority was to ensure financial safety, which was
achieved by precisely developed and efficiently implemented
initiatives in the scope of working capital optimisation. One
of them was a pioneer solution on the Polish market,
which involved the sale in the I and the 4" quarter
of 2010 of PKN ORLEN mandatory reserves of crude oil
for the total amount of about PLN 1.7 billion. The pro-
cess was conducted with the approval of the Material

Reserves Agency.

Due to well-considered and consistently conducted opti-
mising and investment activities, PKN ORLEN s ready
to implement the second stage of the development strat-
egy in the years 201 [-2013. This covers, among others,
construction of new business segments and transformation
of the company into an integrated fuel and energy group
with diversified asset portfolio.

Strategic activities in segments

One of major challenges in the refinery production seg-
ment was — in accordance with adopted strategic goals
— modernisation of the Production Plant in Ptock and
improvement of energy-consumption indexes of production
processes. Despite difficutt macroeconomic climate crude
oil processing in the ORLEN Capital Group increased
by 3% as compared to the previous year (28.08 min
tonnes in 2010 against 27.36 min tonnes in 2009). One
of significant elements of activities in the area of the refinery
sector was development and adoption of the oil and asphalt
strategy, assuming, among others, consolidation of sales
assets of the refinery sector. In the 4" quarter, for the first
time in 10 years, the Lithuanian refinery of PKN ORLEN
operated using full processing capacity, and the average use
of processing capacity in the entire year was 90%. Good
results were also achieved by Czech Unipetrol belonging
to ORLEN Group. Crude oil processing increased in this
company by about 6%, which allowed the processing

capacity use index to improve by 4 percentage points.

In the petrochemical segment the Company was finalising
the construction of PX/PTA unit — the priority unde-
rtaking for PKN ORLEN using most modern technolo-
gies in Europe. Its precommissioning was completed,
whereas at the time of publishing this report commissioning
of the unit was taking place. Total value of the invest-
ment is estimated at about EUR | billion. Given severe
competition and significant dependence on the situation
on the petrochemical market, the petrochemical segment
demonstrated in 2010 reduction of costs and introduction

of new efficiency initiatives.
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Improvement of efficiency in the area of crude oil products
logistics was connected with completion of construction
of the product pipeline Ostréw Wielkopolski — Wroctaw.
Expansion of the Fuel Terminal in Wrocfaw was also
a significant task completed in 2010. Its aim was to in-
crease the warehouse capacity, allowing more efficient
use of transmission capacity of the pipeline. Whereas
implementation of the cavern strategy, adopted in 2009,
was aimed at modernising underground storages of crude oil
and petroleum products in IKS Solino. It will also guarantee
increased safety of future — own and commercial — storage

needs in the scope of crude oil and its derivatives.

In the fuel wholesale trade segment in 2010 the Company
completed implementation works on new IT tools sup-
porting sales and customer service, consistently elevated
operating standards and continued construction of maritime

sales organization.

In accordance with business assumptions the Company
undertook activities aimed at development of sales
in Ukraine, developed export channels in the Czech
Republic and Slovakia, created new sales organization
in the Czech Republic, and introduced new initiatives
supporting sales.

In the retail segment the Company achieved record sales
results mainly due to significant increase of fuel sales per fuel
station and increase by over 5% of the non-fuel margin,
due to continuous expansion of the offer and efficient sales
management. In accordance with the assumed plan fuel
stations were modernised, new service points for drivers
were built at motorways, 45 new DOFO stations were
launched. Additionally, good operating and financial results
of ORLEN Deutschland (Germany) and attractive price
offer on the market of traded retail assets were factors
that influenced the purchase of the next 56 fuel stations
in Germany (in total 571 fuel stations). This is another
proof that the Company’s long-term strategy consisting

in expansion of German assets is effective.

Building and developing
new areas of activity

In accordance with the strategy assuming generation of new
growth areas, the Company is preparing for construction
of the gas power plant in Wioctawek. PKN ORLEN has
already received a positive environmental decision for two
blocks, the construction design provider was selected and
selection of the contractor was initiated. This project is im-
portant not only for the Company, but also for the city and
the entire region. PKN ORLEN also signed an agreement
with PSE Operator to connect the block to the network.
Its launch is planned in 2014. Last year the Company also
conducted works on modernisation of the combined heat
and power plant in Plock aimed at adjusting it to the en-
vironmental standards binding as from 2016. Unipetrol
is conducting analyses regarding the construction of a new

CHP plant to replace the currently used unit.

Consistently, however taking into account the accept-
able risk level and capital abilities of the Company, PKN
ORLEN was constructing the segment of hydrocarbon
exploration and production (upstream). Upstream projects
were conducted by PKN ORLEN subsidiary — ORLEN
Upstream. Last year the company conducted, among
others, projects in the Latvian Baltic shelf in cooperation
(V) with Kuwait Energy Company and near Sierakéw
(Poland) in cooperation with PGNIG. In December 2010
the Company concluded the agreement with the Ukrain-
ian Ministry of Environment on cooperation in the scope
of hydrocarbon exploration and production in Ukraine.
It assumes both the possibility of initiating works under new
concessions, as well as joint management of hydrocarbon
deposits recognised previously by Ukrainian partners.

PKN ORLEN undertook a number of initiatives with
the aim to use the potential of unconventional gas depo-
sits and to build a strong position in that segment. Thus
the Company launched Lublin Shale project under which
three drillings are planned between 2011 and 2012.
The Company is carrying out preparatory works for the first
drilling planned for the second half of 201 1.



JAN ZEH (I1817-1897)

He was born on 2 July 1817 in tancut, died on 25 January 1897 in Borystaw. He descended from Hungarian family

whose two generations lived in the Matopolska region.

After graduating from secondary school he started practicing pharmacy in Sambor, where for the first time he had
contact with crude oil. In 1844 he started pharmacy studies at the University of Vienna and was awarded the MSc

degree in pharmacy in 1847.
In 1853 in Lviv, in the drugstore “Pod Ztota Gwiazdy” (“Under Golden Star”) he conducted first experiments
on isolating crude oil into separate fractions: petrol, kerosene and mazout residues, which resulted in invention

of kerosene distillate lighting lamps constructed by Adam Bratkowski, a whitesmith from Lviv.

From 1853 he produced kerosene, lubricants and paraffin candles in his own shop in Lviv.
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Upstream segment....

The strategy of ORLEN Group assumes consistent devel-
opment of upstream operations with the aim to secure
access to crude oil and natural gas deposits. In 2010 works
on strengthening and expansion of ORLEN Group position

in the upstream segment were continued.

Activities carried out last year included mainly implemen-
tation of projects held in the portfolio, defining project
assumptions for coming years and integration of explora-
tion and production operations under ORLEN Upstream.

In 2010 the Company expanded the team of experts capa-
ble of conducting comprehensive assessment of extraction
projects, in terms of their technical and economic potential,
as well as planning and performing selected transactions.
Consistent monitoring of the world market of extraction
projects allows for efficient assessment of the potential
of occurring acquisition opportunities. Whereas constantly
expanded database, containing information on projects,
allows for their proper selection in such a way that they
correspond to the Company'’s strategy to the fullest

possible extent.

The main 2010 projects in the upstream sector concerned:

* ongoing exploration and research project on the Baltic
Shelf in the Latvian Economic Zone,

* consecutive stages of the exploration and production
project in the Lublin basin region (including shale gas),

* implementation of the first stage of the Sierakdw project,
covering recognition and documentation of deposits,

* studies and analyses of |50 potential exploration and pro-
duction projects/assets in various geographic locations,

e comprehensive analyses of a few selected projects
related to the purchase of production assets outside
Poland,

* continued cooperation with business partners whose
assets are located in Poland.

Over the next few years, the Company will continue
the following four ongoing projects:

* project in Lubelskie region,

¢ offshore project on the Baltic Sea,

* Sierakéw Project,

e Lublin Shale project.

The project in Lubelskie region is implemented by ORLEN
Upstream in the area of five concessions (Belzyce,
Garwolin, Lubartéw, Lublin, Wierzbica), where the com-
pany acts as the operator.

Key tasks performed under this project in 2010 include
mainly preparation of technical and geological projects
for conducting 2D seismic field tests along pre-selected
profiles, and subsequently collection of such data, as well
as processing of historic 2D seismic materials.

Geological works were aimed at preparing recommen-
dation for further exploration works, including selection
of potential drilling sites.

The project on the Baltic Sea is an off-shore project,
located on the Latvian Baltic Shelf conducted by ORLEN

Upstream in cooperation with Kuwait Energy Company.
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In 2010 under this project the company conducted nume-
rous activities, most important of which concern rein-
terpretation of available historic geological, seismic and
geochemical data as well as performance in December 2010
of 3D seismic tests covering the area over 300 km?. Data
collected from measurements will help determine more
precisely the structural and tectonic construction of initially
identified — on the basis of 2D tests — areas of potential
hydrocarbon resources (future crude oil and natural gas
deposits). Final interpretation and integration of collected

seismic data will allow to identify future drilling sites.

Sierakéw project is an exploration and production pro-
ject implemented by ORLEN Upstream in cooperation
with PGNIG within the area of the Polish Lowland.
The main objective of the works is geological recogni-
tion of the structure of the Main Dolomite, confirmation
of existence of industrial deposit resources, their manage-
ment and launching of production.

Sierakow Projekt

Lublin Basin

At the end of 2010 preparatory works for test drilling
Sierakéw-5 were performed. Dirilling started on 14 of Janu-
ary 201 1.

Lublin Shale project is a new project conducted indepen-
dently by ORLEN Upstream on the basis of possessed
exploratory concessions in Lubelskie region. Main tasks
conducted in 2010 under this project cover analysis of avail-
able geological information with the aim to finally select
areas with the highest potential of natural gas deposits in sift
and shale rocks (concession blocks: Garwolin, Lubartow
and Wierzbica) and preparation of geological and technical
project for collection of 2D seismic data in the pre-selected
part of Garwolin block.

Baltic Projekt

Hrubieszéw Shale

Lublin Shale




IGNACY tUKASIEWICZ (1822-1882)

Born in March 1822 in Zaduszniki, died in January 1882 in Chorkéwka — pharmacist, inventor of kerosene lamp

and pioneer of oil industry in Europe.

After graduation from the fourth grade at grammar school in Rzeszéw, due to lack of financial means to continue
his studies, he started training in a drugstore in tancut. Four years later he passed the exam to obtain the title
of the pharmacist’s assistant. In 1850 he started studies at the two-year pharmacy college on the Jagiellonian University.
In 1852 he went to Vienna, where he obtained the title of MSc in pharmacy. His MSc thesis was entitled “Baryta

et Anilinum”.

In 1852, in a laboratory in the drugstore “Pod Ztota Gwiazdg” (“Under Golden Star”) owned by Piotr Mikolasch in Lviv,

he distilled kerosene from oil at the request of the owner.

One year later he constructed the first kerosene lamp which he used to illuminate the shop window of the drugstore,
and on 31 July 1853 he introduced such lighting in a public hospital in Lviv. Invention of the kerosene lamp was a significant
achievement. It was connected with trials to obtain fuel that would be more efficient and cheaper than types of oil
and its mixtures used so far. In 1854 he established in Bébrka near Krosno the first in Poland and in the world crude oil

mine, and two years later — the first refinery in Ulaszowice near Jasto.

Currently in Bébrka there is the Ignacy tukasiewicz Memorial Museum of Qil Industry housing exhibits related

to the history of oil industry development.
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Refinery segment......

Fuels

ORLEN Group manages the complex of seven refineries
located in Poland (Ptock, Trzebinia, Jedlicze), in Lithuania
(Mazeikiai) and in the Czech Republic (Litvinov, Kralupy
and Pardubice).

In 2010 ORLEN Group refineries processed almost
28.1 min tonnes of crude oil, which is 39 more in com-

parison to the previous year.

Production in all ORLEN Group refineries was based
to a large extent on Russian REBCO oil, whose share
in total oil processing amounted to 90%. The other crude
oil brands processed in our refineries were: Brent Blend,
Ekofisk, Statfjord and Polish paraffin base oils.

Poland

Fuel Production

In 2010, PKN ORLEN fulfilled the National Index Target
(NIT) at the level of 5.767%. In total, in 2010 the Com-
pany released to the market:

* 2,604,800 tonnes of petrol with biocomponents,

* 6,287,200 tonnes of diesel fuel with biocomponents,

including:

— 131,600 tonnes of ethanol in petrol,

— 294,000 tonnes of esters in diesel fuel,
e 201,300 tonnes of ester fuel — BIO100.

Dynamics
2009 2010 2010/2009

AMOUNT OF CRUDE OIL PROCESSED IN 2009-2010, IN THE RESPECTIVE COUNTRIES OF ORLEN GROUP (‘000 TONNES)

Polish refineries
Czech refineries
Lithuanian refinery

Total

4110 6%
8,407 7%
27,357 3%




Ptock

Crude oil supplies to the Company’s refineries are fully
secured by relevant agreements, purchase strategy and
technical capacities of refineries owned PKN ORLEN. Each
of them uses at least two alternative directions of crude oil
supplies. The most efficient source of crude oil supplies
to the refinery in Plock is the “Przyjazn” pipeline. It is also

possible to use the Pomorski pipeline and Naftoport.

In November 2010 the new unit HON VII (Hydrodesul-
phurisation of Diesel Oil) was launched. It allows to increase
the production of low-sulphur components for production
of high-quality diesel oil and light heating oil. As a result
of launching the HON VII unit production of diesel oil
may increase by about | mIn tonnes annually. With launch
of the PX/PTA complex crude oil processing will increase

on units in Plock.

New paraxylene unit, to be launched in 201 | in the Pro-
duction Plant in Plock, uses charge of very high quality.
Therefore, in 2010 the Company constructed and launched
anew ORP (Olefins Removal Process) system on the Refor-
ming V unit. The license and basic design for ORP were
delivered by UOP an American company recognized
in the industry. Detailed engineering design and equipment
deliveries were provided by ORLEN Projekt.

PKN ORLEN Annual Report 2010

Refinery segment

On 8 March 2010 the foundation act for construction
of the most modern steam boiler used in industrial pow-
er engineering was signed. This was the inauguration
of the Programme for Environmental and Power Engineering
Investments in the Production Plant in Plock. Construc-
tion of the steam boiler of 300 MW is to be completed
in the 2" quarter of 2012.

In autumn 2010 the Company completed construction
of a modern heat recovery steam boiler at the Fluid Catalytic
Cracking Il (FKKIT) unit for cooling of technological gases.
The energy thus recovered is used to produce 4 MPa
technological steam.

In order to increase output of the most valuable products
— depending on the current market situation — the Produc-
tion Plant in Plock implements Advance Process Control
(APC) systems.

The Company independently developed several tools
to monitor certain key indexes, such as: Ell energy index,
mechanical availability index MA, operational availability
index OA, plant use index PU. Data collected in this
way is used for ongoing operational assessment of used
assets. It is also an indicator to be considered in current
and future decisions. These activities form a part of Fuel
Studies conducted by Solomon Associates aimed at assess-
ing the Company from the perspective of competitiveness

on the world refinery market.

Dynamics
2009 2010 2010/2009

PRODUCTION VOLUME OF SELECTED REFINERY PRODUCTS IN 2009-2010 (PLOCK; ‘000 TONNES)

Crude oil processed

Total petrol

Total diesel fuel (ON)

Ekoterm Plus heating oil (LHO)
Aviation fuel (JET)
Propane-butane fraction (LPG)
Total fuels

Fuel output™ (%)

3,055 -10%
5,330 1%
720 IEEZE -12%
291 35%
210 YT 15%
s67¢  IEEEN 3%
78.1 -0.1 p. p.

* Fuel output calculated as production: (petrol, petroleum, LPG, ON, LHO, JET) / crude oil processed taking into account semi-finished products flow between

production companies within ORLEN Group.



Rafineria Trzebinia — refinery

In 2010 Rafineria Trzebinia focused on ensuring the Com-
pany competitiveness and adequate efficiency of activities
in such key areas as, for example: biofuels production,
crude oil processing, paraffins hydrorefining and Fuel
Terminal services.

In order to increase the company’s value and its com-
petitive position on the market Rafineria Trzebinia works
towards diversification and expansion of the area of op-
erations. These activities are aimed at achieving adequate
level of operational profitability by building organizational
structure that will ensure efficient operations of the com-
pany. Another important factor is achievement of optimal
parameters in the scope of volume and efficiency of biofuels
production, crude oil processing, use of logistic potential

and sale of products from its own units.

Biofuels production

Modifications of the BIO unit elements, cost and technologi-
cal optimisation as well as monitoring of production process-
es enabled the company to fully use its production capacity
in 2010. From January to December 2010 the company
produced on the BIO unit over 100,000 tonnes of fatty
acid methyl esters constituting biocomponent to con-
ventional diesel oil. They were also used as fuel in its
own right under the trade name Bioester or commonly
labelled BIO100. Another stream of production and sale
was biofuel constituting a mixture of 80% of conventional
diesel oil and 20% of biodiesel designated in the com-
mercial offer as BIO20.

Crude oil processing

In Rafineria Trzebinia crude oil is refined on the DRW untt,
where the company processes crude oil of very variable
quality belonging to so called difficult oils. In 2010 process-
ing volume amounted to 250,100 tonnes of crude oil.

Products and components obtained as a result of crude
oil processing are used e.g. in further refinery processes
at operating units also in other plants of PKN ORLEN
Capital Group.

Paraffin production

Paraffin hydrorefinement is performed at the only unit of this
type in this part of Europe, launched in 2005, which enabled
the company to become the most modern entity in the par-
affin industry in Central and Eastern Europe. It is possible
to guarantee safety and the highest quality of products from
this segment produced in Rafineria Trzebinia Group due
to modern units, experience of qualified employees and
selection of the best suppliers of high-quality raw mate-
rial for production. In the case of paraffin, the agreement
for paraffin gas supplies concluded with ORLEN Oil ensures
supplies of perfect-quality material for processing. It also
builds the value chain of ORLEN Group.

Fuel Terminal

Rafineria Trzebinia professionally manages the supply
chain of goods, raw materials for production and dispatch
of finished products in Poland and abroad. Fuel Terminal,
as the key element of the logistic chain of PKN ORLEN
liquid fuel for southern Poland, has adequate infrastructure
for all types of motor fuel and heating oil. The refinery
is covered by the excise tax and production warehouse,
which allows to receive, store, compose and dispatch excise
products under the procedure for suspension of excise tax
collection. A large number of containers makes it possible
to provide logistic services regarding the rich offer of crude

oil and biofuel products.

In 2010 Rafineria Trzebinia was among the companies
awarded with the Certificate of Business Credibility
for highly rated stability of the company according to Dun
& Bradstreet Poland.

Dynamics
2009 2010 2010/2009

PRODUCTION VOLUME OF SELECTED REFINERY PRODUCTS IN 2009-2010 (TRZEBINIA; ‘000 TONNES)

Crude oil processing*
Biofuel production plant

Rapeseed methyl esters

* Crude oil processed including contaminant.

247 250 1%
112 115 3%

>+ I 5%
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Rafineria Nafty Jedlicze — refinery

In 2010 Rafineria Nafty Jedlicze processed crude oil from
domestic deposits. The drop by about 24,000 tonnes
in the volume of processed crude oil compared to 2009 was
due to reduced volume of processed imported crude oil —
by 16,500 tonnes and by 7,500 tonnes in the case of Polish
crude oil. Due to difficulties in purchase of imported
crude oil on terms guaranteeing profitability of processing,
the refinery decided in 2009 to withhold this process.
Lower volume of domestic crude oil processed in 2010
results from periodic start-up of the unit for crude oil
processing while lacking optimal volume of raw material.
Purchases of domestic crude oil in 2010 were on the level
comparable to 2009.

Production at the Rafineria Nafty Jedlicze is mainly based
on the following four groups of products: heating oil, base
oil, solvents and special purpose petrol. The largest group
of products produced in Rafineria Nafty Jedlicze is light and
heavy heating oil. Light heating oil is produced on the basis
of PKN ORLEN license and sold entirely to the Company’s
bases. Whereas heavy oil is sold to power plants, combined
heat and power plants and used e.g. in the production

of bituminous mass.

The second largest group of products is base oil derived
from regenerated waste oil. The largest recipients of base
oil are domestic and foreign producers of lubricating oil

and lubricants.

Environmentally-friendly solvents are another important
group of products of Rafineria Nafty Jedlicze. Their high
quality is appreciated in Poland and abroad. Solvents are
characterized by low contents of aromatic hydrocarbons
and sulphur. The key recipients of those solvents are
manufacturers of paints, varnishes, specialist solvents and
adhesives. Other products are used in such industries as:

chemical, metal, automotive and mining industries.

The most important activities carried out in 2010 by

Rafineria Nafty Jedlicze include:

* “Energy Optimisation Programme” based on the use
of side streams (regeneration) for energy production
purposes and optimisation of the structure of fuels
used in CHP plant. This allows to limit energy costs
by approximately PLN 2.8 min annually and provide
more heating oil for sale;

* modification of technological processes at the solvents
production unit, allowing to increase processing capacity
by 15% against project assumptions and to remove
the bottleneck in solvents production;

* solidifying the position of Rafineria Nafty Jedlicze
as the leader in production of high-class low-aromatic
solvents satisfying about 60% of demand on the dome-
stic market and intensifying sale of these products
for export (increase of export sales by 6% compared
to 2009).

The Czech Republic
Unipetrol Group is one of the largest chemical sector groups
in the Czech Republic, involved in crude oil processing,

fuel distribution and petrochemical production.

In 2010 Czech refineries of ORLEN Group (Litvinoy,
Kralupy, Paramo) processed in total over 4.3 min tonnes
of crude oil (REBCO and Brent), which is 6% more
in comparison to the previous year. This resulted from
increased use of processing capacity, which was also refle-
cted in increased level of production of light, medium and
heavy distillates.

In 2010 energy efficiency of the Catalytic Cracking plant

increased. This resulted in reduction of costs in the en-

PRODUCTION VOLUME OF SELECTED REFINERY PRODUCTS IN 2009-2010 (JEDLICZE; ‘000 TONNES)

Crude oil processed
Waste oil processed
Ekoterm Plus heating oil (LHO)

Solvents

ergy area.

2009 2010 Dynamics

2010/2009

. ]

67 4 34%

35 9%

6l 7%

I5 0%




On the basis of the amendment to environmental regula-
tions binding in the Czech Republic, as from June 2010
the content of biocomponents in fuel has been increased:
in fuel from 3.5% to 4.1%, and in diesel fuel from 4.1%
to 6%. These changes were aimed at reducing greenhouse
gas emissions, as well as strengthening the local agriculture
and decreasing fuel import to the Czech Republic.

Lithuania
ORLEN Lietuva has been operating since 1980 and is one
of the largest companies in Lithuania.

In 2010 the refinery in Mazeikiai processed in total about
9 min tonnes of REBCO crude oil, recording 7% increase

as compared to the previous year.

The first half of 2010 was characterised by decreased
processing of crude oil mainly due to the unfavourable
market conditions. Moreover, in April the access to the FCC
(Fluid Catalytic Cracker) unit was restricted. Despite these
problems, in the second half of the year the volume of crude
oil processed was bigger than planned and in the balance
of 2010 it turned out to be better than in 2009.

Concentrating on the financial situation of the company,
the main activities in 2010 were focused on minimising

expenses and increasing profitability of the refinery.

With the aim to improve energy efficiency the company
carried out, among others, initiatives concerning the use
of heat from process streams in DRW, HONs and Refor-

ming exchangers.

Bitumen

Poland

In 2010 production of road, modified and industrial bitumen
dropped as compared to 2009. This was mainly caused
by stagnation on the domestic bitumen market. In 2010
the Company continued works related to improvement
of efficiency of modified and industrial bitumen produc-
tion. ORLEN Asfalt, holding 40% share in the domestic

market of bitumen sales, was the leader of this segment.

Dynamics
2009 2010 2010/2009

PRODUCTION VOLUME OF SELECTED REFINERY PRODUCTS IN 2009-2010 (UNIPETROL; ‘000 TONNES)

Crude oil processed

Total petrol

Total diesel fuel (ON)

Light heating oil (LHO)
Aviation fuel (JET)
Propane-butane fraction (LPG)
Total fuels

Fuel output* (%)

4,110 4,352 6%

760 794 4%
1,741 4%
35 T 95%

76 9%

146 6%

2,758 6%
73.7 I.4pp.
2009 2010 Dynanmics
2010/2009

PRODUCTION VOLUME OF SELECTED REFINERY PRODUCTS IN 2009-2010 (ORLEN LIETUVA; ‘000 TONNES)

Crude oil processed

Other charge

Total charge

Total petrol

Diesel fuel (ON)

Light heating oil (LHO)
Aviation fuel (JET)
Propane-butane fraction (LPG)
Total fuel

Fuel output* (%)

8,407 8,985 7%

325 302 7%
8731 6%
2724 2%
3,165 12%

7 IR 29%
228 240 5%
273 274 037%
639 7%

734 05 pp.

* Fuel output calculated as production: (petrol, petroleum, LPG, ON, LHO, JET) / crude oil processed taking into account semi-finished products flow

between production companies within ORLEN Group.

»
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Refinery segment

The Czech Republic Lithuania

In 2010 demand on the bitumen market increased, which In 2010 production of bitumen was higher by | 1% as com-
resulted in 14% growth in its production and sales as com- pared to the previous year. This was due to growing
pared to the previous year. demand for this product on the Lithuanian market.
Taking into account environmental trends, the company Share in the sale of bitumen to the Polish market by ORLEN
developed the formula for production of bitumen with Lietuve was higher by 4 pp, and to the Lithuanian market
rubber additive (such bitumen is produced in the form — by 2 pp as compared to 2009.

of aqueous dispersions, thus during drying and vulcanisation

only water vapour is released to atmosphere).

2009
ORLEN ASFALT PRODUCTION VOLUMES IN 2009-2010 (‘000 TONNES)
Road bitumen 742
Industrial bitumen 22
Total (bitumen and other products) 764
2009

Dynamics

2010 2010/2009
I

694 -6%

7] -23%

7%

Dynamics

2010 2010/2009

BITUMEN PRODUCTION VOLUME AT LITVINOV AND PARAMO IN 2009-2010 (‘000 TONNES)

Road bitumen 194

2009

BITUMEN SALES VOLUME AT PARAMO* IN 2009-2010 (‘000 TONNES)

Road bitumen 199
Modified bitumen I
Industrial bitumen 35
Total (bitumen and other products) 257

* The entire production from Litvinov is sold through the Paramo commercial network.

2009

222 14%

Dynamics

2010 2010/2009
I

223 12%

[ 13 ] 18%

[ 4 17%

[ 294 | 14%

Dynamics

2010 201072009

ORLEN LIETUVA BITUMEN PRODUCTION VOLUMES IN 2009-2010 (‘000 TONNES)

Road bitumen 109
Roof pitches 8
Total 117

BITUMEN SALES STRUCTURE AT ORLEN LIETUVA IN 2009-2010
Poland

Lithuania

Latvia

Estonia

121 11%
5 ] -38%
126 | 8%

2009 2010
I

6%

sso ST

190 IR

O 18%



WITOLD BRONIEWSKI (1880-1939)

Born on |5 October 1880 in Pskow.

Metal expert, metallurgist, he studied mathematics, electrical engineering, physics and chemistry, a student of, among
others, Maria Skiodowska-Curie at the University of Paris (1908—1911). In 1914—1919 he lectured metallography
at the University of Paris, from 1919 to 1920 he was the professor at the Lviv Polytechnic, and in the period 1920—-1939

he gave lectures as a professor at the Warsaw University of Technology.

He conducted research in the scope of metallography and physical chemistry, as well as plastic working and thermal

treatment. The pioneer of Polish studies on creeping of metals.

In 1920 he established the Academy of Technical Sciences (1928—1936 secretary general). From May to September

1926 he was the minister of public works.

Selected works: "Recherches sur les propriétés électriques des alliages d'aluminium” (1911), "Zasady metalografii”

(Principles of metallography) (1921), “Travaux pratiques de metallographie” (1930), “Sur l'ecronissage du fer” (1931).
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Logistics.........cccevvunnns

Efficient logistics infrastructure guarantees energy safety
and constitutes the basis of competitiveness on the fuel
market. To maximise efficiency and fluency of flow and
storage of raw materials, ORLEN Group uses the infra-
structure consisting of: fuel terminals, land and offshore
transshipment facilities, a network of industrial raw material

and product pipelines as well as road and rail transport.

The most important companies operating in the area
of logistics include: ORLEN Koltrans, ORLEN Transport
(Poland), Unipetrol Doprava i Unipetrol Petrotrans (Czech
Republic).

In 2010 — in accordance with adopted assumptions —
the Company implemented important system solutions
in the area of logistics, which brought expected increase
of cost efficiency. Last year the most important activities
in this area were:

e completion of the last stage of restructuring of logistics
area — significant optimisation of employment and
increased automation of processes at fuel terminals,

¢ completion of construction of 105 km-long fuel pipeline
Ostrow Wielkopolski — Wroctaw,

¢ adjustment of mandatory reserves to assumptions of new
legal regulations in the scope of volume and structure
of reserves,

¢ completion of the “Self-service” project aimed at higher
automation of trade operations service at fuel terminals,

* initiation of implementation of the [T system for planning
of fuel supplies to the fuel station aimed at improving
performance indicators of road logistics.

Mandatory Reserves

Poland

Under the Polish law PKN ORLEN is obligated to main-
tain reserves of crude oil. In 2010 reserves were stored
in underground caverns of IKS “Solino” and the refinery
in Mazeikiai. PKN ORLEN stored mandatory reserves
of ready fuel in over twenty places located on the terri-

tory of Poland, among others in: fuel terminals owned by

the Company, aboveground tanks leased from external
companies or tanks located on the premises of the Pro-
duction Plant in Pfock.

DIAGRAM OF THE UNDERGROUND STORAGE
CHAMBER AT IKS “SOLINO”

Products,
petroleum
(one-third of volume)

Column

600 m

Brine
(two-thirds of volume)

Halite ————=

1100 m

In accordance with legal regulations, in 2010 entrepre-
neurs and traders operating on the Polish market were
obligated to maintain mandatory reserves of crude oil
or fuel (excluding LPG) in the amount corresponding
to at least 76 days of average daily production or import,
carried out by the producer or trader in the previous year.
The 14 days of reserves were covered by the Material

Reserves Agency.

According to regulations in force, companies operating
on the Polish fuel and crude oil market were obliged to re-
configure the structure of maintained mandatory reserves
at the turn of 2010 and 201 |. As a result of introduced
changes, as from | January 201 | the maximum percentage
share of reserves of respective liquid fuels groups that may
be maintained in the form of crude oil and semi-finished
products of its refining cannot exceed 50% of the total
volume of reserves of such fuels. By the end of 2010
PKN ORLEN adjusted the structure and volume of its
own mandatory reserves in respective groups to the levels

corresponding to the new legal and formal requirements.

In 2010 the Company carried out two transactions which
allowed to change the method of maintaining mandatory
reserves of crude oil. As a result, over | million tonnes
of crude oil is stored for PKN ORLEN by external compa-
nies in the form of so called ticket service. The agreement
regarding collection and storage of mandatory reserves
of crude oil concluded between PKN ORLEN and LAM-



BOURN Sp. z 0.0. under changed form of storing man-
datory reserves of crude oil expired on 3| March 201 1.
In connection with the abovementioned agreement and
in accordance with Polish legal provisions in force regarding
storage of mandatory reserves, PKN ORLEN purchased
for about USD 42| min crude oil owned by LAMBOURN.
The ownership of the raw material was transferred to PKN
ORLEN on | April 2011, after payment of the entire
amount due under this transaction.

PKN ORLEN is still a party to the agreement of the above-
mentioned type concluded on 23 December 2010 with
Maury, which was the basis for sale of a part of crude
oil reserves for about USD 300 mlIn. The agreement
for collection and storage of reserves was concluded
for the period of one year, however the Company takes

into account the possibility of its renewal for the next period.

In wider perspective, in 2010 the Company continued
to conduct activities regarding development of comprehen-
sive solutions on the governmental level in order to change
the rules for storing mandatory reserves on the Polish
market. In accordance with the assumptions such activities
are aimed at increasing involvement of the government
in storing mandatory reserves. Representatives of PKN
ORLEN were among participants of consultations.

The Czech Republic

According to the Czech law, mandatory crude oil and fuel
reserves are maintained by a dedicated government agency.

Lithuania

As at the end of 2010, mandatory reserves in Lithuania
covered 90 days, of which ORLEN Lietuva and com-
panies importing fuel to Lithuania provided for 60 days
(the other 30-day reserves were maintained by the Lithu-
anian State Agency).

Production plant in Plock
PKN ORLEN Fuel Terminals — 14

ROR facilities — 3
IKS “Solino"
TanQuid Radzionkéw

* o0 e0p

e Raw material pipelines PERN “Przyjazn”
@ Product pipelines PERN “Przyjazn”
@ Pipelines of PKN ORLEN

Facilities of Operator Logistyczny Paliw Plynnych - 5
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Crude oil reserves were stored at the Mazeikiai refin-
ery and the offshore transshipment terminal in Bitingé,
whereas finished products reserves — at two terminals

leased in Lithuania.

Pipelines

In 2010 pipeline transport was still the basic form of transfer
of raw materials and products of ORLEN Group. Total
length of pipelines used in the previous year, including own
pipelines and those leased in Poland, the Czech Republic
and Lithuania, was over 2 thousand km.

Poland

In 2010, PKN ORLEN used transport infrastructure includ-
ing 274 km of its own pipelines and 570 km of product
pipelines belonging to the state-owned operator, PERN.

Construction of 105 km-long Ostréw Wielkopolski —
Wroclaw pipeline for transfer of fuel products was com-
pleted. Technical acceptance and the pipeline’s launch took
place at the turn of 2010/201 I.

In 2010, liquid fuel (petrol, diesel, Ekoterm JET A-1) was
shipped from Plock in the following proportions:

* Via pipelines — 70%;

* Via rail — 25%;

* Via road tankers — 5%.

LOGISTIC INFRASTRUCTURE OF PKN ORLEN

Gutkowo

Swinoujécie d Gdansk
o

Szczecin

“Przyjazi”
pipeline

s (0]
Emilianow “Przyjazn’

Nowa Sél
O Ostrow Wikp, Moéciska
Boleslawiec Koluszki Lublin
o

Wroctaw
Boronéw

" Rafineria Trzebinia
Zurawica
O
o

Q Olszanica

Sokotka



Mazeikiai refinery

Bitingé Terminal

The Czech Republic

In 2010, like in previous years, Unipetrol Group used
[,100 km of pipelines belonging to the state-owned opera-
tor, CEPRO

FUEL DISTRIBUTION NETWORK IN THE CZECH
REPUBLIC

Litvinov.

O Bratyslava

QO CRafrefineries
Q Storage facilities Cepro @ Product pipelines Cepro
— capacity 280,000 m® —appr. 1,000 km

e Raw materials pipeline Mero

Lithuania

The “Przyjazi” pipeline, which used to deliver crude oil
to the refinery in Mazeikiai until July 2006, remains closed.
The Samara — Ventspils product pipeline section owned
by ORLEN Lietuva goes through the territory of Lithuania.
In 2010 about 5.3 min tonnes of diesel fuel from Russia was

transported by transit to Ventspils in Latvia.

PIPELINE NETWORK IN LITHUANIA

Ventspils Terminal

Dzikste

from Yaroslav

Polotsk

llakste

Birzai Pump Station
! P from Samara

*Out of use. e Raw material pipelines*
e Product pipelines

Fuel Terminals

Storage facilities are an integral part of the logistics system
of the ORLEN Group. Last year the Company used,
as in the previous period, 30 storage facilities in Poland
and Lithuania, including |4 corporate Fuel Terminals, and
storage space leased from external operators.

In the Czech Republic, ORLEN Group used | | warehouses
of the state-owned operator CEPRO and 2 storage facilities
leased from external operators.

Poland

At the end of 2010 total storage space at the disposal
of PKN ORLEN in Poland was approximately 6 min m?.
For logistic purposes regarding receipts, storage, release
and transshipment of fuel the Company used its own
infrastructure and infrastructure leased under concluded
agreements. For operational purposes ORLEN Group used
the total of 25 facilities across Poland (including corporate

fuel terminals and the facilities of third-party operators).

The Czech Republic
In 2010, the Czech Unipetrol Group used || storage
facilities in the storage and distribution network of the state-
owned operator CEPRO and 2 storage facilities leased
from third-party operators.

Lithuania
In Lithuania ORLEN Lietuva used 3 terminals for logistics
operations and 2 terminals for storing mandatory reserves.
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Rail Transport

Poland

PKN ORLEN transported via rail approximately 7.3 min
tonnes of products, including 5.2 min tonnes of motor
fuel, reaching the level close to the one achieved in 2009.

The Czech Republic

The volume of products transported by Unipetrol Doprava,
a rail transport company, amounted to about 2.4 min
tonnes. The volume of transport made for Unipetrol
in 2010 amounted to about .6 min tonnes, including
0.6 min tonnes of fuel.

Lithuania

Approximately the total of 8.2 min tonnes of products
were transported by rail, of which over 5 min tonnes
were loaded on ships and exported via Klaipedos Nafta
terminal to western Europe and the United States.

Road Transport

Last year, an ORLEN Group company — ORLEN Trans-
port delivered fuel to PKN ORLEN fuel stations across
Poland. Its share in the market of fuel road transport
in Poland was 35%.

In the Czech Republic, fuel was delivered to Benzina
stations by a Unipetrol Group company — Petrotrans.
Its share in the market of fuel road transport in the Czech
Republic was 24%.

In Lithuania, the Company outsourced fuel delivery services
to ORLEN Lietuva stations from UAB Simeon, the company
which had won a tender organised in 2007.

Maritime cargo handling

In 2010 the total of 6.6 mIn tonnes of petroleum products
were transshipped in Poland and in Lithuania. In Poland
the docks in Gdynia and éwinoujécie were used to handle
over |.6 min tonnes of products. The volume of ORLEN
Lietuva products transshipped in marine docks amounted

to over 5 min tonnes in 2010.

Investment projects

Poland

In order to efficiently adjust the logistics area to changing
external and internal conditions the Company continuously
undertakes activities improving the segment management.

In 2011 the Company will continue investment processes

initiated last year, i.e. among others:

* implementation of the “Cavern Strategy” — initiating
long-term measures aimed at durable improvement
of operational capability and safety of underground
crude oil and fuel storage facilities at IKS “Solino”,

* further expansion of the capacity of the fuel termi-
nal in Wroctaw from the original 12,500 m® to over
50,000 m* — a project related to operation of a new
pipeline from Ostrow Wielkopolski to Wroctaw,

* construction of the unit for dosing alcohol to petrol
at the fuel terminal in Wroctaw.

Investment plans for 201 | in the area of logistics in Po-

land cover:

* construction of the unloading shelter Il at the Production
Plant in Ptock,

* adjustment of the fuel terminal in éwinoujécie to increased
export of products by sea,

* modernisation of loading sites for road tankers at the fuel
terminal in Ostréow Wielkopolski with implementation

of the new forwarding system.

The Czech Republic

Pursuant to the directive of the European Parliament
on the inland transport of dangerous goods, in 2010
the Company modernised |00 tank cars. The works were
aimed at adjusting the tank cars to obligatory technical and
safety norms. Major investment plans for 201 | concern
further modernisation works in this scope.



STANISEtAW PILAT (188I1-1941)

Born in 1881 in Lviv — Polish chemist, professor at the Faculty of Oil and Natural Gas Technology at the Lviv
Polytechnic (from 1924).

He conducted research into composition of Polish crude oil and technology of its processing, catalytic hydrogenation
of gaseous hydrocarbons, polymerisation of alkenes, structure of lubrication oils, use of post-refinery waste. He tried
to obtain synthetic petrol. The method for cold fractioning of petroleum mixtures is currently applied in the USA.

He also developed the process of production of carbon black from natural gas.

He was arrested by Germans at night from 3 to 4 of July 1941 with the group of 25 professors of the Lviv Polytechnic

and the Jan Kazimierz University in Lviv, and was executed on the same night on the Wuleckie Hills.
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Wholesale segment....

The wholesale segment of ORLEN Group consists of units
involved in sale of refinery products as well as LPG and
JET on the territory of Poland as well as foreign companies:
Unipetrol Slovensko, Unipetrol RPA and Paramo (Czech
Republic) and ORLEN Lietuva (Lithuania).

In 2010, ORLEN Group conducted wholesale of fuel and
non-fuel products* on the territory of Poland, the Czech
Republic, Slovakia, Germany, Lithuania, Latvia, Estonia

and Ukraine, and by sea mainly to the American market.

ORLEN Group — Fuels

In 2010 ORLEN Group recorded an increase by 1%
(i.e. by 117,000 tonnes) of the volume of sold fuel as com-
pared to the previous year. More than a half of fuel sales
was generated by diesel fuel, whose sales increased
by approximately 3%.

In 2010 sale of JET aviation fuel was over 0.76 min tonnes,

which is 3% more as compared to the previous year.

ORLEN Group fuel was sold on local markets (Poland,
the Czech Republic, Slovakia, Germany, Baltic States), but
also, among others, in: Sweden, Finland, Great Britain

Poland

Micro- and macroeconomic climate on the wholesale
market in Poland required from the wholesale segment
continuous work to secure adequate competitiveness
of PKN ORLEN. The year 2010 was marked by continu-

ous development of innovations and entrepreneurship.

In order to ensure added value in the process of customer
service, the Company implemented numerous [T solutions
significantly influencing the level of service and reduction
of its costs. Functionality of implemented tools goes beyond
capabilities of standard [T systems and apart from economic
advantages for PKN ORLEN, it helps create competitive
advantage on the market.

Implemented projects in the area of wholesale customer
service: Self-service, E-faktura — electronic invoicing, E-hurt

— electronic wholesale, Contact-Centre.

Self-service

Due to the possibility to enter ready loading plans
by dispatchers from transport companies or directly
by customers and making available the functionality
of full planning of fuel collection, total time of driver
service at PKN ORLEN terminals was reduced from
90 minutes to 40 minutes, and processes of authorizing
drivers and vehicles to collection of fuel are optimised.
Innovative character and attractiveness of this solution
is evidenced by the fact that already a few months after
implementation almost |/3 of customers decided to use

this form of service.

and Ukraine.
2009 2010

Poland Thﬁe%ﬁ%ﬁg Lithuania Total Poland TheRe%iiTE Lithuania Total
ORLEN GROUP FUEL SALES VOLUME ON LOCAL MARKETS (‘000 TONNES)
Petrol 1,737 660 2,804 1,551 632 2,783
Diesel fuel 4,055 1,421 2,676 4,027 1,483 2,909
Light heating oil 806 46 2 792 54 |
Jet 437 74 227 431 86 246
LPG 230 64 131 425 297 86 109 492
Bitumen 765 238 10 721 255 13
Ol 102 32 0 85 43 0
Heavy heating oil 939 95 I,464 166 144 1,559
Others 2,809 94 74 2,652 106 88
Total 1,880 2,724 7488 X 1172 2,889 A 22,419 |

* Information regarding sale of petrochemical products is provided

in the chapter on Petrochemical segment.



E-faktura

The system of electronic data exchange. The added value
is: elimination of great amount of paper and significant
reduction of operating expenses. The new system saves
time, ensures comfortable storing and reviewing as well
as unlimited, safe and quick access to invoices from every
month and at any moment. Currently already over 60%
of invoices are generated electronically, thus contributing

also to protection of natural environment.

E-hurt

Communication channel in the form of website https://
hurt.orlen.pl. The application ensures safe access to infor-
mation collected in PKN ORLEN systems, regarding fulfil-
ment of signed agreements and safe service of contracts,
orders and commissions. It enables access to promotional

information and use of reports provided for customers.

FUEL IMPORT TO POLAND IN 2009-2010 (‘000 TONNES)*

Petrol

Diesel fuel
Light heating oil
Total

* Source: estimates of the Energy Market Agency.

SOURCES OF FUEL IMPORT TO POLAND IN 2010
Germany

Lithuania

Slovakia

The Czech Republic
Belarus

Switzerland

Finland

Russia

Hungary

Total
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Wholesale segment

Contact-centre

System for making task and information processes more
efficient for employees of the wholesale segment. It helps
improve work efficiency and build contact history with
customers (current and potential), which translates into
improved ability to reach final customers. It integrates
elements with the SAP system and allows to increase sales
activities and to react to market changes.

Measurable effects of introduction of these systems
in wholesale encourage other segments and companies
of the ORLEN Capital Group to adapt these solutions,
which will result in further improvement of the customer

service level and reduction of costs.

In 2010 ORLEN Group developed foreign export channels
in the Czech Republic and Slovakia, and a very important
step was the presence of fuels of the Group on the Ger-

man and Austrian wholesale markets.

2009 2010 NS
I
492 -16%
2,149 -5%
15 20%
2,656 7%
ON Petrol LHO
I
3% 0%
3% 0%
% 0%
% 0%
5 0%
% 0%
% 0%
% 0%
100% 100%




The total 2010 fuel import to Poland dropped on average
by 7% as compared to the previous year. A vast majority
of fuel was imported from Germany, followed by Slovakia,
Lithuania, the Czech Republic and Belarus. The entire
volume of imported light heating oil came from Germany.

The Czech Republic

In 2010 the Company tightened cooperation with key
fuel companies, hypermarket networks and independent
wholesalers and retail networks. As part of activities aimed
at optimising operations of Paramo, the company initiated
the sale of petrol, which created a new distribution chan-
nel. Lower sale on the Czech market, caused by drop
in consumption, was compensated by increased sale
on the Slovak market. Certificates for bio additives allowed
to export them to neighbouring markets. The ORLEN
Capital Group optimised supplies of fuel and biocompo-
nents between refineries. At the end of the year the key
customer portfolio was contracted for 201 |, which resutted
in winning one of the biggest fuel operators in the region.

Lithuania

In 2010 sales of fuel produced by the refinery in Mazeikiai
reached the record amount of 9 min tonnes. The com-
pany signed long-term contracts for sale and delivery
of petroleum products on all land markets where ORLEN
Lietuva operates. Agreements were signed with the most
important and the biggest operators of these markets, fuel
stations networks, transport companies, production plants.
A number of contracts for year-round marine deliveries
for the biggest world traders were concluded, guaranteeing
sale of most of fuel produced by the refinery in Mazeikiai.

Due to high quality of offered petroleum products, efficient
logistics system of deliveries and customer service most
wholesale customers did not use the option of purchase
and import from other refineries. Thus in 2010 the number
of regular wholesale customers tripled on land markets
covering Lithuania, Latvia, Estonia and Ukraine.

Methods for price calculations were changed and mecha-

nisms encouraging to place bigger orders were introduced.

Moreover, credit policy towards customers was changed.
On the one hand it ensures greater flexibility in the context
of customers' expectations and abilities, and on the other
hand — it provides better security in terms repayment

of amounts due for goods.



As part of diversification of recipient groups the Company
initiated direct contacts with the final recipient and user
of fuels. Trade offers targeted at specific groups of recipients,

e.g. agricultural sector, were prepared and presented.

The Company produced and sold record volume of arctic

diesel for use in severe winter conditions.

An electronic platform was implemented for service of cus-
tomers, their orders, dispatch of products and payment
for goods. Customers may track on their own the route
covered by the goods from the moment of dispatch and

check the current level of financial limit, issued invoices etc.

ORLEN Group
— other refinery products

In 2010 total wholesale volume of other refinery products
in ORLEN Group amounted to 3,582,000 tonnes. This
result was by 4% higher than the one achieved in 2009.

Poland

In 2010 most other refinery products, except heating oil
[I'were sold inside ORLEN Group to ORLEN Asfalt and
ORLEN Qil. The main recipients of heating oil Ill in 2010

were business entities operating on the Danish market.
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The Czech Republic

Heating oil with low sulphur content was sold mainly
to power units of the plant in Kralupy nad Vitavou and
its sister company Paramo Pardubice. Seasonal surpluses
of heating oil with high sulphur content from the refinery
in Litvinov were allocated for export. Other refinery
products were mainly sold within the Unipetrol Group,
surpluses were bought by other companies operating
in the Czech Republic.

Lithuania

In 2010 the main purchasers of heating oil lll were inter-
national companies collecting this product from the port
in Klaipéda and subsequently distributing it to the markets
of Western Europe and Asia. Lithuanian power generation
plants were also an important group of recipients. Other

products were sold mainly on the domestic market.

2009 2010

Poland Thﬁe%ﬁebﬁg Lithuania Total Poland ThS\eCpE%CME Lithuania Total

I I

SALES VOLUME OF OTHER REFINERY PRODUCTS IN ORLEN GROUP IN 2009-2010 (‘000 TONNES)
Bitumen 765 238 10 721 255 113 1,089
Ol 102 32 0 85 43 0
Heavy heating oil 939 95 1,464 1,166 144 1,559
Others 2,809 94 74 2,653 105 88
Total 4,615 459 1,648 4,625 547 1760 N



STANISLtAW BRETSZNAJDER (1907-1967)

He was born on 19 July 1907 in Mykolajiv on the Black Sea. This outstanding scientist and teacher was the precursor
of mathematical description of experimental studies results and the founder of the original Polish school of chemical

technology.

In 1931 he became the assistant at the Department of Inorganic Chemical Technology at the Warsaw University of Tech-
nology. In 1936 he gave lectures on cement and binding materials technology, technical electrochemistry and fundamentals

of industrial processes — this subject was the beginning of a new discipline — chemical engineering.

In 1949 he took charge of the Technological Design Department at the Warsaw University of Technology. This was
a modern, not only in the domestic scope, educational and research unit where Stanistaw Bretsznajder developed
his original concepts of chemical process design, technological principles, modelling and scale-up rules, kinetics of contact
and topochemical reactions. He was the first lecturer in Poland to give lectures on chemical reactors design. He was

fascinated with the process of obtaining metallic aluminium from raw clay.
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Oil segment...............

In 2010 oil sector in ORLEN Group, consisting of ORLEN
OIL (Poland) and Paramo (Czech Republic), recorded sales
on the level of 445,000 tonnes. This result was 10% better
in comparison to the previous year. Base oil and lubricant
sales in that period amounted to over 235,000 tonnes,
which is 9% more than in 2009.

Poland

The economic situation in Poland and upturn on the market
— both domestic and export market —in 2010 contributed
to increased production and sales of lubricants, base oils,
slacks and extracts by about 25%.

Also last year the Company completed the first part
of the Base Ol Interchange programme which will to deve-
lop production of high quality motor oils with the use
of own base oils. At the same time |5 new projects were
implemented which covered products from of automotive
to industrial oils.

The programme for expansion of the next product segments
was developed in the area of production of low-tonnage

special lubricants and automotive cosmetics.

At the oil block unit, the joint project of ORLEN Ol
and PKN ORLEN was finalised which concerned indus-
trial production of heavy base oil SN 750 for production
of industrial oil.

The Company also started implementation of the biggest
project in its history — construction of Lube Oils Hydrore-
fining Unit in the Production Plant in Plock. After develop-
ment of variant concepts, the investment is at the stage
of obtaining approvals of the Investment Committee and
the Supervisory Board of PKN ORLEN. The investment
will be continued in 201 |. In order to optimise the costs
of allocation of lubricant products production between
ORLEN OIL Production Plants, the special programme
for modernisation of blending units in Trzebinia and Jedlicze
was developed. It is aimed at applying modern production
technologies in accordance with the Economic Order
Quantity formula. Selection of the general contractor
for modernisation of the LOBP (Lube Qil Blending Plant)
in Trzebinia is still being conducted. Whereas the base
project is being developed for the LOBP Jedlicze. The pro-
gramme will be continued in 2011, and it is planned
to be completed in 2012.

Dynamics
2009 2010 2010/2009

ORLEN GROUP OIL SEGMENT SALES VOLUMES IN 2009-2010 (‘000 TONNES)

Lubricants and base oils
Other products
Total

216 236 9%

o5 TR 0%
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Oil segment

On the extraction part of the selective refining with fur-
fural unit at the Production Plant in Plock the Company
implemented the APC (Advanced Process Control) system,
which contributed to significant improvement in control

of production process and its efficiency.

For the MEK-TOL unit, following R&D works, new genera-
tion filtering screens were selected which after installation
will allow it to increase fts efficiency and improve the quality

of products (base olil).

Sales

With an over 259 share in the market, ORLEN Ol is one
of the leaders of the Polish lubricants industry. In 2010
the company achieved a lot of considerable successes, both
on the domestic and foreign markets. This was possible
due to market activities initiated in the 2™ quarter of 2009,
which were included in the PKN ORLEN oil segment
strategy for 2010-2013. Also activities in other areas,
in particular in production and logistics, were important

for operations of the company.

2009 2010 OIS
ORLEN OIL SALE VOLUMES IN 2009-2010 (‘000 TONNES)
Lubricants, base oils and process oils 152 7%
Other products 182 10%
Total 334 9%
2009 2010 Dynamics
2010/2009
ORLEN OIL PRODUCTION VOLUMES IN 2009-2010 (‘000 TONNES)
Lubricants, base oils and process oils 195 244 25%
Other products 205 4%
Total 400 457 14%



An important element supporting sales was the continued
restructuring of the domestic distribution network. As part
of the activities undertaken, in January 2010 three distribu-
tion companies where ORLEN Oil held 100% of shares
were formally consolidated. In August 2010 a new struc-
ture of Platinum Oil brand managers started to operate
on the entire territory of Poland. This introduced new
products to the market: Platinum Classic and Platinum

Impact automotive cosmetics with a new graphic design.

At the end of 2010 ORLEN Oil had a model shelf with
Platinum Classic products and other products in 2,500
automotive stores and five commercial networks.

In 2010 over 50% of base oil was sold via the terminal
opened one year before. Slack wax and small amounts
of furfural extracts are sold also via the dispatch terminal
(to recipients other than PKN ORLEN).

In 2010 in ORLEN Oil Production Plants in Trzebinia
and Jedlicze the Company modernised lubricating oil and
windscreen washer fluids packaging lines. Modernisation
works involved assembly of roller conveyors connecting
the lines with warehouses as well as vision systems moni-
toring correctness of labelling. QGUAR system was also
implemented, allowing for automatic control of warehouse
transfers of raw materials and products.



The Czech Republic

Production

Total oil and lubricant production in Paramo in 2010
amounted to over 42,000 tonnes, i.e. a 10% increase
compared to the last year. The Company reported increase
by 13% in process oil production and 32% increase

in the derivatives and slacks segment.

Due to the economic situation in 2010 the oil market still
experienced low demand. Despite unfavourable conditions
the volume of sales of oils and Ilubricants on the Czech mar-
ket in 2010 was approximately 14% higher as compared
to the previous year. This was possible thanks to the mar-
keting strategy which involved intiation of cooperation with

important customers, i.e. authorized automotive services.

2009

OIL SEGMENT PRODUCTION VOLUME IN PARAMO 2009-2010 (‘000 TONNES)

Oils and lubricants 38
Base oils 14
Process oils 12
Other products 7
Total 71

2009

PARAMO SALES VOLUMES IN 2009-2010 (‘000 TONNES)

Lubricants, base oils and process oils 64
Other products 7
Total 71
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Dynamics
2010 2010/2009

1'1%
21%

8%
29%
14%

Dynamics
2010 2010/2009

73 14%
29%
15%



WOJCIECH ALOJZY SWIETOSEAWSKI (1881-1968)

He was born on 21 June 1881 in Kiryjéwka village in Volhynia region (Ukraine).

Outstanding physical chemist, the head of the Department of Physical Chemistry at the Technical University in Warsaw,
lecturer (1918—1929) at the University of Warsaw. He proved that temperatures of aliphatic hydrocarbons combustion

are approximately additive values.

He proposed and introduced the first international physicochemical standard — benzoic acid. On the basis of the decision
of the International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry (IUPAC) it became the standard of combustion temperature.
He invented numerous measurement devices of high accuracy (adiabatic microcalorimeters, ebulliometers and
cryometers), some of which are still used. He made an enormous contribution to the chemistry of coal and coke. A lot

of technologies developed by him have been implemented in industrial practices.
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Retail segment...........

In 2010, ORLEN Group carried out retail sales in Poland,
the Czech Republic, Lithuania and Germany. The entities
managing commercial activities on respective markets
were, respectively: PKN ORLEN, Benzina, Ventus Nafta
and ORLEN Deutschland.

Fuel sales in the retail segment in 2010 increased by 4.6%
as compared to 2009 and reached the record level
of 7,025 tonnes. Again the Company recorded a substan-
tial (by 7.9%) increase of diesel fuel sales in comparison
to the last year. As a result of changes in the structure
of consumption there was a drop in retail sales of other
fuels. In 2010 petrol sales decreased by 2.3%, and
the sale of liquefied gas was higher by 30% as compared
to the last year.

Poland

Fuel sales at PKN ORLEN fuel stations in Poland reached
a record level of 4,344,000 tonnes. Increase of retail
sales was possible mainly due to growing sales at BLISKA
economy stations and expansion of fleet sales. Thanks
to consistent implementation of the retail network de-
velopment strategy PKN ORLEN managed to increase
its share in the Polish market. Non-fuel sales also increased
dynamically. In 2010 the Company recorded over 8%
increase of turnover in shops at fuel stations.

In 2010 PKN ORLEN fleet programmes were distinguished
many times and considered the best offer for business

customers on the market.

At the end of 2010 the PKN ORLEN retail network
in Poland was expanded by 48 fuel stations —to |,714.
As many as |,333 of them were own stations, whereas
381 were franchised. In that period the PKN ORLEN
network comprised in total 981 stations under ORLEN
brand and 457 stations in the economy segment under
BLISKA brand (other 276 stations within the PKN ORLEN
network will be modernised or closed as part of network
optimisation). At the same time 81 affiliated stations were

transferred to service by the wholesale area

PKN ORLEN - STRUCTURE OF FUEL SALES
ON THE POLISH MARKET

LPG
Diesel 9.6%
Petrol
58.7%
31.7%
LPG
Diesel 12.2%
Petrol
54.6%
33.2%
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BENZINA — STRUCTURE OF FUEL SALES The Czech Republic
ON THE CZECH MARKET In 2010 Benzina company, in the situation of decreasing
consumption on the Czech market, increased Premium

fuel sales. Consumption of Verva ON and Verva 100 fuel

Petrol — offered only on the Czech market — amounted in total

_ to over 37 min litres, thus it increased against the previous
Diesel 39.9% year by as much as 68.9%.

60.1% At the end of 2010, Benzina managed a network of 337

premium and economy fuel stations. The number of Ben-
zina Plus stations fulfilling the highest standards of premium
brand and offering rich assortment of services and non-fuel
products grew in 2010 from 107 to | 13 with 224 stations
in the economy segment. 325 own stations functioned
in the CODO formula (Company Owned Dealer Oper-
ated), and |2 franchised stations —in the DOFO formula
(Dealer Owned Franchise Operated).

Petrol

Diesel 43.1%

56.9%




Lithuania

In 2010 AB Ventus Nafta recorded an increase in sales
by 3.1% as compared to the previous year in the situation
of unchanged level of retail consumption on the Lithu-
anian market. Growth in that period was driven mainly
by sales to fleet customers, which grew by 7.6% and
reached 32.9% of share in the total fuel sales at Ventus
Nafta stations.

By the end of 2010 ORLEN Group operated a network
of 35 stations in Lithuania managed by AB Ventus Nafta
company, including 26 in the COCO formula (Company
Owned Company Operated) and 9 in the DOFO system
(Dealer Owned Franchise Operated). Fuel sales at COCO
stations grew by 2.8% as compared to the previous year,

with an unchanged number of stations.

Germany

2010 was a record year for ORLEN Deutschland in terms
of sales volumes. The company'’s retail sales exceeded
in 2010 2 billion litres and in the situation of decreasing
consumption on the German market it grew by 4% as com-
pared to the previous year. Similarly strong growth was
recorded in the non-fuel sales segment. Turnover of shops
located at fuel stations increased against 2009 by 5.4%.

By the end of 2010, ORLEN Deutschland managed a net-
work of 515* fuel stations, including 485 under the STAR
brand, whereas 29 were stations located at hypermarkets.
Efficient STAR brand positioning brought results in the form
of strengthening of ORLEN Deutschland position as a strong
player in the economic segment of the market.

* ORLEN Deutschland manages one station under the ORLEN brand

located in Hamburg.
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AB VENTUS NAFTA — STRUCTURE OF FUEL SALES ORLEN DEUTSHLAND — STRUCTURE OF FUEL SALES
ON THE LITHUANIAN MARKET ON THE GERMAN MARKET
LPG LPG
. o o
Petrol Diesel
49.9% 36.7%

25.6% 61.9%

[o)
Diesel 23% Petrol 1.3%

Petrol Diesel

45.9% 35.3%
31.1%




IGNACY MOSCICKI (1867-1946)

Bornon | December 1867 in Mierzanowo - outstanding chemist, the President of the Republic of Poland in 1926—1936.

He graduated from the Technical University in Riga, and then he continued studies at the Finsbury Technical College and

in Patent Library. He worked in Fribourg in Switzerland making numerous inventions.

In 1912 he was appointed to the Department of Physical Chemistry and Electrochemistry of the Lviv Polytechnic (until
1925) and in Technical University in Warsaw (1925—1926). He was a member of the Polish Academy of Arts and
Sciences, from 1930 a member of the Warsaw Science Society and a honorary member of the Polish Chemical Society.
He is the author of over 60 scientific works and patents. His greatest scientific achievement was development
of industrial method for obtaining nitric acid from air by synthesis of nitrogen oxides in electric arc. He conducted works

related to organization of chemical industry in independent Poland. He was also the rector at the Lviv Polytechnic.

Supported by Jézef Pitsudski, he was elected the president of the Republic of Poland in 1926. On |7 September 1939
he was interned in Romania, and on 30 September the same year he resigned from the office of the president.

In December 1939 he moved to Switzerland where he spent the last years of his life.
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Petrochemical segment............cccceeevrrriiirnnnnnne.

The high quality of products and efficient distribution net-
work make the petrochemical segment of ORLEN Group
one of the strongest companies of this type in Central
and Eastern Europe. In 2010 it comprised of selected
units which were the Petrochemical Plant in Ptock, Basell
Orlen Polyolefins and business units from Unipetrol Group.
The Company is the sole manufacturer of olefins, polyolefins

and most petrochemicals in Poland and the Czech Republic.

Petrochemicals

In 2010 the market situation improved, which influenced
prices of petrochemical products, mainly olefins. In the first
half of the year the Company recorded their systematic
increase. This was the result of the imbalanced market
— demand significantly exceeded the supply. This effect
intensified due to a large number of overhauls of units
planned for that period by European producers. The third
quarter brought stabilisation of the market situation and
price reductions, whereas the fourth quarter — growing

prices of raw materials and petrochemicals.

Restriction of production of certain products resulted
in reduced sales in 2010, compared to the previous year.
This was caused by a planned technological standstill
of the Olefin unit in Plock, technological problems expe-
rienced by one of the main recipients of ethylene from
the Production Plant in Plock and optimisation of operations

of units related to the production chain.

2009 2010
The Czech The Czech
Poland Republic Total Poland Republic Total
—— ——

ORLEN GROUP PETROCHEMICAL PRODUCTS SALES VOLUMES IN 2009-2010 (‘000 TONNES)
Polyethylene 171 286 457 181 288

Polypropylene 168 214 |65 242
Ethylene 174 87 187 212
Propylene 178 36 170 43
Toluene 71 3 34 3
Benzene 8l 182 263 71 211
Ortoxylene 20 0 6 0
Acetone 21 0 23 0
Butadiene 57 0 63 30
Glycols 68 2 64 |
Ethylene oxide 18 0 m 18 0
Phenol 34 0 35 0
Plastics 389 I3 402 324 12
Artificial fertilizers 1,075 I 1,170

Others 545 925 437 843
Total 3,070 1,749 2,948 1,785
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Polish and Czech plants of ORLEN Group produced over
956,000 tonnes of ethylene. This signifies almost 3%
increase in comparison to the previous year. Propylene
production in the reported period topped 577,000 tonnes,
i.e. approximately 0.3% more than in the previous year.

Poland

The level of petrochemical production in 2010 was
mainly influenced by the planned technological standstill
of the Olefin unit, as well as related facilities in the Petro-
chemical Plant in Plock and polymer units in Basell Orlen
Polyolefins. An additional factor restricting the production
of ethylene was the substantial reduction — in the second
half of 2010 — of products collected by ANWIL caused by
failure at the Electrolysis Department resulting in restriction

of PVC production (due to lack of supply of chlorine).

In 2010 the Company used increased production capacities
of the Butadiene unit modernised two years earlier. Thus
the production of butadiene increased by 14%. Moreover,
construction of PX/PTA facility was completed (400,000
tonnes of paraxylene and 600,000 tonnes of PTA). Pro-

duction on these units is planned to be launched in 201 |.

In 2010 TE Il unit was modernised, and thus its production
capacities were increased.

The biggest recipients of ethylene and propylene from
the plants in Plock were producers of plastics: Basell
Orlen Polyolefins and ANWIL. Other products, apart

from the domestic market, were sold mainly to Germany,
the Czech Republic and Lithuania.

The biggest share in the structure of recipients of pet-
rochemical products offered by PKN ORLEN was held
by producers of plastics (PE, PP PVC, PET). Other impor-
tant purchasers were the producers of: synthetic rubber,
ethoxylates (used in the production of surface active agents)
and polyols, TDI (used in the production of polyurethanes),
caprolactam, Bisphenol A, phenolic resins, coolants, phthalic

anhydride and artificial fertilisers.

Dynamics
2009 2010 2010/2009

PRODUCTION VOLUME OF SELECTED PETROCHEMICALS IN PKN ORLEN IN 2009-2010 (‘000 TONNES)

Ethylene
Propylene**
Butadiene
Benzene
Toluene
Phenol
Acetone
Glycols
Cooling fluids
Sulphur
Ethylene oxide

* Total production for sale and own consumption.

** Total propylene production at the Production Plant in Plock.

516* 502 -3%
358* 340 -5%
55 63 15%
[18* -8%
122* -9%
33 6%

21 5%
69 -6%

12 0%
I35 7%
18 0%




The Czech Republic

The situation on the Czech petrochemical market did not
differ from that of other European markets, both in terms
of demand and price levels. The agrochemical market was
characterised by fluctuations of demand and prices. Price
increase in the second half of 2010 was caused by growing
prices of natural gas and increased demand for fertilisers.

The petrochemicals manufactured at Unipetrol RPA were
mainly sold on the Czech market under long-term contracts
concluded with key customers. Among foreign recipients
the biggest volumes were contracted by entities from
Germany, Poland, Austria and Ukraine.

In 2010 there was a substantial, as compared to 2009,
increase of production at the Olefin unit. This resulted from
absence of market restrictions and production capacities
bigger than in 2009.

Plastic Materials

The volume of polypropylene production in 2010 totalled
568,000 tonnes, which was 6% more than in 2009.
In 2010 ORLEN Group produced 6% more polyolefins
than in 2009. In the period in question the production
of polyethylene on units in Poland and in the Czech Republic
reached the level of 642,000 tonnes, which was 6%
more than in 2009.

Poland
In total, the Basell Orlen Polyolefins (BOP) produced over
24,000 tonnes of products more than in 2009.

Over 32% of overall sales of products from Basell Orlen
Polyolefins were allocated on the Polish market. The rest was
distributed within the European supply chain of LyondellBasell.
In 2010, the main foreign recipients of Plock products were
customers from Germany, Italy, France, Belgium and Sweden,

as well as from Russia and Spain.

All the Basell Orlen Polyolefins products are packaged
and dispatched from a modern logistics platform in Plock
consisting of 63 silos of 400 tonnes each.

Dynamics
2009 2010 2010/2009

PRODUCTION VOLUME OF SELECTED PETROCHEMICALS IN UNIPETROL RPA IN 2009-2010 (‘000 TONNES)

Ethylene
Propylene
Benzene
Carbamide
Ammonia

Oxo alcohols

Ethylene Propylene

416 455 9%
217 9%
182 213 17%

o+ [T 13%
266 6%
7 -100%

Benzene Oxo Ammonia Carbamide

SALES OF THE MAIN PETROCHEMICAL PRODUCTS IN 2010 (%)

Domestic sales 72.8% 49.3%
Export 27.2% 50.7%

POLYOLEFIN PRODUCTION VOLUMES AT BOP IN 2009-2010 (‘000 TONNES)

LDPE (Low Density Polyethylene)
HDPE (High Density Polyethylene)

PP (Polypropylene)
Total

89.2% 0% 99% 52.8%
10.8% 0% 1% 47.2%
2009 2010 Dynamics

2010/2009

92 4%
242 8%
327 0%
661 3%
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The Czech Republic

Unipetrol took advantage of improving market conditions,
recording increase of HDPE (high density polyethylene)
production by 4%, whereas of polypropylene by |6%.
Sales of HDPE and polypropylene were higher in 2010
as compared to the previous year by 1% and 3%, respe-
ctively. Better market situation also allowed to change direc-
tions of polymers sales. Therefore the company allocated

more of its products in more profitable market segments.

The key foreign recipients of polyethylene and polypro-
pylene manufactured in the Czech plants are German
companies. Compared to 2009, HDPE export dropped by
4% and polypropylene export increased by 12% in 2010.

Investment projects

The main task carried out in 2010 was completion
of the technical stage of construction of the PX plant
(paraxylene production) and PTA plant (terephthalic acid
production) in Wioclawek. Commissioning of both units
is planned for the first half of 201 I.

Annual production capacities of the PX unit in Plock,
producing raw material for production of terephthalic
acid, amount to 400,000 tonnes. The expected time
for commencement of continuous production at the PX
unit is the 2 quarter of 201 |.

Whereas annual production capacities of the PTA unit,
located on the premises neighbouring the ANWIL
plant in Wioctawek, amount to 600,000 tonnes of acid.
The expected time for commencement of continuous
production at the PTA unit is the 2™ quarter of 201 |.

Other petrochemical companies of ORLEN Group carried
out programmes for modernisation of existing infrastruc-
ture, obligatory and development projects. The Company
completed, among others, the construction of Butadiene
unit 120,000 tonnes in Unipetrol in the Czech Republic
and construction of the oxygen generating unit as well
as connection of utilities to the PTA plant in the ANWIL
plants in Wioctawek.

Dynamics
2009 2010 2010/2009

POLYOLEFINS SALES VOLUME AT BOP IN 2009-2010 (‘000 TONNES)

HDPE
LDPE
PP
Total

POLYOLEFIN PRODUCTION VOLUME AT UNIPETROL IN 2009-2010 (‘000 TONNES)

HDPE
PP
Total

POLYOLEFINS SALES VOLUME AT UNIPETROL IN 2009-2010 (‘000 TONNES)

HDPE
PP
Total

251 6%
9] 8%
337 2%
679 2%
2009 2010 Dynarnics
201072009

.|
i
209 242 16%
483 526 9%
2009 2010 Dynarnics
2010/2009

.|
286 1%
214 13%
500 6%




JEDRZE] SNIADECKI (1768-1838)

Born in 1768 in Rydlewo near Znin, died in 1838 in Vilnius - chemist, doctor, philosopher, biologist, publicist, called

the father of Polish chemistry.

Professor of the Main School in Vilnius: in 1797—1822 of chemistry, in 18261832 of medicine, from 1832 at the Medical
and Surgical Academy in Vilnius. Co-founder and the President (from 1819) of the Wastrel Society, founder of the Vilnius
Medical Society.

He worked on the theory of dissolution processes. He discovered ruthenium (which he called “west” in his work

"Treatise on the new metal discovered in raw platinum”, 1808), however the discovery was not officially confirmed.

As for philosophical views, he was an advocate of empiricism and materialism of the French Enlightenment and the concept
of “healthy reason” of the Scottish school of philosophy. The creator of Polish chemical terminology, he wrote the first
chemistry handbook in Polish, he introduced the concept of metabolism in his "Innovative theory of organic existence”
(1804—1811), which substantially preceded the development of natural sciences — it had a lot of editions, also translated into

other languages.

He was also a propagator of hygiene and dietetics and pioneer of physical education in Poland.
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Chemical segment.....

Production

Main products of the chemical segment are:
¢ polyvinyl chloride,
* sodium hydroxide,

The most important entities of the chemical segment in 2010 * granulates and mixtures on the basis of PVC,
were ANWIL (Poland) and Spolana (Czech Republic). * nitrogenous fertilisers,
As a result of optimisation of the core business in the 4" * caprolactam.

quarter of 2010 all assets in SK EUROCHEM and Arbud
were sold, whereas the sale of shares in Apex-Elzar was

finalised in January 201 I.

STRUCTURE OF CHEMICAL SEGMENT IN 2010

ANWIL SA

SPOLANA as. REMWIL Sp. z.0.0. PRO-LAB Sp. z.0.0. CHEMEKO Sp. z.0.0.
100.00% 99.98% 99.32% 55.93%
° ° o ° ®
WIRCOM Sp. z.0.0. EKO-DROG Sp. z.o.0 APEX-ELZAR Sp. z.0.0. PROF-MED Sp. z.0.0. ARBUD Sp. z.0.0.
49.02% 48.78% 46.95% 45.86% 45.26%
o
SK EUROCHEM Sp. z.0.0.
17.37%
2009 2010 Dynarnics
2010/2009
I
PRODUCTION VOLUMES AT ANWIL (‘000 TONNES)
Polyvinyl chloride 257 -24%
PVC processing 53 2%
Sodium hydroxide (per 100% NaOH) 155 519
Nitrogenous fertilisers* (per nitrogen) 281 0%
Total A0 605 | -19%

* Covers nitrate and Canwil.



PKN ORLEN Annual Report 2010

Chemical segment

PO|>/VIﬂ>/| Chloride (P\/C) The continued common sales and distribution policy made
it possible to divide the manufacturing of respective types
The year 2010 neutralised negative market trends that of PVC between the Polish and Czech facilities. The Com-
started at the time of 2008 crisis. Whereas due to a pro- pany also managed to effectively minimise the results
longed winter delaying the commencement of construction of the failure in Wioctawek. PVC production capacities
season the first quarter proved to be difficult, in April and in 2010 were 475,000 tonnes, including 340,000 tonnes
May sales improved. In June there was already substantial in Wioctawek (ANWIL) and 135,000 tonnes in Neratovice
increase of demand for PVC both in a Poland and on other (Spolana).
European markets. This tendency was sustained in subse-
quent months, which was reflected in a sales increase and In 2010 the chemical sector companies of ORLEN Group
reduction of inventories in Europe reported by industry reported an approximately 40% share in the Polish PVC
associations. In 2010 both indicators proved to be better market, which is a drop by about 0% as compared
compared to the previous year. to the previous year. In the period in question the share
of ANWIL and Spolana in the Czech PVC market was
In June 2010 there was a failure at the Electrolysis Depar- approximately 30%, representing a drop of 3%.
tment in ANWIL, which resulted in restriction of PVC
production and thus drop in sales of products to domestic The most important investment in the segment in question
customers and withdrawal from performance of some was completion by ANWIL of works related to construction
foreign contracts. Therefore positive market tenden- of the new oxygen generating unit. After precommissioning
cies could not be used in full. By neutralising the results and commissioning, in November 2010 the production
of production restrictions as regards PVC, vinyl chloride and of oxygen and nitrogen was initiated, including supply
soda lye, capacity in Spolana was maximised. Moreover, of these gases to the plant network. At the turn of 2010
the Company continued production on the basis of external and 201 | the parameters for production of liquid argon
sources of supply in raw materials and semi-finished prod- were stabilized.
ucts. The production situation necessitated replacement
of Polanvil with Neralite and Ongrovil (Borsodchem). This Activities regarding connection of utilities for the needs
generated additional costs resulting from necessity to ensure of the PTA Plant start-up were completed in time.

deliveries. Market shortages of unprocessed PVC resulting
from the failure caused an increase of import, and thus
decrease of ANWIL share in the market.

2009 2010 oS
PRODUCTION VOLUMES AT SPOLANA (‘000 TONNES)
Polyvinyl chloride 117 -6%
Sodium hydroxide (per 100% NaOH) 88 -3%
Caprolactam 39 10%
Ammonium sulphate (per nitrogen) 37 1%
Total 281 -1%




Nitrogenous Fertilisers

In the I half of 2010 significant fluctuations of agricultural
products prices and unfavourable weather conditions
resulted in decreased demand for nitrogenous fertilisers.
Moreover, in 2009 distribution networks and producers,
having at their disposal relatively large inventories of fertilis-
ers, conducted the policy of delaying the reduction of prices
in retail sales. Farmers also delayed purchases, waiting
for the reduction of fertilisers prices. This phenomenon
contributed to a drop in demand at the beginning of 2010.
Another factor contributing to the decrease in competi-
tiveness of Polish fertiliser production companies were
increased prices of gas for industry in Poland (compared

to the prices for producers from Western Europe, Rus-
sia and Ukraine). Increase in import from the west and
southern of Europe was one of the reasons for reduction
of fertilisers prices in Poland. In that period Poland, so far

the exporter of fertilisers, became their importer.

In the 2™ half of 2010 growing prices of agricuttural products
stimulated demand and influenced the increase of the price
of fertilisers. This was the impulse initiating reconstruction
of the domestic and export market. With the beginning
of another agrotechnical season, in September and October
the prices increased significantly. Whereas lower supply
(connected with problems at units in Europe) and increased
prices on international markets caused the reconstruction
of export markets.

Despite a difficult I** half-year, in 2010 ANWIL recorded
record sales in the history reaching 971,800 tonnes of ferti-
lisers. This was higher than the previous record made
in 2006, by 18,300 tonnes, i.e. 1.9%. As compared
to 2009, sales increased by 6.2%.

In 2010 ANWIL produced almost 908,000 tonnes of nitro-
genous fertilisers (in mass), i.e. over 14,000 tonnes more
than in 2009. The entire chemical segment production
(including ammonium sulphate) amounted in 2010 to almost
[ min tonnes of nitrogenous fertilisers (in mass). According
to the Central Statistical Office (GUS) in 2010 the total
production of nitrogenous fertilisers of all Polish producers
increased by 5% as compared to 2009.

In the 2009/2010 season, ORLEN Group's chemical
segment covered nearly 20% of the Polish nitrogenous

fertiliser market, as per pure nitrogen.

The Company also continued investment projects under
the name “Raising the energy efficiency level and produc-
tion volume at the Fertiliser Plant.” Investments consti-
tute a practical verification of activities aimed at reducing
the level of energy consumption of the production process
in the area of fertilisers on the one hand, and on the other
hand — at using energy potential in this area, previously
not used in the optimal way. Moreover, these activities
will bring environmental advantages. Character of invest-
ments qualifies them to co-financing from the National
Fund for Environmental Protection and Water Manage-
ment in Warsaw.
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Caprolactam

As from the end of 2009 situation on the market of cap-
rolactam and polyamides has started to improve. In 2010
strong demand and record high prices in Asia resulted
in increased export from Europe, which meant drop
in supply in Europe. Spolana took advantage of the favour-
able situation on Asian markets — by increasing production
of caprolactam in the form of flakes it was able to increase
the level of sales in this region. By tightening cooperation
with one of Polish producer of polyamides, it significantly
increased the levels of sales of the product to the Polish
market. The volume of ammonium sulphate, a parallel
product generated in the production of caprolactam,
manufactured in Spolana was higher than the level reported

in the previous year.

In 201 | Polish and Czech markets will be crucial for the chem-
ical segment in the scope of PVC. The segment will focus
its sales intensification efforts first of all on those two mar-
kets. Due to improving situation on the domestic and
European construction market, being the main driver
of increase of demand for PVC, and restoration of full
production capacity in ANWIL, it is assumed that sales
in 201 | will be higher than in the previous year. Thanks
to this the chemical segment will regain shares in the most
important markets, lost as a result of failure in Wioctawek.

In the season 2010/201 | ANWIL assumes to maintain
its position on the nitrogenous fertilisers market in Poland,

with maximum use of production capacities.

Investment projects

The most important undertaking of ANWIL Group
for the years 201 1-2015 is the construction of a new, own
heat and power plant based on the gas and steam unit with
a power of 100 MGW. Maximum levels of co-generation
should fully satisfy the demand for heat energy of the en-
tire industrial facility at the premises of ANWIL (includ-
ing PTA plant and SK Eurochem company) and most
demand for electricity of ANWIL itself. Construction and
start-up of this unit will contribute to significant reduction
of costs of heat and electricity production. Thus it will
reduce costs of production of basic products, mainly PVC.
In 2011 the Company will continue investments required
pursuant to legal provisions regarding elimination of R-22
Freon from cooling systems. In the Fertiliser Plant, under
the operational programme “Infrastructure and Environ-
ment” the Company will also carry out environmental
and efficiency tasks.



KAROL OLSZEWSKI & ZYGMUNT WROBLEWSKI

Karol Olszewski (1846—1915)
The founder of Polish and world cryogenics, physicist and chemist, professor at the Jagiellonian University. Member

of the Polish Academy of Arts and Sciences in Krakow He contributed to the development of roentgenography.

Zygmunt Wréblewski (1845-1888)
Polish researcher — physicist. Member of the Polish Academy of Arts and Sciences, professor at the Jagiellonian University
(from 1882). He conducted research into properties of gases and metals in low temperatures and gaseous diffusion.

He determined critical temperatures of numerous gases, including critical parameters of hydrogen.

Karol Olszewski and Zygmunt Wroblewski conducted research on the condensation of air. In 1883 they were the first
scientists in the world who condensed oxygen and nitrogen. Later both scientists consolidated carbon dioxide and
methanol. For that purpose they used the cascade method of gas condensation under reduced pressure in which
successive condensed and boiling gas reduced temperature for subsequent condensations in lower temperatures. Due

to joint achievements both scientists are often listed together.
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ORLEN Group...........

ORLEN Group companies are ascribed to respective
divisions within PKN ORLEN and several business units.

As at the end of 2010, PKN ORLEN had direct sharehold-
ings in 56 commercial companies, including:

* 34 subsidiaries (over 50% of shares);

* 2 co-related companies (50% of shares),

e | affiliated company (between 20% and 50% of shares),
* |9 minority companies (less than 20% of shares).

A strong Capital Group, being one of the objectives of PKN
ORLEN, supports the core business, i.e. refinery and pet-
rochemical production. Policy towards the Capital Group
is realized by strengthening the position of PKN ORLEN
in companies from the core business area and divestments

of assets not strictly related to its core business.

Changes in ownership in 2010

In 2010 ORLEN Powiernik, Morfeo and Chemipetrol
GmbH were liquidated a part of activities aimed at opti-

misation of the Capital Group structure.

The share capital of ORLEN Upstream was increased
in February 2010 by PLN 2.45 min by issuing 4,900 new
shares of PLN 500 nominal value each. PKN ORLEN
remains the only shareholder in the Company, and its total
commitments in ORLEN Upstream amounts currently
to PLN 24.95 min.

In October ORLEN Capital AB with its seat in Sweden
was set up, and PKN ORLEN purchased 500,000 shares
of EUR 0.1 value each. Value of share capital amounts
to EUR 55,000. PKN ORLEN share in the company's
share capital amounts to 100%.

In December PKN ORLEN purchased from the State
Treasury the block of over 750,000 ordinary registered
shares of ANWIL, representing 5.56% of the company’s
share capital for the amount of PLN 81 min. PKN ORLEN
share in the company’s share capital after the transaction
amounts to 90.35%.

Also in December PKN ORLEN purchased from
the State Treasury the block of over 395,000 ordinary
registered shares of Rafineria Trzebinia, representing
9.19% of the company’s share capital for the amount
of PLN 34.9 min. PKN ORLEN'S share in the company's
share capital after the transaction amounts to 86.35%.

Perspectives for the nearest future

2011 will be another year of optimising the structure
of ORLEN Group. Works aimed at sale of the block
of Polkomtel shares and ANWIL. It is expected that
the transaction of the sale of Polkomtel shares will be car-
ried out in the first half of 201 |. Due to lack of consensus
regarding the price, negotiations with ZA Putawy con-
cerning the sale of ANWIL chemical plants were closed.
“Taking into account improving macroeconomic conditions,
postponement of the transaction may, in the opinion
of PKN ORLEN and external experts, positively influence
its terms. Currently the Company is conducting works and
analyses aimed at investigating the possibility of separating
ANWIL into fertilising and PVC parts.

The Company also undertook activities to strengthen
the control in selected entities of key significance for PKN
ORLEN. To fulfil this purpose the Company bought minority
shares in: Rafineria Nafty Jedlicze, IKS “Solino”, ORLEN
Automatyka and ORLEN Wir.

The very successful programme for development of the re-
tail network will be continued, outside Poland. ORLEN
Deutschland owns already 571 fuel stations. The agreement
for the purchase of 56 fuel stations from OMV Deutschland
concluded in November will allow ORLEN to strengthen
the position of the company on the market in Saxony and
Thuringia, where the presence of the STAR brand was

so far only marginal.

Moreover, divestment processes of ORLEN Budonaft
and minority blocks of |7 companies will be carried out

as well as mergers of ORLEN Eko and ORLEN Prewendja.



DIRECT AFFILIATES OF PKN ORLEN
as of 31.12.2010

Division of President
of the Management Board

Financial
Division

Petrochemicals
Division
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Refinery
Division

Sales
Division

ORLEN Upstream

100%

ORLEN Intern.

Exploration

& Prod. Co BV 100%

ORLEN Ochrona

100%

Polkomtel
24.4%

|7 spdtek pozostatych

<20%

ORLEN Ksiegowos¢

100%

ORLEN Holding
Malta Ltd 99.5%

ORLEN Insurance Ltd

0,0000101%

ORLEN Finance AB

100%

| —
Petrolot
51%
ORLEN Administarcja
100%

ORLEN Capital AB

100%

Basell Orlen Polyolefins

50%

ANWIL
90.4%

ORLEN Prewencja

100%

ORLEN Laboratorium

94.9%

ORLEN Projekt

51%

ORLEN Unipetrol a.s.

63%

Plocki Park Przemysfowo

Techniczny
50%

ORLEN Medica

100%

L eee—
ORLEN Eko
100%

L ee———

ORLEN Budonaft

100%

). AB ORLEN Lietuva . ORLEN Gaz
100% 100%
ORLEN Asfalt ORLEN PetroCentrum
82.5% % 100%
— | —
Rafineria Nafty Jedlicze ORLEN PetroTank
75% % 100%
| — | —
Rafineria Trzebinia Ship Service
86.3% i®60.9%
| — | —
ORLEN Oil ORLEN Deutschland
51.7% 7 GmbH 100%
| — | —
ORLEN Automatyka » ORLEN Centrum
52.4% : Serwisowe 99%
| — | —
4 ORLEN Wir e IKS "Solino”
51% : 70.5%
ie Naftoport
: 18%
ORLEN KolTrans
" 99.9%
» ORLEN Transport
100%
| —

: ORLEN Transport
“® Krakéw 98.39%
under bankruptcy



WIKTOR KEMULA (1902-1985)

Born on 6 November 1902 in Izmait — an outstanding Polish chemist, founder of the Polish School of Polarography.

Professor at the University in Lviv (1936—1941), the head of the Inorganic Chemistry Department at the University
of Warsaw (1945—1968), the head of the Physical and Chemical Analytical Methods Institute at the Polish Academy
of Sciences in Warsaw (1952—-1972). He was a member of the Warsaw Scientific Society (from 1945) and its President
in the period from 1981 to 1985.

Member of the Polish Academy of Arts and Sciences from 1950, the Polish Academy of Sciences from 1956, the Interna-
tional Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry (1947-1985). The president of the Polish Chemical Society (1955-1959,
1972-1974). Member of a lot of international chemical societies, among others American Chemical Society (from 1938)

and Royal Society of Chemistry (from 1979). Awarded the degree honoris causa of the University of Warsaw.
Editor of the following magazines: “Roczniki Chemii” and “Chemia Analityczna”.

The founder of the Polish school of polarography. He devoted numerous works to the study of physical and chemical
phenomena associated with polarographic analysis. He introduced significant modifications to this method, thus
initiating cyclic voltammetry and cathodic oscillography. He conduced research into the reduction of organic compo-

unds, properties of complex compounds, impact of surfactants on electrode processes and oxidation of amalgams.

Analytical methods developed by Wiktor Kemula have been used in studies of numerous technical products (e.g. reactor

materials) as well as clinical and pharmaceutical tests.
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Employees.................

As at the end of 2010, the number of ORLEN Group
employees totalled 22,040* people, including:

* 4513 in PKN ORLEN,

* 4,250 in Unipetrol Group,

* 2,696 in ORLEN Lietuva,

* [26 in ORLEN Deutschland.

Consistently conducted optimisation of employment con-
centrated on two key aspects. The first one concerning
restructuring processes implemented mainly in ORLEN
Lietuva Capital Group and UNIPETROL Capital Group
allowed to decrease the employment by approximately
6%. The second part of activities focused on optimisation
of employment related to development programmes carried
out by PKN ORLEN, in particular regarding the area of pet-
rochemistry. In connection with construction of the PX
unit in Plock and the PTA unit in Wioclawek, | || people
were employed directly at these units in 2010.

Education

EMPLOYMENT STRUCTURE BY EDUCATION
University graduates

Secondary

Secondary vocational

Primary

Age

EMPLOYMENT STRUCTURE BY AGE
<30

31-40

41-50

51-60

>60

Gender

EMPLOYMENT STRUCTURE BY GENDER

Women

Men

*In this context ORLEN Group refers to the Company and its subsidiaries

covered by consolidation.

»

Due to systematically implemented efficiency improve-
ment programmes, employment in PKN ORLEN in 2010,
despite new recruitments, remained on the level similar
to the one recorded in the previous year. In the entire
ORLEN Group average employment dropped by over
3% as compared to 2009.

Employment Structure

In 2010, the majority of PKN ORLEN and ORLEN Lietuva
personnel were university graduates, whereas most emplo-
yees working for Unipetrol Group had secondary vocational

education diplomas.

In terms of age groups, in PKN ORLEN, the most numer-
ous were employees aged 31 to 40, whereas in ORLEN
Lietuva and Unipetrol Group the largest group of employees
were 41| to 50 years old.

The majority of employees were men, who represented

about 68% of personnel in ORLEN Lietuva, about 74%
in Unipetrol and about 80% in PKN ORLEN.

PKN ORLEN Unipetrol ORLEN Lietuva

50.60% 15.51% 31.97%
41.00% 35.14% 21.59%
7.11% 43.26% 21.88%
1.29% 6.10% 24.55%

PKN ORLEN Unipetrol ORLEN Lietuva

14.69% 6.78% 9.90%
29.83% 26.01% 31.86%
22.65% 33.96% 34.24%
28.59% 28.31% 22.81%
4.23% 4.94% 1.19%

PKN ORLEN Unipetrol ORLEN Lietuva

19.61% 25.84% 31.53%
80.39% 74.16% 68.47%
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Recruitment Policy
in PKN ORLEN

The main objective of the 2010 recruitment policy was
to recruit high-class specialists, whose knowledge and
competencies — combined with experience of current
employees — will allow to ensure continuity and the highest
level of business processes implemented by the Company.
Implementation of the recruitment strategy was in compli-
ance with currently applicable procedures and the principles
of corporate governance and corporate social responsibil-
ity. To ensure harmonious and consistent implementation
of the strategy, ORLEN Capital Group companies received
support consisting in, among others, knowledge sharing,
exchange of experiences and good practices in the scope

of recruitment projects.

In 2010 the Company developed new “Rules for adap-
tation of Employees in Polski Koncern Naftowy ORLEN
Spdtka Akeyjna”. Their aim was to efficiently introduce
new employees to their new duties, to provide sup-
port in adaptation to the new working environment and
to strengthen loyalty towards the Company. The process
also includes familiarisation with the principles of corporate

governance and integration with the team of co-workers.

Human resources policy
in ORLEN Group

One of the main objectives of the Company in the scope
of HRis the creation of uniform rules and standards for per-
sonnel management. In 2010 the Company developed
a document, whose aim — as its title indicates — is to im-
prove and standardise HR solutions in all companies within
ORLEN Group. “Guidelines for development of systemic
HR solutions in ORLEN Group Companies” indicate
directions of organizing and developing HR processes and
the manner of their implementation in the Capital Group
companies in accordance with PKN ORLEN standards.

The main aim of the remuneration system in the Company
is to have a uniform, transparent, fair and motivating tool
to increase productivity and efficiency of every company
in ORLEN Capital Group.

A coherent and well-concerned remuneration system
allows for fulfilment of basic objectives, such as: reward-
ing for individual and group results, ensuring stabilisation,
providing long-term motivations or the ability to employ
qualified and experienced specialists.

Bonus systems in ORLEN Group are aimed at motivating
employees to fulfil objectives set by the Management Board
of the Company and promoting outstanding achievements
and desirable behaviour based on values of key importance
for the Company.

A distinctive feature of the bonus system in ORLEN
Group is the relation of bonus to fulfilment of set targets.
The performance-oriented remuneration system sup-
ports the model of strong identification of employees
with success of the Company on the strategic level and
the organizational unit on operational level. Employees
gain confidence that results of their work translate directly
into their remuneration.

These universal principles have been reflected in new
standards for awarding bonuses to executive management
in ORLEN Capital Group, developed and adopted in 2010.
Main assumptions of this system are, among others, making
the bonus system more consistent across the entire Group
and increasing responsibility of the highest management

for results of the Company.



Student training

As in the previous years, in 2010 PKN ORLEN organised

student training covering three types of projects:

¢ Individual Training Programme (for students who com-
pleted at least the 2™ year of studies),

* Group Training Programme (organised in cooperation
with schools and universities),

¢ Diploma Training Programme (for students in the last
years of their studies interested in using materials/data
concerning the Company in their thesis).

In 2010, 388 people participated in the Student Training
Programme, of which 46 took part in individual student
trainings and 342 in group trainings (321 students from

the local market and 2| students from other universities).

On-the-Job Training

PKN ORLEN as a company operating in accordance with
the principles of corporate social responsibility, takes care not
only of its employees but also of young people — university
and secondary vocational schools graduates. In order to givie
them opportunities to gain first professional experiences
PKN ORLEN has organised since 2002 on-the-job training
for graduates interested in starting cooperation with PKN

ORLEN, in cooperation with Labour Offices across Poland.

On-the-Job Training programme allows us to accurately
evaluate the skills and professional potential of young
people. Those possessing the best skills and qualifications
often become a part of the PKN ORLEN team. During
the time spent in PKN ORLEN all trainees have a unique
opportunity to gain professional experience, verify their

skills and learn from the best experts in the industry.

In 2010, 52 people took part in on-the-job training.
The programme involved on-the-job training in the PKN
ORLEN headquarters in Plock and in facilities throughout
Poland. The participants of the programme familiarized
themselves with work in all areas of the Company’s activi-
ties, from production to administration.

In 2010 PKN ORLEN signed the Letter of Intent regarding
cooperation between the Warsaw University of Technology
Business School and PKN ORLEN.

Professional development
and training

The employee development policy in 2010 was prepared
on the basis of the results of the competence survey and
concentrated on the development of managerial skills.
Employees responsible for business areas received neces-
sary specialist knowledge.

The main projects implemented in 2010 included develop-
ment programmes: Energetic Leadership and Champions
League. Both will be implemented also in the next years,
supporting development of succession processes and
talent management.

The Energetic Leadership project is aimed at the develop-
ment of managerial competencies from the level of line
management to strategic management. In the programme
special emphasis was put on the importance of enthusiasm
at work and inspiring others to continuous improvement.
The Champions League project is targeted at the group
of production processes supervisors who manage the work
of teams as part of their daily duties. The aim of the pro-
gramme is to expand the set of tools necessary for adequate
employee management: work organization, motivation

and communication.

An important element in the scope of the training policy
was also expansion of IT systems supporting monitoring

of projects and development of e-learning courses.

During specialist and development trainings in 2010
the Company trained in total over 8,000 employees.
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Socia
dialogue

Principles of social dialogue applied in PKN ORLEN are
based on internal agreements and regulations resulting

from general legal provisions in force.

These principles are crucial in the case of complex social

processes and allow us to minimise potential disputes.

Observance of the principles of social dialogue is crucial
by implementation of restructuring processes and under-
taking of activities concerning companies set up as a re-
sult of transformations inside PKN ORLEN. Frameworks
of social dialogue in this scope are specified by the provi-
sions of “The agreement regarding rules of cooperation
between the Employer and the Trade Unions concerning
restructuring issues”, which (after verification in 2010)
was adjusted to capabilities of the Company and market
solutions practiced in this scope.

Social Benefits

As a responsible employer PKN ORLEN provides social
support to its employees in the form of various benefits,
including in particular: co-financing of employee holidays,
sanatorium treatment, holidays for children and youths,
recreation and sports activities, rehabilitation treatment
and cultural and educational activities, non-repayable aid
(financial or in-kind), repayable housing loans and Christ-
mas presents for children. In total about 37,000 various

benefits were provided.

Due to the tragedy caused by flooding which occurred
in Poland in June 2010 the Company initiated the fina-
ncial aid action from the Company Social Benefits Fund.
The action lasted until |5 December. One-off aid was pro-
vided for the current and former employees of the Com-
pany. People who suffered because of the flood could
apply for aid in the form of non-repayable aid and repa-
yable loan for renovation of a house or a flat, granted
on preferential terms.



KAZIMIERZ FUNK (1884-1967)

Born on 23 February 1884 in Warsaw, where he graduated from grammar school. He studied biology in Geneva,
and then chemistry in Bern (Switzerland) where in 1904 he was awarded PhD degree. As a biochemist, he conduc-

ted most of his research at the Pasteur Institute in Paris, as well as in Germany and Great Britain.

He acted as the head of the biochemistry department at the National Institute of Hygiene in Warsaw, and spent the last
years of his life in the USA.

He coined the term “vitamins”, which he introduced in 1912 (from Latin vita = life + amines), and initiated studies
about these compounds. After long and strenuous tests on rats and pigeons he discovered and isolated the first
vitamin — vitamin B, and subsequently discovered it in various types of food, e.g. in yeast and milk. He was the author

of the work “Die Vitamine” about properties of vitamins and the deficiencies of vitamins as the cause of diseases.

Kazimierz Funk also worked on isolating insulin and niacin. In the last period of his life he conducted research into

causes of cancer.
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Environmental protection........cc...ccceeevnnnnn...

Activities in the area of environmental protection carried
out last year allowed PKN ORLEN to solidify the position
of the leader in the scope of ecological approach towards
business. Taking responsibility for current and future en-
vironmental impact, the Company conducted numerous

activities aimed at minimising its influence on environment.

Capital expenditure on tasks related to environmental
protection in the ORLEN Production Plant in Plock in 2010
amounted to over PLN 148 min, whereas at fuel stations
—to over PLN 47 min, i.e. 46% more compared to 2009.
In the following years the Company will continue activities
aimed at protecting environment, increasing power and
balancing the energy needs of PKN ORLEN.

The separate Environmental Protection Office, established
in December 2009, dedicated to fulfil environmental
objectives of the Company, carried out various voluntary
initiatives and programmes. Operations of the Office also
brought measurable quality effects in the scope of fulfilment
of obligations imposed by the law. The Office carried
out operational duties regarding environmental condi-
tions of functioning of the plant in Ptock and supervised
content-related works of ORLEN Prewencja conducting
tasks for terminals and fuel stations. An important new
element was the implementation of activities coordinating
environmental questions within the operations of the Capital
Group. These activities resulted in development of the first
“Environmental report of ORLEN Capital Group”.

Despite the unfavourable macroeconomic situation,
the Company fulfilled tasks resulting from environmental
programmes as well as investment tasks. The most impor-
tant of them included:

* paraxylene untt,

* Hydrodesulphurisation ON VII unit,

* |l Hydrogen Production Plant,

e Claus I unit,

e construction of K8 boiler at the Combined Heat and
Power Plant equipped with an exhaust gas catalytic
denitrogenation unit,

* modernisation of existing fuel stations and the construc-
tion of new ones, equipped with necessary environ-

mental protections.

Construction of some of the mentioned units has been
already completed, while in the case of others commis-

sioning works are still being performed.

One of the important events was commencement of works
on the construction of a new gas turbine powered by natu-
ral gas — so called “blue fuel” characterised by the lowest
emission indicators.

Another challenge that faces the Company in the scope
of environmental protection is adjustment of the Com-
bined Heat and Power Plant to requirements established
for such types of sources in the Directive on industrial
emissions of 24 November 2010. Works on modernisa-
tion of the CHP plant have to be completed by 2016.

In 2010 there was the first review of integrated permits
for the Company’s units required by law. The review
conducted by the Marshal Office of Masovian Voivodeship
brought posttive results. Units covered by the CO, emission
allowances trading system obtained positive verifications
of reports for 2010, and the Company holds allowances

in the number corresponding to verified CO, emissions.

Another important event was receipt in June 2010
of the integrated permit for a new production unit for pro-
duction of tetraphthalic acid in Wioctawek.



In 2010, the Company reported a slight increase in total
emissions to the atmosphere as compared to the previ-
ous year caused mainly by extreme weather conditions
inthe 1% and the 2" quarter of 2010. Necessity to produce
heat by the CHP plant for the Company’s own needs
as well as other industrial recipients and Ptock resulted

in an increased amount of consumed fuel.

Load of sewage discharged to the Vistula also went up
due to an increase of 28% of rainwater and drainage
sewage caused by strong rainfall and high groundwater
level. Despite recorded increases emissions did not exceed
amounts specified in the allowances, and the Company
did not record any exceeded standards of air quality

in continuous emission Measurements.

The year 2010 was the period of intensified activities
regarding implementation of the Responsible Care (RC)
Programme. The Company implemented the Framework
Responsible Care Management System being the conse-
quence of the Global Responsible Care Support Declaration
signed by PKN ORLEN in 2007. The objective of the Sys-
tem is to introduce the mechanism for cyclical self-assess-
ment of the Company in the area of broadly understood
safety and integration of principles of the Responsible Care
Programme with commercial processes, e.g. product
management, transport of raw materials and products.

The compliance assessment audit, carried out at the tumn

POLLUTANT EMISSIONS FROM THE PRODUCTION PLANT IN PLOCK IN 2009-2010 [MG]

Sulphur dioxide

Nitrogen monoxide (as per nitrogen dioxide)
Carbon monoxide

Total hydrocarbons

Fuel combustion dust

Carbon dioxide

Other pollutants

Total pollutant emission
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of 2010 and 201 I, confirmed implementation of the sys-
tem on the level allowing the jury to award the Certificate
of implementation of the Framework Responsible Care
Management System compliant with guidelines of the CRF-
|C (European Chemical Industry Council).

Under the Responsible Care Programme the Company
implemented 43 projects, the most popular one among
employees being the next, fourth edition of the photo com-
petition “Catch the hare”, aimed at promoting the beauty
of nature. Award winning photos were sent to the national
stage where employees from all companies taking part

in the Responsible Care Programme compete.

Two photos sent by PKN ORLEN employees were
distinguished on the national stage. All award-winning
photos were presented in the 201 | calendar published
by the Programme Secretariat.

Tasks undertaken by the Company in 2010 in the scope

of environmental protection were distinguished by two

important environmental awards:

* “Environmentally Friendly Company 2010” and

* “Polish Environmental Pantheon” in the category
of the institutions supporting the implementation
of environmental protection projects — Let's save

the peregrine falcon.

2009 2010 Change

20,975.23 22,381.42 1,406.19 6.70%
7,124.27 8,460.74 1,336.47 18.76%

1,010.87 1,309.07 298.20 29.50%

1,238.12 173.95 14.05%
399.75 109.90 27.49%
612689442  |JETECRERN 22454590 3.67%
370.05 094 025%
6,158,012.71 TR 227.871.54 3.70%



Air Protection

According to the control measurements carried out
by the Company and authorised auditing bodies in 2010,
the top emission limits set out in the Integrated Permit
were not exceeded by the refinery and petrochemical
facilities in Plock.

In 2010, PKN ORLEN Group companies undertook

various measures to reduce their environmental impact.

ANWIL

* construction of the medium-pressure steam boiler
unit on line A of ammonia unit. The investment in-
fluenced reduction of the natural gas consumption by
approximately 369 Nm?*/h, decrease of CO, emissions
(by approximately 725 kg/h) and reduction of environ-
mental charges,

* modernisation of two production lines at the deminerali-
sation station. This resulted in reduction of hydrochloric
acid and soda lye consumption by 75% and reduc-
tion of the amount of sewage by 50% as compared
to the values reached by the lines before modernisation,

* modernisation of the monitoring system of continu-
ous exhaust gas emissions from EC. The effect was
increased confidence of exhaust gas emissions control
and prevention of uncontrolled increases of exhaust

gas emissions.

Ceska Rafinerska

* modernisation of the sewage treatment plant,

* expansion of the hydraulic barrier protecting the ground
and water environment,

* overhaul of sewer systems in both refineries of the com-
pany.

ORLEN Asfalt

* overhaul works connected with replacement of insula-
tion on the K-201 column (reduction of heat emission

to atmosphere).

ORLEN Centrum Serwisowe

— servicing centre

* modernisation of the boiler room (replacement of heat
medium from heating oil to gas and lower emission
charges),

* additional thermal insulation of the roof of the warehouse
in Opole (reduction of consumption of heat medium
and limit heat emission to atmosphere),

* purchase of new cars complying with EURO 4.5 require-
ments (reduction of depreciation costs and emission

charges).

ORLEN Eko

* the Company initiated in December 2010 implemen-
tation of the system for selective collection of mu-
nicipal waste on the premises of facilities owned by
PKN ORLEN as well as its collection and transport
(in cooperation with EKO-MAZ Sp. z 0.0.).

ORLEN Lietuva

* application of a new method for gas utilisation in the torch
system allowing for purification of gas from hydrogen
sulphide and subsequent transfer to the general produc-
tion system. Modernisation of the torch system resulted
in reduction of sulphur dioxide emission.

ORLEN Ol

* introduction to the market of new motor oil — Platinum
Ultor Futuro. The oil was produced in Mid-SAPS tech-
nology reducing the content of sulphate ash, phosphor
and sulphur.

ORLEN PetroCentrum

* modernisation of the fuel station in Stawno, construction
of tight trays at the site of fuel reloading. This resulted
in the upgrade of the process for rainwater discharge
from the territory of fuel reloading to the company’s
storm drainage system and to the stormwater treatment
plant.

ORLEN Transport

* the company’s fleet was supplemented by |5 new
Volvo FM tractor units meeting high requirements
regarding environmental protection. Currently lease
60 tractor units. Tractor units have EURO 5 class,

characterized by lower CO, emissions.
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ORLEN Wir

* purchase and assembly of the pressure washing

Unipetrol RPA

* replacement of TEA pumping engines (improved ef-

facility operating in closed system at the premises
of the ORLEN Wir workshop (prevention of soil pol-
lution by uncontrolled washing of renovated machines).

ficiency and operational reliability of equipment),
reconstruction of the sewer system at the Steam Cracker

unit (protection against release of sewage to soil and

groundwater),
Paramo * implementation of projects regarding wastewater treat-
* completion of modernisation of VR28 tank, construction ment — POX unit (increasing capacity and efficiency
of emergency tanks (reduction of risk related to serious of wastewater treatment).
industrial failures),
* reconstruction of NI | and N2 tanks (reduction of risk
related to serious industrial failures),

* installation of heat exchangers.

Petrolot

* assembly of an oil derivatives separator (reduction
of the possibility of outflow of oil derivatives through
the sewer network),

* modernisation of a slop unit with separator (reduc-
tion of the amount of hazardous waste containing oil

derivatives).

Rafineria Nafty Jedlicze

* adjusting storage tanks to current legislation. The achieved
effect is securing soil from penetration of crude oil
products by mounting leak-proof platforms, securing
the interior of the tanks, installing a constant measuring
system to monitor the fill-up level of the tanks, install-
ing an anti-overflow system, modernisation of the unit

of water treatment for steam boilers.

IKS “Solino”

¢ hydrogeological monitoring of Mogilno Mine (helping
prevent events related to release of salt to groundwater),

* modernisation of dedusting unit (reduction of dusting
of production facilities),

¢ unit for technological discharges from the mining field
of the Mogilno Mine (securing the ground and water

environment).



ANDRZE] SADLE] (1941-2010)

Born in Lublin in 1941, died in 2010. He commenced his scientific career at faculties of sciences at the University
of Warsaw and the Jagiellonian University, where he studied chemistry. In 1964 he was awarded a PhD degree. In 1972

he obtained a habilitation degree in theoretical chemistry at the Jagiellonian University.

From 1996 he worked at the Faculty of Chemistry at the Nicolaus Copernicus University where he was the founder and
the head of the Quantum Chemistry Institute. He was one of the most outstanding quantum chemists of our times.
He published over 250 scientific works. Works published in the 1990 in The Journal of Physical Chemistry, Collection
of Czechoslovak Chemical Communications, Theoretica Chimica Acta, Chemical Physics entered the canon of the modern

quantum chemistry.

He cooperated with the best scientific centres in Poland and abroad, amongst others: the Institute of Organic Chemistry
of the Polish Academy of Sciences, the University in Arhus (Denmark), in Lund (Sweden), in Sheffield (Great Britain) and
Florida University (USA).
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Key risk factors.........

ORLEN Group manages the market risks in a co-ordinated
manner through the units which are mostly exposed
to such risks, i.e. PKN ORLEN, Basell Orlen Polyolefins
(BOP), ORLEN Asfalt, ANWIL, Unipetrol Capital Group
(Unipetrol Group) and ORLEN Lietuva Capital Group
(ORLEN Lietuva Group).

Market risk

PKN ORLEN manages the market risk on the basis
of its adopted policy, which determines the rules for measur-
ing individual exposures, parameters and time for securing
the given risk and the security instruments. The market
risk is managed by the designated organisational units
supervised by the Financial Risk Committee, Management
Board and Supervisory Board of PKN ORLEN.

Management and Supervisory Boards of particular com-
panies are responsible for the risk management and com-
pliance with the adopted policy relating to the above
in the companies of the ORLEN Group. PKN ORLEN,
which received relevant powers of attorney under respec-
tive agreements, is responsible for the implementation
of hedging transactions on behalf of individual companies
of the ORLEN Group covered by the coherent hedging
policy. Effectiveness and performance of hedging transac-
tions are monitored by individual companies of the ORLEN
Group and presented to the PKN ORLEN Financial Risk
Committee and the Management Board of PKN ORLEN.

The Group is exposed to market risks relating to the ex-
change rates, interest rates, goods and CO, emission
rights prices.

The process of market risk management aims at mitigating
the undesirable effects of changes of market and financial
risk factors on the cash flows and performance in short-
and medium-term perspective.
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Risk of changes
In the exchange rates

The ORLEN Group is exposed to the currency risk aris-
ing out of the current accounts receivable and current
accounts payable, cash, capital expenditures and loan
liabilities as well as own bonds denominated in foreign
currencies and future planned cash flows relating to sale
and purchase of goods and refinery and petrochemical
products. The currency risk exposure is hedged with such

instruments as forwards or swaps.

For the USD/PLN exchange is secured (hedged)
naturally to a certain extent, since the revenues from
the sales of products, whose value is dependent
on the USD exchange rate, are balanced with the costs

of crude oil purchases in the same currency.

In the case of EUR/PLN exchange rate, in this currency
the revenues from the sale of petrochemical products are
denominated. For this group the natural hedging applies
to a limited extent (i.e., interest on the loans denominated

in EUR, part of investment purchases).

Risk of changes
in the interest rates

The risk of cash flow fluctuations due to changes of inter-
est rates results from the extended loans, bank deposits
held and fluctuating interest rate loans. The Capital Group
holds derivative transactions which hedge the cash flow risk
due to the interest rate payments relating to the issuance
of bonds in PLN and the cash flows relating to the interest
rate payments as regards the external financing in EUR
and USD, using the IRS (interest rate swaps), for which
the cash flow hedging accounting is applied.

Risk relating to the procurement
of raw materials

The risk relating to the procurement of raw materials is due
to the necessity of securing continuous and punctual supply
of raw materials needed for the production. In PKN ORLEN
the procurement is performed mainly via a pipeline system,
by land and sea transport. The strategy adopted by PKN
ORLEN is aimed at preventing any disturbances in the raw
materials procurement, mainly due to the diversification
of sources and adaptation of the production installation
to process various types of raw materials.

Risk of changes

in the prices of crude oll,
refinery and petrochemical
products

The operating result reported by the Capital Group is ex-
posed to the risk of changes in the prices of crude oil and
refinery and petrochemical products. Changes of margin
quotations (crack) on refinery and petrochemical products
directly influence the level of revenues and operating resuit.
The fluctuations of crude oil quotations are directly reflected
in the level of sales revenues, while the production cost
is calculated using weighted average cost for stock valuation,
which may result in disproportional effects at cost side.
Sensitivity of reported result to price fluctuations is mainly
due to the requirement to keep mandatory reserves.

The Capital Group carries out the transactions hedging
the risk of changes in prices of crude oil to which it applies

the hedge accounting.



Risk of changes
in legislation

The risk arising out of changes in legislation concerns mainly
the implementation of the National Indicative Target (NIT)
and the quantity limit relating to the rights to CO, emission.

In accordance with the Council of Ministers’ Ordinance
of 2007, as part of the adjustment to the community
law regulation involving the achievement of ambitious
goals as regards the share of energy from the renewable
sources, improvement of power efficiency and the reduc-
tion in greenhouse gases emission — the so called 3x20
package, since 2008 the obligation to satisfy the National
Indicative Target (NIT) has been imposed on fuel produc-
ers. NIT determines the minimum share of biocompo-
nents and other renewable fuels calculated at the heating
value in the general quantity of liquid fuels and biofuels
used up in transport during the calendar year. The value
of the index is updated annually and in 2010 it amounted
to 5.75% in comparison to 4.60% in 2009 and 3.45%
in 2008. The increasing value of NIT and no regulations
on the sale of E10 fuels (gasoline with 10% of bioethanol)
and B7 fuels (diesel oil with 7% of bioethanol) compels
PKN ORLEN to enter B100 fuel into trading. Moreover,
in the half of 201 | it is planned to lift the tax reliefs relat-
ing to the use of biocomponents and biofuels, which may
result in the increase in the costs of economic activity and

difficulties in the implementation of NIT goals in the future.

Under the applicable legal regulations arising out of the Kyo-
to Protocol to the United Nations Framework Convention
on Climate Change adopted by the European Union,
companies of the ORLEN Group were allocated with
the CO, emission rights.

Annually, the Capital Group verifies the number of such
rights and determines the way of systematic balancing
of the discovered deficits/surpluses as intra-group or futures
and spot transactions. In 2010, the ORLEN Group sold
its surpluses of CO, emission rights and entered into
forward transactions for the purchase of such rights.

Risk of changes
in the trends
in fuels consumption and import

Change in the trends in the fuels consumption and import
may exert a material influence on the volume of sales
and the level of prices of products of the ORLEN Group
companies that are possible to be achieved and, therefore,
on the ORLEN Group’s financial standing.

Credit risk

The ORLEN Group is exposed to the credit risk related
mainly to trade accounts receivable. The Capital Group,
when conducting commercial activity sells products and
services to business entities with deferred payment
date, therefore the risk may emerge of non-payment
for the products and services delivered.

To mitigate the credit risk and to keep working capital
at the lowest feasible level, the ORLEN Group applies
the procedure of trade credit limit allocated to its business
partners and determines the way in which it is secured.
A business partner with the deferred payment term
is assessed individually in terms of the credit risk. Trade
receivables of the business partners are monitored on a reg-
ular basis by the financial departments. Should the overdue
accounts receivable arise, the sale is suspended and the debt
collection procedures are launched, in accordance with
the applicable procedures. Additionally, part of the accounts
receivable is insured under the organised programmes
of trade credit insurance.

The credit risk associated with assets resulting from
the positive valuation of derivative instruments is assessed
by the ORLEN Group as low due to the fact that all
transactions are concluded with the banks having high
credit rating. One of the significant factors for the bank
choice is rating on the level not lower than A
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Liquidity risk

As at 31 December 2010, the current assets to trade
accounts payable ratio (current liquidity ratio) amounted
to 1.3. As at 31 December 2010 the ORLEN Group
held more than EUR | billion of free funds under avail-
able credit lines.

In order to ensure an additional source of funds need-
ed to secure its financial liquidity, the ORLEN Group
signed the Bond Issue Programme with the debt limit
of up to PLN 2 billion. As at 31 December 2010,
the ORLEN Group used PLN 1,155,289 thousand
of that limit.



WLODZIMIERZ KOLOS (1928-1996)

Born in Pinsk in 1928. Outstanding Polish physicist and chemist, professor at the Institute for Nuclear Studies (1961-1966)
and the University of Warsaw, member of the Polish Academy of Sciences, the first laureate of the award of the Interna-

tional Academy of Quantum Molecular Science, W. éwiqtosfavvski Polish Chemical Society scientific award.

One of the founders of the modern quantum chemistry. He was the first to propose general approach to the problem
of three molecules interacting via Coulomb's law, performed precise computer calculations for the hydrogen molecule.
Co-author of the first accurate adiabatic and relativistic approach to H, molecule and calculations of: energy of quasi-
bound states related to HeH+, cross-section of electron dispersion to H,, decay energy spectrum of tritium molecule

and energy levels of muon molecule.
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Corporate governancCe..........oeevvuereeeennnnrennenns

Report on PKN ORLEN's
compliance with corporate
governance principles in 2010

I. A set of corporate governance rules followed
by PKN ORLEN in 2010

In 2010, PKN ORLEN complied with the “Best Practice
for Companies Listed on the Stock Exchange” (further
the “Best Practice for WSE Listed Companies”) valid
for the Warsaw Stock Exchange. The Code of Best Practice
for WSE Listed Companies can be found on the website
dedicated to the corporate governance at the Warsaw Stock
Exchange: www.corp-gov.gpw.pl and on the corporate
website: www.orlen.pl in the “Investor Relations” section
dedicated to the Company’s shareholders under “Share-
holder services & tools” in the “WSE Best Practice” tab.
In mid-2010 the Warsaw Stock Exchange (WSE) reviewed
the Code of Best Practice for WSE Listed Companies and
adjusted it to make it compliant with the amendments
introduced to the provisions of law, international guidelines
and stakeholders’ expectations.

In 2010 PKN ORLEN applied all the corporate governance
rules set out in both: the formerly applicable and updated
Code of Best Practice for WSE Listed Companies.

The Company follows also those recommendations pro-
vided for in the “Code of Best Practice for WSE Listed
Companies”, which are not mandatory. Thus, it undertakes
a number of activities with a view to improve commu-
nication with its environment. In order to reach a wide
range of recipients it applies both traditional and modern
tools of communication with the capital market repre-
sentatives. It organizes direct internet transmissions with
simultaneous translation into English from media confer-
ences following each significant event in the Company’s
life, such as quarterly results publication, announcement
of strategies, as well as from the PKN ORLEN General
Meeting. Video records from the conference are stored
on the Company’s website, thus, it is possible to view
a selected past event.

PKN ORLEN has its corporate website, which is a reli-
able and useful source of information about the Company
for the capital market representatives. The internet service
contents are prepared in a transparent, fair and complete
way so as to enable the investors and analysts to take deci-
sions based on the information presented by the Company.
The Company provides all the interested parties with
equal access to the information published on the website.
The investor relations section is maintained both in Polish
and in English.

The PKN ORLEN website in its present form was
launched at the turn of 2009/2010 under the current
address: www.orlen.pl. The portal was developed with
the use of new technology and contains also a new service
for the Company’s shareholders and for the stock exchange
investors and analysts. It contains a lot of modern tools
and information on the Company, in line with the latest
market standards.

One can find there, among others:

* interactive diagrams and tables fastly comparing the Com-
pany'’s financial ratios in different time periods,

* interactive diagrams and tables showing PKN ORLEN's
share quotations with a calculator of the return on invest-
ment in the Company’s stock,

* special form for contact with the Company in respect
of PKN ORLEN General Meetings, in accordance with
the most recent amendments to the Commercial Code,

* possibility to subscribe for various types of PKN ORLEN
newsletters, including the most recent investor relations
news.

The investor relations section on the corporate website
is divided into a few tabs to find all the current and periodical
reports published by the Company as well as presentations
prepared for material events in the Company with audio
and video recording of such events.



There is also the WSE best practice tab on the web-
site, in the investor relations section. One can find there
the Company’s annual reports on complying with best
practice rules and the “Code of Best Practice for WSE
Listed Companies” as well as brief information on best
practice applied by the Company and the rules for select-
ing an entity authorized to audit the financial statements.

Via the corporate website the dates of general meet-
ings, draft resolutions and the whole set of documents
presented to the shareholders at general meetings are all
provided. The Company also ensures communication with
its shareholders via a special Internet contact form related
to general meetings.

On a regular basis the Company actively participates
in the meetings with investors and analysts both in Poland
and abroad. Conferences, individual and group meetings,
and teleconferences are organized with stakeholders
on the capital market. The Company’s representatives
regularly go for the so-called roadshows — series of meetings
with investors at their work place. For the capital market
stakeholders interested in the Company’s operations,
the so-called site visits are organized, i.e. visits of share-
holders or analysts in the production plant, which allow
them to get to know the Company specifics.

During the meetings with the capital market representatives,
the representatives of PKN ORLEN provide information
about the Parent Company, however, it is also possible
to get feedback for the Company from the shareholders,
investors or stock exchange analysts. Thanks to this feed-
back the Company, being aware of the information needs
of its stakeholders, can develop and improve its relations

with the capital market.

The Company is striving to broaden and diversify its investor
base. Thus, it undertakes activities aimed to actively promote
its business activity amongst prospective shareholders, also
in new financial centres worldwide.

With a view to develop the forms and quality of commu-
nication with the capital market, the Company publishes
on a quarterly basis the so-called “trading statement”,
i.e. operational and financial estimates and expectations
of operating profit (EBIT) trends, taking into account
the impact of macroeconomic factors and significant
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one-offs on the operating profit (EBIT). These estimates
are published a few weeks prior to the date of publica-
tion of the quarterly report. “Trading statements” allow
for a fair building of consensus in respect of the Company’s
forecasted financial results on the capital market prior
to their publication. This report creates new standards
in the area of investor relations. Its favourable reception
confirms how important for PKN ORLEN an appropriate
and timely communication with the market on the key
topics for the investors is.

The care for communication with the capital market play-

ers was appreciated also in 2010 and reflected through

the awards granted to the Company in the area of inves-

tor relations:

¢ Listed Company of the Year in the Investor Relations
category — ranking by Puls Biznesu/Pentor,

® First rank in WarsawScan 2010 — best information policy
and corporate governance,

® First rank in WarsawScan 2010 — best website devoted
to investor relations,

¢ “Best investor relations in Poland 2010” — IR Magazine.

2. Description of key features of PKN ORLEN's internal
audit and risk management systems related to the pro-
cess of financial reporting

The Company'’s system of internal control and risk man-
agement in the process of drawing up financial statements
is implemented through:

¢ verification whether a single accounting policy is applied
by the ORLEN Capital Group companies as regards
the recognition, measurement and disclosures in accor-
dance with the International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS),

¢ following accounting standards and monitoring compli-
ance with them,

* areview, by an independent auditor, of the published
financial reports for the |** quarter, the half-year and
the 3 quarter of the year and the audit of the annual
financial statements of PKN ORLEN and the ORLEN
Capital Group,

* procedures to authorise and give opinions about financial
statements before they are published,

* carrying out an independent and objective evaluation

of risk management and internal control systems.



In order to ensure that unified accounting standards are
applied, the ORLEN Group companies have to follow,
for the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial
statements, the accounting policy adopted by PKIN ORLEN,
periodically updated to ensure that it complies with the ap-
plicable laws, specifically with the IFRS, the Accounting Act
dated 29 September 1994 and the Ordinance of the Min-
istry of Finance dated 19 February 2009 on current and
periodic information provided by issuers of securities.
The Corporate Accounting Office monitors whether this
obligation is fulfilled and conducts comprehensive analytical
procedures supplemented with control activities, as well
as develops instructions and guidelines on identified is-
sues, requiring detailed explanations to ensure proper
and uniform financial reporting principles.

The consolidated financial statements are drawn up based
on reporting packages provided by the ORLEN Group
companies which are reviewed in terms of their cohesion,
completeness and continuity. Data required for the stan-
dalone financial statements is derived from accounting
records kept in accordance with the PKN ORLEN pro-
cedures. The disclosures also cover additional information
provided by individual organisational units of PKIN ORLEN,
which is also checked by the Corporate Accounting Office.

In order to reduce the risks relating to the process of draw-
ing up financial statements on a current basis, they are
quarterly checked by an auditor, i.e. more often than
required under the applicable law. The financial state-
ments for the 1% quarter, the half-year and the 3" quarter
of the year are reviewed, whereas the annual financial state-
ment is subject to audit. The auditor presents the results
of the reviews and audits to the Management Board and

the Audit Committee of the Supervisory Board.

The Company has certain procedures to authorise the fi-
nancial statements under which the periodical reports are
submitted to the Management Board and, subsequently,

forwarded to the Audit Committee of the Supervisory

Board for their opinion. Once the opinion has been
obtained from the Audit Committee and once the audi-
tor has ended its review, the financial statements are
approved by the Management Board for publication and
subsequently forwarded by the Investor Relations Office
to the appropriate capital market institutions and made
public. Before the publication, the financial statements
are treated as confidential by the Company and provided
solely to persons involved in the preparation, control and

approval process.

The Company has an Audit Department which has to en-
sure an independent and objective evaluation of the risk
management and internal audit systems, and analyse busi-
ness processes. The Department operates based on the an-
nual audit plans approved by the Management Board and
accepted by the Audit Committee of the Supervisory Board
and the Supervisory Board itseff. The Audit Department can
also carry out ad hoc audits as ordered by the Company’s
Supervisory Board or the Management Board.

In pursuit of the tasks and objectives set, the Audit Depart-
ment provides recommendations as to the implementation
of solutions and standards designed to mitigate the risk
of PKN ORLEN not meeting the targets set, to improve
the effectiveness of the internal control system and to in-
crease the efficiency of business processes. Additionally,
the Audit Department monitors the follow-up on its own
recommendations as well as those given by the auditor

as to the Company’s financial statements.

Twice a year the Audit Department draws up a report
for the Management Board and the Audit Committee
of the Supervisory Board on monitoring the recommen-
dations, summarising the conclusions regarding the audit
tasks performed, identified risks and information about

the implementation status of the recommendations given.



3. PKN ORLEN's shareholders with a significant stake

PKN ORLEN shares are listed on the Warsaw Stock
Exchange Main List in the continuous trading system and
in WIG20, the biggest companies index, WIG index as well
as the industry index — WIG fuels. Since 19 November
2009 PKN ORLEN shares have been listed in the index
of companies involved in corporate social responsibility

— Respect Index.

PKN ORLEN shares are listed also in the form of Global
Depositary Receipts (GDR) on the London Stock Ex-
change. Depositary receipts are also traded in the USA
on the OTC market.

The share capital of PKN ORLEN is divided into
427,709,061 ordinary bearer shares with a par value
of PLN 1.25 each.

PKN ORLEN depositary receipts are lodged with The Bank
of New York Mellon. The transaction unit on the London
Stock Exchange is | GDR which accounts for two PKN
ORLEN shares.

Shareholders Number of sharesi

Number of votes
at General Meeting
of PKN ORLEN  Meeting of PKN ORLEN
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The ownership rights relating to PKN ORLEN shares are
fully transferable.

Below is a list of PKN ORLEN's shareholders holding a sig-
nificant stake is presented, specifying the number of shares
held, the percentage of their share in the Company’s share
capital, the number of votes conferred by the shares held
and their percentage share in the total number of votes
at PKN ORLEN’s General Meeting.

The year 2010 saw two changes in the structure of share-
holders with more than 5% in the Company's share capital.
The first one occurred on 5 February 2010 when Aviva
Otwarty Fundusz Emerytalny Aviva BZ WBK acquired
the Company’s shares representing 5.08% of the PKN
ORLEN" s share capital. Then, at the end of the vyear,
on 23 November 2010, the Company was notified by ING
Otwarty Fundusz Emerytalny (ING Open Pension Fund)
that the fund reduced its share in the overall number
of votes at the General Meeting of PKN ORLEN below
5%. ING Otwarty Fundusz Emerytalny maintained its over
5% shareholding in the Company’s share capital from
I8 February 2009.

Share in total number
of votes at General Percent of share capital

of PKN ORLEN

SHAREHOLDING STRUCTURE IN PKN ORLEN AS AT | JANUARY 2010

State Treasury 117,710,196
ING Otwarty Fundusz Emerytalny* 22,118,813
Others 287,880,052
Total 427,709,061

Shareholders Number of sharesi

Number of votes
at General Meeting
of PKN ORLEN  Meeting of PKN ORLEN

117,710,196 27.52% 27.52%

22,118,813 5.17% 5.17%
287,880,052 67.31% 67.31%
427,709,061 100.00% 100.00%

Share in total number
of votes at General Percent of share capital

of PKN ORLEN

SHAREHOLDING STRUCTURE IN PKN ORLEN AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2010

State Treasury 117,710,196
Aviva Otwarty Fundusz

Emerytalny Aviva BZ WBK** lordtele
Others 288,254,829
Total 427,709,061

117,710,196 27.52% 27.52%

21,744,036 5.08% 5.08%
288,254,829 67.40% 67.40%
427,709,061 100.00% 100.00%

* in accordance with information received by the Company on 20 February 2009.

** in accordance with information received by the Company on 9 February 2010.



4. PKN ORLEN's shareholders vested with special control

rights and voting right restrictions

One PKN ORLEN share confers the right to one vote
at the Company’s General Meeting.

As regards the voting right of particular shareholders,
the Articles of Association state as follows:

¢ the voting right of the Company’s shareholders is re-

stricted to the extent that at the General Meeting
of Shareholders none of them can exercise more
than 10% of the total votes existing in the Company
as at the date the General Meeting of Shareholders
is held, provided that such a restriction of the voting
right does not apply for the purpose of determining
the duties of acquirers of significant stakes in accordance
with the Act on Public Trading in Securities. The restric-
tion, referred to in the previous sentence, does not
apply to Nafta Polska S.A.*, the State Treasury and
the depository bank which issued depositary receipts
in connection with the Company’s shares under an
agreement with the Company (if the bank exercises
the voting right from the Company'’s shares). The vot-
ing right exercised by the subsidiary is deemed to be
exercised by the parent company within the meaning
of the Act on Public Trading in Securities. In order
to calculate the number of votes held by a shareholder,
the voting rights from the shares is added to the number
of votes that the particular shareholder would acquire
in the event of converting the depositary receipts held
into shares,

a shareholder is deemed to be each person, including
the parent company and its subsidiary, that is directly
or indirectly entitled to the voting right at the General
Meeting under any legal title; that refers also to a per-
son that is not a Company’s shareholder, in particular
a user, pledgee, a person authorised from the depositary
receipt within the meaning of the Act of 29 July 2005
on Trading in Financial Instruments as well as a person
authorised to participate in the General Meeting despite
the shares held having been disposed of following
the day when the right to participate in the General
Meeting was established,

* Nafta Polska SA creased to be a shareholder of a Company
as at 22 July 2009.

B

* the parent company and the subsidiary shall accordingly

mean a person:

— that has the status of the dominant entity, dependent
entity or both within the meaning of the Act of 16
February 2007 on Competition and Consumers
Protection, or

— that has the status of the parent company, senior
parent company, subsidiary, lower level subsidiary,
jointly controlled entity or of both parent company
(including senior parent company) and subsidiary
(including the lower level subsidiary and jointly con-
trolled entity) within the meaning of the Accounting
Act of 29 September 1994, or

— that exerts (parent company) or is subject to (subsidia-
ry) significant influence within the meaning of the Act
of 22 September 2006 on Transparency of Financial
Relations Between Public Authorities and Public En-
trepreneurs and on Financial Transparency of Certain
Entrepreneurs, or

— whose votes from the Company’s shares held directly
or indirectly are accumulated with the votes of ano-
ther person or other persons under the rules stipu-
lated in the Act of 29 July 2005 on Public Offering
and Conditions for Introducing Financial Instruments
to the Organised Trading System and Public Compa-
nies, in connection with holding, selling or purchasing

Company substantial shareholdings,

* shareholders, whose votes are cumulated and reduced,

are jointly referred to as the Shareholders Grouping.
The cumulation of votes involves summing up the votes
held by individual shareholders of the Shareholders
Grouping. The reduction of the number of votes involves
decreasing the overall number of votes in the Company
vested in the shareholders being members of the Share-
holders Grouping to be exercised at the General Meet-
ing. The number of votes is reduced in accordance
with the following rules:

— the number of votes of a shareholder who has
the largest number of votes in the Company among
the votes of all shareholders in the Shareholders
Grouping, is decreased by the number of votes equal
to the surplus votes in excess of 0% of the overall
number of votes in the Company held in aggregate
by all shareholders in the Grouping,
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— if, despite the reduction mentioned above, the overall
number of votes held by the Shareholders Grouping
to be exercised at the General Meeting exceeds
10% of the total number of votes in the Company,
the number of votes held by the remaining sharehol-
ders in the Grouping is subject to further reduction.
The number of votes is further reduced in the order
established on the basis of the number of votes
held by particular shareholders in the Shareholders
Grouping (from the highest to the lowest one).
The number of votes is being further reduced until
the aggregate number of votes held by the Sharehol-
ders Grouping does not exceed 10% of the overall
number of votes in the Company,

— in each case, the shareholder whose voting right
has been restricted, preserves the right to exercise
at least one vote,

— restriction of the voting right also applies to the sha-
reholder absent during the General Meeting,

* in order to establish the basis for the votes being
cumulated and reduced in accordance with the above
provisions, the Company’s shareholder, the Management
Board, the Supervisory Board and individual members
of such bodies may request the Company'’s shareholder
to provide information on whether he/she is a person:
— who has the status of the dominant entity, depen-
dent entity or both within the meaning of the Act
of 16 February 2007 on Competition and Consumers
Protection, or

— who has the status of the parent company, senior
parent company, subsidiary, lower level subsidiary,
jointly controlled entity or of both parent company
(including senior parent company) and subsidiary
(including the lower level subsidiary and jointly con-
trolled entity) within the meaning of the Accounting
Act of 29 September 1994, or

— who exerts (parent company) or is subject to (sub-
sidiary) significant influence within the meaning
of the Act of 22 September 2006 on Transparency
of Financial Relations between Public Authorities and
Public Entrepreneurs and on Financial Transparency
of Certain Entrepreneurs, or

— whose votes from the Company’s shares held directly
or indirectly are cumulated with the votes of another
person or other persons under the rules stipulated
in the Act of 29 July 2005 on Public Offering and
Conditions for Introducing Financial Instruments

to the Organised Trading System and Public Compa-
nies, in connection with holding, selling or purchasing

Company substantial shareholdings.

The power referred to above includes also the right
to request the disclosure of the number of votes held
by the Company’s shareholder individually or together
with other Company shareholders. The person that failed
to perform or performed unduly the obligation to provide
information referred to in this point, may exercise the voting
right from one share exclusively until the breach of such
obligation has been remedied and exercising the voting
right by such person from other shares is ineffective,

¢ the restriction of the voting right, which is referred
to above, does not apply to entities dependent
on the State Treasury and Nafta Polska S.A. ,

* in the event of doubts, the provisions of this chapter
should be interpreted in accordance with Article 65 § 2
of the Polish Civil Code.

The State Treasury is authorised to appoint and revoke
one of the Supervisory Board members. Moreover,
one of the PKN ORLEN Management Board members
is appointed and revoked by the Supervisory Board
at request of the minister in charge of State Treasury.

In accordance with the applicable provisions of the Com-
pany’s Articles of Association, until the minister in charge
of State Treasury or another minister exercises the rights
from PKN ORLEN shares owned by the State Treasury
under the generally applicable law, the appropriate minister
can appoint one or two Observers for the Company, who
will be authorised to monitor the Company’s activities,
participate in the meetings of the Company’s authorities,
review the Company’s documents, request reports and
explanations, inspect the Company’s assets. Detailed
rules regulating the Observers’ activity and their powers
are set out in the General Meeting, Supervisory Board
and Management Board Regulations. In accordance with
the Act of 18 March 2010 on Specific Rights Vested
in the Minister in Charge of State Treasury and The Exercise
of Such Powers In Certain Capital Companies or Capital
Groups Conducting Business Activities in the Electricity,
Crude Oil and Gas Fuel Sectors (the “18 March 2010 Act
on Specific Rights Vested In the Minister in Charge of State
Treasury”), the Act of 3 June 2005 on Specific Powers
Vested in the Minister in Charge of State Treasury and

.



Their Exercise in Capital Companies Significant for Public
Order and Safety, which Act introduced the institution
of the Observer in the Company, has expired. Thus,
the Company’s Management Board proposed to the Gen-
eral Meeting that the provisions concerning the Observer
be removed from the Company’s Articles of Association.
The Annual General Meeting, on 25 June 2010, did not
however express the consent to such change in the Com-
pany's Articles of Association. While the above act was
in force, nobody was appointed to perform the function

of the Observer in the Company.

Additionally, specific rights vested in the State Treasury
shareholders may also arise out of the commonly appli-
cable provisions of law, especially the 18 March 2010 Act
on Specific Rights Vested In the Minister In Charge of State
Treasury. Pursuant to the above act, the Minister in charge
of State Treasury may object against the resolution passed
by the Company’s Management Board or any other legal
action undertaken by the Company’s Management Board
regarding the disposal of assets disclosed in the uniform
list of facilities, installations, appliances and services com-
prised in the critical infrastructure, referred to in article
5b section 7 item | of the Act of 26 April 2007 on Crisis
Management, which pose a real threat to the functioning,
business continuity and integrity of the critical infrastructure.
The Minister In Charge of State Treasury may also object
to the Company’s body passing resolution on:

¢ dissolution of the Company,

* change of function of, or ceasing, the exploitation
of the Company'’s asset disclosed in the uniform list
of facilities, installations, appliances and services com-
prised in the critical infrastructure, referred to in article
5b section 7 item | of the Act of 26 April 2007 on Crisis
Management,

* change of the Company’s business activity,

e disposal or lease of the Company’s enterprise or its orga-
nized part and establishment of a limited property right
thereon,

¢ adoption of the operational and financial plan, invest-
ment activity plan or long-term strategic plan,

* moving the Company’s’ seat abroad

provided that such a resolution, if performed, would actually
pose a real threat to the operations, business continuity

and integrity of the critical infrastructure.
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In accordance with the 18 March 2010 Act on Specific
Rights Vested In the Minister In Charge of State Treasury,
the Company’s Management Board, in agreement with
the Minister in charge of State Treasury and the Direc-
tor of the Government Centre for Security is author-
ized to appoint and revoke a plenipotentiary in charge
of the protection of critical infrastructure in the Company.
The scope of the plenipotentiary's tasks includes providing
the Minister in charge of State Treasury with information
on the Company’s authorities having undertaken the above
specified legal actions, providing the information on the criti-
cal infrastructure to the Director of the Government
Centre for Security on request, transferring and collecting
information on any threats to the critical infrastructure
in cooperation with the Director of the Government
Centre for Security.

5. Rules for amending PKN ORLEN's Articles of Association

Any amendment to PKN ORLEN's Articles of Association
requires a resolution of the General Meeting of Share-
holders and has to be entered in the companies register.
The resolution of the General Meeting of Shareholders
to amend the Company’s Articles of Association is adopted
by three quarters of votes. The General Meeting may au-
thorise the Supervisory Board to formulate the uniform text
of the Articles of Association or make other editorial changes

as set out in the resolution passed by the General Meeting.

Once the amendments to the Articles of Association are
entered in the companies register, PKIN ORLEN publishes
a relevant current report.

6. Proceedings of PKN ORLEN'’s General Meeting of share-
holders, its key powers, and shareholders’ rights and
their exercise

Proceedings and powers of PKN ORLEN's General Meeting
of Shareholders are regulated in the Articles of Association
and the Regulations of PKN ORLEN's General Meeting.
The documents can be found on the PKN ORLEN’s
website: www.orlen.pl in the “Company” and “Investor
relations” sections in the “General Meeting” tab.



PKN ORLEN Annual Report 2010

Corporate governance

6.1. Convening and calling off PKN ORLEN's
General Meetings

The rules for convening and organising the General Meetings
of Shareholders were materially amended by the General
Meeting of Shareholders of PKN ORLEN on |5 July 2009.
The provisions of corporate documents were then adjusted
to comply with the provisions of law commonly applicable
in this respect.

The General Meeting is to be convened in the manner
and under the rules stipulated in the generally applica-
ble provisions of law. The General Meeting is convened
through placing an announcement on the Company’s
website and by delivering a current report to the capital
market institutions and making it public. The announcement
should be placed at least 26 days before the scheduled
date of the General Meeting.

The Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders should
be held no later than within six months from the end

of every financial year.

The Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders is con-
vened by the Management Board on its own initiative,
on the motion of the Supervisory Board or on the mo-
tion of a shareholder or shareholders representing no
less than one twentieth of the Company's share capital,
within fourteen days from filing the motion. The motion
for the General Meeting to be held should specify the issues
for the agenda or include draft resolution on the proposed
agenda. The Supervisory Board may convene the Ex-
traordinary General Meeting if the Supervisory Board
recognises that it is advisable to do so. The Supervisory
Board may also convene the Extraordinary General Meet-
ing if the Management Board fails to do so within two
weeks following the submission of the relevant request
by the Supervisory Board. The Extraordinary General
Meeting may also be convened by the shareholders rep-
resenting at least one half of the share capital or at least
one half of the overall number of votes in the Company.

The shareholder or shareholders representing no less than
one twentieth of the Company'’s share capital may request
that specific issues be placed on the agenda of the nearest
General Meeting under the rules stipulated in the generally
applicable provisions of law.

All the materials to be presented to the shareholders
at the General Meeting, specifically draft resolutions
to be adopted by the General Meeting and other important
materials are made available by the Company following
the day when the General Meeting has been convened
in the Company’s seat in Plock and in the Warsaw office,

as well as on the corporate website www.orlen.pl.

Regardless the requirements set out in the generally appli-
cable law on publishing draft resolutions to be presented
at the General Meeting on the Company'’s website as soon
as from the day when the General Meeting has been
convened, the Company is obliged to provide draft reso-
lutions in the form of a current report at least 26 days
before the date the General Meeting is to be held in order

to enable the shareholders to review and assess them.

The General Meetings of PKN ORLEN are held
in the Company’s seat in Plock, however, they can also
be held in Warsaw.

For the shareholders who cannot participate in the General
Meeting in person, the Company arranges for an internet
broadcast of the Meeting and offers simultaneous transla-
tion into English.

In accordance with the General Meeting Regulations
the cancellation and the change in the date of the General
Meeting should be effected forthwith once the require-
ment for the cancellation and the change in the date has
occurred but no later than seven days prior to the day
when the General Meeting is to be held. If the cancellation
and change in the date of the General Meeting cannot
be effected within the deadline specified above, such
a General Meeting should be held unless it is impossible
or excessively hindered due to the circumstances. In such
case, the cancellation and change in the date of the Gen-
eral Meeting may be effected at any time prior to the day
when the General Meeting is to be held. The cancella-
tion and the change in the date of the General Meeting
is effected by announcement placed on the Company’s
website together with the reasons and complying with
other legal requirements. Only the body or the person
to have convened the General Meeting is competent
to cancel the same. The General Meeting with the agenda
containing specific issues put therein at the request of eligible
entities, or which was convened at such a request, may

be cancelled only with consent of such requesting entities.
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6.2. Competence of PKN ORLEN's General Meeting

The General Meeting of Shareholders is especially

authorised to:

¢ consider and approve the Company’s annual finan-
cial statements, the annual report on the Company’s
business operations, the consolidated financial state-
ments of the ORLEN Capital Group and the report
on the ORLEN Capital Group business operations
for the previous financial year,

¢ acknowledge the discharge of duties by the Supervisory
Board and Management Board members,

¢ decide on the allocation of profit and the absorption
of losses as well as on the use of funds set up from
profit, subject to special regulations which provide
for a different way of their usage,

* appoint the Supervisory Board members, subject
to the provisions of § 8 item 2 of the Articles of Asso-
ciation, and establish principles for their remuneration,

* increase and decrease the share capital unless otherwise
stated in the Commercial Code and the Company’s
Articles of Association,

¢ decide on claims for the rectification of damage caused
when setting up the Company or exercising supervision
or management,

* approve the sale and lease of the Company’s enterprise
or an organised part thereof and establish a limited
property right on such enterprise or an organised part
thereof,

* grant consent to the sale of real estate, perpetual usufruct
or interest in real estate whose net book value exceeds
one twentieth of the Company’s share capital,

¢ amend the Company’s Articles of Association,

* set up and dissolve reserve capitals and other capitals
and the Company'’s funds,

® pass resolutions to redeem shares and buy shares
to be redeemed and to establish the redemption rules,

* issue convertible bonds or bonds with pre-emptive
rights and the issue of warrants,

* pass resolutions on winding-up the Company, its liquida-
tion, restructuring and merger with another company,

* conclude holding contracts within the meaning of Article
7 of the Polish Commercial Code.

Purchase of real estate, perpetual usufruct or interest
in real estate, regardless of its value, as well as disposal

of real estate, perpetual usufruct or interest in real estate

o«

where net book value does not exceed one twentieth
of the Company'’s share capital does not require a consent

resolution of the General Meeting of Shareholders.
6.3 Voting at PKN ORLEN's General Meetings

Unless stated otherwise in the Commercial Code and
the Articles of Association, resolutions of the General
Meeting of Shareholders are passed with an absolute
majority of votes cast, while votes cast mean votes “for”,
‘against” and “abstain.”

Resolutions of the General Meeting of Shareholders
regarding preferred shares and the Company’s merger
as a result of all the Company'’s assets being transferred
to another company, winding-up of the Company (including
winding-up as a result of the Company'’s seat or business
operations center being transferred abroad), liquidation
of the Company, its restructuring and decrease in the share
capital by redemption of some shares without the capital
being simultaneously increased are passed with a majority
of 90% of votes cast.

The General Meeting’s resolution to renounce the exami-
nation of an issue placed on the agenda may be adopted
only in case when there are substantial reasons to do so.
The resolutions to remove or not to consider an item
placed on the agenda on the motion of the shareholders
require the majority of 75% of votes cast provided that
the shareholders present at the General Meeting who
requested this issue be placed on the agenda previously
agreed to the issue being removed from the agenda or not
considered at all.

One PKN ORLEN share confers the right to one vote
at the Company’s General Meeting. The voting right
of the Company’s shareholders is restricted to the ex-
tent that at the General Meeting of Shareholders none
of them (but for those specified in the Company’s Articles
of Association) can exercise more than |0% of the total
votes existing in the Company as at the date the General
Meeting of Shareholders is held. The detailed rules for ex-
ercising the voting right have been described in chapter
IV of this report.

The shareholders can participate in the General Meeting

and exercise their voting rights in person or by proxy.
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6.4. Participation in PKN ORLEN's General Meetings

In accordance with Article 406(1) § | of the Polish Com-
mercial Code, the right to participate in the Company’s
General Meeting is vested only in the persons that are
the Company’s shareholders sixteen days before the date
of the General Meeting (date of registration in the General
Meeting).

At the request of the shareholder, filed no earlier than

the announcement of convening the General Meeting

has been published and no later than on the working day

following the day when the participation in the General

Meeting has been registered, the entity where the securities

account is kept issues a personal certificate of entitlement

to attend the General Meeting. This certificate includes:

* the business name, seat, address and stamp of the issuer
and the certificate number,

* number of shares held,

* type and code of shares,

* the business name, seat and address of the Company,

* nominal value of shares,

* name and surname or the business name of the share-
holder,

* the seat (place of residence) and address of the share-
holder,

* purpose of issuing the certificate,

* date and place of issuing the certificate,

* signature of the person authorised to issue the certificate.

At the request of the shareholder, the certificate should
specify part or all of shares registered in his/her securities
account.

The list of shareholders eligible to participate in the Gen-
eral Meeting is compiled by the Company on the basis
of a specification prepared by the entity maintaining the se-
curities deposit in accordance with the provisions of the Act
on Trading in Financial Instruments dated 29 July 2005
(at present The National Depository for Securities, KDPW).
KDPW prepares the list of entities entitled to participate
in the General Meeting on the basis of specifications
provided no later than twelve days prior to the date

of the General Meeting date by the eligible entities. The lists
submitted to KDPW are compiled on the basis of issued
certificates of entitlement to participate in the General
Meeting. KDPW provides such a list for the company’s
review no later than a week prior to the date of the Gen-

eral Meeting.

The General Meeting may be attended by the members
of the Management Board and the Supervisory Board,
who can take the floor, even if they are not shareholders,
without any invitations being sent. An Ordinary General
Meeting of Shareholders can be attended by the mem-
bers of the Management Board and the Supervisory
Board whose mandates have expired before the date
of the General Meeting and who exercised their functions
in the financial year for which the Management Board
report and the financial statements are to be approved

by the Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders.

General Meetings of Shareholders can also be attend-
ed by other persons invited by an authority convening
the General Meeting or allowed to enter the meeting
room by the Chairman, specifically, certified auditors,
legal and financial advisers or the Company’s employees.
PKN ORLEN, as far as admissible under the applicable law
and with due consideration of the Company’s interests,
allows media representatives to attend the General Meet-
ings. The Management Board ensures that each General
Meeting is attended by an independent expert specialised
in commercial law.

Members of the Management Board and the Supervi-
sory Board and the Company's certified auditor provide
the Meeting participants with explanations and information
about the Company, within the scope of their authorisa-
tion and to the extent required for the issues discussed
by the General Meeting to be resolved. Questions posed
by the General Meeting participants are answered in view
of the fact that PKN ORLEN, as a public company, fulfills
its reporting obligations in a manner specified in the ap-
plicable capital market regulations and the information
cannot be provided otherwise than in conformity with

these regulations.
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General Meetings can be attended by an Observer
appointed by the minister in charge of State Treasury
affairs. Until the publication of this report, the minister
in charge of State Treasury affairs has not appointed any
Observer for PKN ORLEN and, as stated in chapter [V
of this report, the Act of 3 June 2005 on Specific Powers
Vested in the State Treasury and Their Exercise in Joint-
stock and limited-liability Companies of Material Significance
for Public Order or Public Security, which established

the institution of Observer in the Company, has expired.

In accordance with the Act of 18 March 2010 on Specific
Powers Vested in the Minister in Charge of State Treasury,
the right to request from the Company’s authorities,
including the General Meeting, any documents, informa-
tion and explanations relating to the issues listed in the Act
(i.e. concerning the Company’s property disclosed in a uni-
form list of facilities, installations, devices and services
comprised by the critical infrastructure referred to in the Act
of 26 April 2007 on Crisis Management) is vested in charge
of critical infrastructure protection.

PKN ORLEN pays special attention to activities facilitat-
ing the Company’s communication with the external
environment. For shareholders who cannot participate
in the General Meeting in person, the Company arranges
for an internet broadcast of the Meeting and offers simul-
taneous translation into English.

A special section dedicated to the Company’s General
Meetings is included on the corporate PKN ORLEN web-
site where information about the planned shareholders’
meetings is provided along with material relating to such
meetings, archive materials from the meetings held, including
texts of resolutions adopted and video files with internet

broadcasts of the General Meetings.
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6.5. General Meeting in 2010

The General Meeting of the Company was held, on 25 June
2010. This was the Ordinary General Meeting of PKN
ORLEN.

During the debates of the Ordinary General Meeting
the shareholders approved the annual reports on the opera-
tions of the Company and the ORLEN Capital Group
as well as the financial statements for 2009. They also
resolved on confirming the performance of duties by all
the Supervisory and Management Board members.

The General Meeting resolved also to allocate the Com-
pany's entire profit generated in 2009 to the Company’s

reserve capital.

The debates concerned included amendments to the PKN
ORLEN's Articles of Association relating, among others,
to the adjustment of current provisions of PKN ORLEN’s
Articles of Association to commonly applicable provisions
of law. Moreover, the provisions of the Articles of Asso-
ciation relating to the Company’s objects were extended
to include two new areas, i.e. retail sales of alcoholic and
non-alcoholic beverages carried on in specialised stores
and the publishing of newspapers.

The General Meeting also consented to the disposal,
lease or encumbrance with any other third party rights,

of a few fuel stations as organized parts of the Company.

At the meeting last year, the Supervisory Board members
for the new term of office were appointed. Mr Maciej
Mataczynski was appointed to perform the function of Chair-
man, and Ms Angelina Sarota, Mr Grzegorz Borowiec,
Mr Artur Gabor, Mr Marek Karabufa, Mr Krzysztof Kotach,
Mr Leszek Jerzy Pawtowicz and Mr Piotr Wielowieyski —
to the function of Supervisory Board Members. On the same
day the State Treasury appointed also Mr Janusz Zielinski
to the PKN ORLEN Supervisory Board.
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7. Composition and proceedings of the management
and supervisory authorities in PKN ORLEN and their

committees

7.1. Composition of PKN ORLEN’s Management Board

in 2010

Name and surname

Position held in PKN ORLEN's Management Board

IN 2010 THE FOLLOWING PERSONS WERE ACTING AS MEMBERS OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD IN PKN ORLEN:

Dariusz Jacek Krawiec

Stawomir Jedrzejczyk

Wojciech Kotlarek

Krystian Pater

Marek Serafin

President of the Management Board, Chief Executive Officer as of 18 September 2008
Vice-President of the Management Board in charge of Crude Oil

and Capital Group as of 17 June 2008

Vice- President of the Management Board as of 7 June 2008

Vice-President of the Management Board, Chief Financial Officer as of 23 September 2008
Vice-President of the Management Board as of 18 September 2008

Member of the Management Board, Chief Financial Officer as of |7 June 2008 Member
of the Management Board as of 7 June 2008

Member of the Management Board in charge of Sales as of 17 June 2008
Member of the Management Board as of 7 June 2008

Member of the Management Board in charge of Refinery as of 17 June 2008
Member of the Management Board as of 7 June 2008

Member of the Management Board in charge of Production from 20 March 2007
to 6 June 2008

Member of the Management Board in charge of Petrochemistry as of 17 June 2008
Member of the Management Board as of 7 June 2008

7.2. Composition of PKN ORLEN'’s Supervisory Board

in 2010

Name and surname

Position held in PKN ORLEN's Supervisory Board

IN 2010 THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS WAS MONITORED BY THE SUPERVISORY BOARD IN THE FOLLOWING COMPOSITION:

Maciej Mataczynski

Marek Karabuta

Grzegorz Borowiec
Krzysztof Kofach
Jarostaw Roctawski

Piotr Wielowieyski

Angelina Sarota

Janusz Zielinski
Artur Gabor

Leszek Jerzy Pawtowicz

Chairman of the Supervisory Board as of 7 February 2008

Vice-Chairman of the Supervisory Board from |5 February 2008 to 26 June 2010
and as of 20 July 2010
Member of the Supervisory Board as of 7 February 2008

Member of the Supervisory Board as of 7 February 2008
Member of the Supervisory Board as of 7 February 2008
Member of the Supervisory Board from |3 June 2008 to 25 June 2010
Member of the Supervisory Board as of 7 February 2008

Secretary of the Supervisory Board from |3 June 2008 to 25 June 2010
and as of 20 July 2010
Member of the Supervisory Board as of 13 June 2008

Member of the Supervisory Board as of 6 July 2007
Member of the Supervisory Board as of 25 June 2010
Member of the Supervisory Board as of 25 June 2010
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7.3 Composition of Supervisory Board Committees
in PKN ORLEN in 2010

Name and surname Position held in PKN ORLEN's Supervisory Board Committee

Audit Committee
from 20 July 2010 to 31 December 2010

Artur Gabor Committee Chairman, Independent Member of the Supervisory Board
Marek Karabuta Committee Member

Leszek Jerzy Pawlowicz Committee Member, Independent Member of the Supervisory Board
Piotr Wielowieyski Committee Member, Independent Member of the Supervisory Board
Janusz Zielinski Committee Member, Independent Member of the Supervisory Board

from | January 2010 to 25 June 2010

Piotr Wielowieyski Committee Chairman, Independent Member of the Supervisory Board
Marek Karabuta Committee Member
Janusz Zielinski Committee Member, Independent Member of the Supervisory Board

Corporate Governance Committee
from 20 July 2010 to 3| December 2010

Angelina Sarota Committee Chairman
Grzegorz Borowiec Committee Member
Maciej Mataczynski Committee Member

from | January 2010 to 25 June 2010

Grzegorz Borowiec Committee Chairman
Maciej Mataczynski Committee Member
Angelina Sarota Committee Member

Strategy and Development Committee

from 20 July 2010 to 3| December 2010

Marek Karabufa Committee Chairman

Krzysztof Kofach Committee Member, Independent Member of the Supervisory Board
Leszek Jerzy Pawlowicz Committee Member, Independent Member of the Supervisory Board
Piotr Wielowieyski Committee Member, Independent Member of the Supervisory Board
Janusz Zielinski Committee Member, Independent Member of the Supervisory Board

from | January 2010 to 25 June 2010

Marek Karabuta Committee Chairman

Krzysztof Kotach Committee Member, Independent Member of the Supervisory Board
Piotr Wielowieyski Committee Member, Independent Member of the Supervisory Board
Janusz Zielinski Committee Member, Independent Member of the Supervisory Board

Nomination and Remuneration Committee
from 20 July 2010 to 3| December 2010

Maciej Mataczynski Committee Chairman
Grzegorz Borowiec Committee Member
Artur Gabor Committee Member, Independent Member of the Supervisory Board
Krzysztof Kofach Committee Member, Independent Member of the Supervisory Board

from | January 2010 to 25 June 2010

Maciej Mataczynski Committee Chairman
Grzegorz Borowiec Committee Member
Krzysztof Kofach Committee Member, Independent Member of the Supervisory Board
Piotr Wielowieyski Committee Member, Independent Member of the Supervisory Board
Jarostaw Roctawski Committee Member
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7.4 The rules of conduct of the Management Board
and Supervisory Board and Supervisory Board
Committees in PKN ORLEN

Apart from generally applicable laws, the rules of conduct
for PKN ORLEN's Supervisory Board, its Committees and
the Management Board are regulated in PKN ORLEN's
Articles of Association and the Supervisory Board and
the Management Board Regulations, respectively. The pro-
ceedings of the management and supervisory authorities
in PKN ORLEN are also subject to the corporate govern-
ance principles set out by the Warsaw Stock Exchange.

7.5 The rules of conduct of PKN ORLEN's
Supervisory Board

Appointing and recalling members of PKN ORLEN's
Supervisory Board

Members of PKN ORLEN's Supervisory Board are appoin-
ted for a common term of office, ending on the day
when the Ordinary General Meeting has been held,
approving the financial statements for the whole second
financial year of such term of office. Individual members
of the Supervisory Board and the entire Supervisory Board
can be recalled at any time before the end of the term
of office. The General Meeting of PKN ORLEN appoints
the Chairman of the Supervisory Board, whereas the vice-
chairman and the secretary are appointed by the Supervi-
sory Board from amongst the other members of the Board.

PKN ORLEN's Supervisory Board is composed of six
to nine members. The State Treasury is authorised to ap-
point and recall one member of the Supervisory Board,
other members of the Supervisory Board are appointed
and recalled by the General Meeting of Shareholders.
On 25 June 2010 the Annual General Meeting of PKN
ORLEN appointed Supervisory Board Members to a new
term of office.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of PKN ORLEN,
at least two members of the Supervisory Board have
to comply with the following independency provisions (the
so-called independent members of the Supervisory Board):

* he/she is not an employee of the Company or a Related
Entity,

* he/she has not been a member of management authori-
ties of the Company or a Related Entity within the last
five years prior to the appointment to the Supervisory
Board,

* he/she is not a member of supervisory and manage-
ment authorities of a Related Entity,

* he/she does not receive nor has received, within the last
five years prior to the appointment to the Supervi-
sory Board, a considerable additional remuneration,
i.e. remuneration exceeding the aggregate amount
of PLN 600,000 from the Company or a Related
Entity, apart from the remuneration due to the member
of supervisory authorities,

* he/she is not nor has been, within the last three years
prior to the appointment to the Supervisory Board,
a partner or employee of the current or former
chartered auditor examining the financial statements
of the Company or a Related Entity,

* he/she is not a shareholder holding 5% or more votes
at the Company’s General Meeting of Shareholders
or a Related Entity's General Meeting,
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he/she is not a member of supervisory or manage-
ment authorities or an employee of an entity having
5% or more votes at the Company’s General Meeting
of Shareholders or a Related Entity’s General Meeting
he/she is not an ascendant, descendant, spouse, sib-
ling, spouse’s parent or any other person remaining
in an adoptive relationship with any of the persons
mentioned above,

he/she has not hold the position of the Company’s
Supervisory Board member for more than 3 terms
of office,

he/she is not a member of the Management Board
of the company, where a member of the Company's
Management Board holds the position of a member
of the Supervisory Board,

he/she is free from any significant connections with
members of the Company’s Management Board by par-
ticipation in other companies.

o

Independent members of the Supervisory Board, before
being appointed to the Supervisory Board, should submit
to the Company a written statement confirming that they
comply with the above mentioned provisions. If the said
provisions are not met, a member of the Supervisory Board
is obliged to immediately notify the Company thereof.
The Company informs the shareholders about the current
number of independent members of the Supervisory Board.

If the number of independent members of the Supervisory
Board is less than two, the Company’s Management Board
is obliged to immediately convene a General Meeting
of Shareholders and put an issue concerning changes
in the composition of the Supervisory Board on the agenda
of the General Meeting. The Supervisory Board acts in its
current composition until the changes in the composition
of the Supervisory Board are made, i.e. the number
of independent members is adjusted to the statutory
requirements set in the Articles of Association whereas
the provisions of § 8 item 9 point a of the Articles of As-
sociation (containing a list of resolutions which must be
passed with consent of at least one half of independent

Supervisory Board members) do not apply.

Organisation of PKN ORLEN's Supervisory Board's
operations

Sessions of the Supervisory Board are held when necessary,
however, not less frequently than once every two months.
Moreover, as stated in the Company’s Articles of Associa-
tion, a Supervisory Board session should be convened
following a written request of a shareholder or sharehold-
ers representing at least one tenth of the share capital,
the Management Board or a member of the Supervisory
Board. In such cases the session should be convened
within two weeks from the receipt of such request and
should be held no later than within three weeks of such
request being received. If a Supervisory Board session
is not convened within two weeks of the request being
filed, the requestor can call the session by himself through
a written notice specifying the time, venue and the pro-
posed agenda sent to the members of the Supervisory

Board, at least seven days before the date of the session.

Sessions of the Supervisory Board can only take place when
all its members have been properly invited. Sessions can
also be held without the meeting being formally convened



if all the Supervisory Board members are present and grant
their consent to the session being held and certain issues
being put on the agenda.

The Supervisory Board can pass resolutions if at least
half of its members participate in the session. Subject
to the provisions of the Commercial Code, a resolution
of the Supervisory Board can be passed in writing or with
the use of direct means of remote communication. Resolu-
tions of the Supervisory Board are passed with an absolute
majority of the votes cast, in the presence of at least half
of the members of the Supervisory Board, while the votes
cast mean votes “for”, “against” and “abstain.” This does
not apply to any members of the Management Board
or the entire Management Board being recalled or sus-
pended during the term of their office when at least two
thirds of all the Supervisory Board members have to vote

in favour of the resolution.

Passing resolutions on the following matters:

* any contribution to members of the Management Board
provided by the Company or any related entities,

* giving permission to sign any significant agreement
by the Company or a subsidiary with an entity related
to the Company, a member of the Supervisory Board,
or Management Board, as well as with their related
entities,

* appointing a certified auditor to audit the financial state-
ments of the Company requires the consent of at least
one half of the independent members of the Supervisory
Board. Such provisions do not exclude applying Article
15§ | and 2 of the Commercial Code.

With a view to fulfilling its duties, the Supervisory Board
can review all the Company documents, demand reports
and explanations from the Management Board and the em-
ployees, and inspect the Company's assets.

Competence of PKN ORLEN's Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board of PKN ORLEN exercises per-
manent supervision over the Company’s operations,
in all fields of its activity, specifically, the Supervisory Board
is authorised to act as set out in the Commercial Code
and the Company’s Articles of Association. The Super-
visory Board takes relevant steps required to regularly
obtain exhaustive information from the Management Board
about all the material issues relating to of PKN ORLEN's
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operations and the risk related to the business operations
and risk management methods applied.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Supervisory

Board is also authorised to:

* appoint and recall the President, Vice-Presidents and
other members of the Management Board (except
for one member of the Management Board appointed
and recalled by the Supervisory Board at the request
of the State Treasury until the State Treasury sells the last
Company share),

¢ represent the Company in contracts with the Manage-
ment Board, including the terms of their employment
contracts,

* suspend the activities of individual or all members
of the Management Board for important reasons as well
as delegating a member or members of the Supervi-
sory Board to temporarily perform the duties of those
members of the Management Board who are unable
to perform their duties,

* approve the Management Board Regulations,

* appoint an entity authorised to audit the financial state-
ments of the Company and the consolidated financial
statements of the ORLEN Capital Group in accordance
with the Accounting Act,

* assess the financial statement in terms of its accuracy
both in terms of its compliance with the account-
ing books and documents, the factual status, assess
the Management Board's report on the Company’s
business operations, as well as the Management Board
motions on the allocation of profit and coverage of loss,
and submit to the General Meeting of Shareholders
an annual written report on the results of the above
assessments,

* assess the financial statement of the ORLEN Capital
Group and the Management Board's report on the busi-
ness operations of the ORLEN Group and submit
the annual written report on the results of such asses-
sment,

* issue opinions on any matter submitted by the Man-
agement Board to be presented either to Ordinary
or Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders,

* grant consent to the members of the Management
Board to take positions in supervisory or management
authorities of other entities and to collect remuneration

for such activities,



grant consent to implement investment project and
to incur the related liabilities in case the expenses
or charges due to such activity exceed the equivalent
of one half of the Company’s share capital,

set the scope, accuracy and time for submission
by the Management Board of its annual and long-term
financial plans and plans for the Company’s develop-
ment strategy,

approve the Company’s development strategy and
long-term financial plans,

issue opinions on the annual financial plans,

give consent, upon the Management Board's motion,
to sell real estate, perpetual usufruct or participation
in real estate where the net book value does not
exceed one twentieth of the share capital,

give consent, upon the Management Board’s motion,
to purchase real estate, perpetual usufruct or participation
in real estate where the net acquisition price exceeds
one fortieth of the share capital,

give consent to purchase the Company’s own shares
to prevent serious damage referred to in Article 362 § |
item | of the Commercial Code, posing a direct threat
to the Company,

appoint the acting President of the Management Board,
referred to in § 9 sec. 3 item 3, in the event the Presi-
dent is suspended from duty or his/her mandate expires

before the end of the term of office.

— activities approved by the Supervisory Board in the an-
nual financial plans,

— activities which need the consent of the Shareholders
Meeting in order to be performed,

— activities performed in connection with the implemen-
tation of the investment task, approved by the Super-
visory Board in accordance with § 8 sec. || item
9 of the Articles of Association, up to the amount
not exceeding | 10 percent of the amount allocated
for this investment task,

— activities concerning the implementation of the inve-
stment task and the related liabilities, if expenditures
or charges do not exceed the cap indicated in § 8
sec. || item 9 of the Articles of Association,

* carry out capital or tangible investments abroad worth
more than one twentieth of the share capital,

* exercise the Company'’s voting right at general meet-
ings and partners/associates/shareholders meetings
of the subsidiaries and other entities, if the value
of the shares or stakes held by the Company, at a price
the shares were acquired or taken up exceed one fifth
of the Company’s share capital, as regards merger with
another company and Company restructuring, sale and
lease of the Company’s undertaking and establishing
on it the right to use, amendments to the Articles
of Incorporation or Articles of Association, execution
of the concern contract within the meaning of Article 7

of the Commercial Code and winding up of the Com-

The Articles of Association also stipulate that the consent pany,
of PKN ORLEN’s Supervisory Board is required to: * establish commercial law companies and join existing
* set up a branch abroad, companies, as well as to make contributions to cover

¢ sell or encumber fixed assets whose net book value shares in companies, and to sell shares if the Company's

exceed one twentieth of the asset value stated in the re-
cent financial statements approved by the General
Meeting of Shareholders, as a result of one or several
related legal actions being taken,

dispose of or encumber, in any way whatsoever,
shares or stakes in the following companies: Nafto-

capital involvement in a given company so far, or commit-
ment which the Company is about to achieve as a result
of buying or acquiring shares, calculated on the basis
of the share purchase or acquisition price, exceeds
one tenth of the initial capital, excluding the purchase
of shares in the regulated market,

port Sp. z 0.0., Inowroctawskie Kopalnie Soli S.A. * pay interim dividends to the shareholders.
and in the company to be established with a view
to transporting liquid fuels through pipelines, If the Supervisory Board withholds its consent to any
* incur other liabilities exceeding the equivalent of one of the above activities being taken, the Management Board
fifth of the share capital, as a result of one or several can address the General Meeting of Shareholders to adopt
related legal actions being taken during the financial a resolution to approve the relevant activity.
year, except for the following:

— activities performed within the scope of ordinary Additionally, following a request of at least two members,
management activity, including in particular all activities the Supervisory Board is obliged to consider undertaking

relating to Fuels trading, supervisory actions specified in such request.
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Given the best practice standards and in order to enable
the shareholders to make a true and fair view of the Com-
pany, the Supervisory Board of PKN ORLEN is in charge
of the additional duty to submit to the General Meeting
of the Company a concise assessment of PKN ORLEN's
standing. The assessment is submitted annually, before
the date of the Company’s General Meeting to allow time
for PKN ORLEN shareholders to get acquainted with it.

Committees of PKN ORLEN's Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board of PKN ORLEN may elect perma-
nent or ad hoc committees which act as its collective advi-
sory and opinion making bodies. The following permanent
Committees operate within the Supervisory Board of PKN
ORLEN: Audit Committee, Strategy & Development
Committee, Nomination & Remuneration Committee and
Corporate Governance Committee. The said Committees

report annually to the Supervisory Board on its activities.

The members of all Committees are appointed
by the Supervisory Board from amongst its members
and the Committee itself chooses its Chairman. The Com-
mittees consist of between 3 to 5 members. At least two
members of Audit Committee are independent mem-
bers and at least one has skills and expertise in the field

of accounting or finance.

The Committee meetings are convened by the Committee
chairman and, if he/she is either absent or unable to per-
form his/her duties, by the chairman of the Supervisory
Board or another member of the Supervisory Board
indicated by the chairman, who invites all the Committee
Members to the meeting and notifies all the other Super-
visory Board members of the meeting. All the members
of the Supervisory Board can participate in the Com-
mittee meetings. The Committee chairman can invite
to the Committee meetings members of the Management
Board, the Company’s employees and other persons
whose participation in the meeting is expedient to carry
out the Committee tasks.

The Committee resolutions are passed with a simple
majority of the votes cast. In the event of a tie, the Com-
mittee chairman has the casting vote.
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Audit Committee

The task of the Audit Committee is to advise the Supervisory
Board of PKN ORLEN on the issues related to the proper
implementation of budget and financial reporting rules and
internal control within the Company and the ORLEN
Group, as well as cooperation with the Company’s certi-
fied auditors. In particular; the tasks of the Committee are:
to monitor the work of the Company'’s certified auditors
and submit recommendations to the Supervisory Board
as to the selection and fee of the Company'’'s certified audi-
tors, to discuss with the Company'’s certified auditors, prior
to commencement of audit of each annual financial state-
ments, the nature and scope of the audit, and to monitor
co-ordination of work between the Company’s certified
auditors, to review interim and annual financial statements
of the Company (consolidated and unconsolidated), with
particular focus on:

* any changes of accounting standards, rules and practice,
* main areas of judgement,

* material corrections following from the audit,

® going concern statements,

¢ compliance with applicable accounting regulations.

Furthermore, the tasks of the Audit Committee include:

* to discuss any problems or objections that may result
from the audit of the financial statements,

* to analyse the letters to the Management Board drawn
up by the Company’s certified auditors, independency
and objectivity of their audit and the Management
Board'’s replies,

* 1o give opinions on annual and long-term financial plans,

* 1o give opinions on the dividend policy, profit distribu-
tion and issue of securities,

* to review the management accounting system,

* to review the internal control system, including control
mechanisms in terms of finance, operations, compli-
ance with the provisions of law, risk and management
assessment, to review the reports of internal certified
auditors employed by the Company and basic find-
ings made by other internal analysts together with
the Management Board’s replies to such findings, to re-
view the independency of internal auditors and to give
opinions on the Management Board's intentions as to
employment or dismissal of the head of internal audit,
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® to review, on an annual basis, the internal audit pro-
gram, coordination of the work of internal and exter-
nal auditors and to analyse the conditions for internal
auditors” operation, cooperation with the Company's
organisational units in charge of audit and control and
to evaluate their work on a periodical basis,

* to consider all other issues relating to the Company’s
audit raised by the Committee or the Supervisory
Board,

* to notify the Supervisory Board of any material issues
regarding the operation of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee meetings are held at least once per
quarter, each time prior to the publication of the financial
statements by the Company.

Corporate Governance Committee

The task of the Corporate Governance Committee
is to evaluate the implementation of the corporate gov-
ernance principles, to submit recommendations to the Su-
pervisory Board as to the implementation of the corporate
governance principles, issue opinions on normative corporate
governance documents, evaluate reports concerning com-
pliance with the corporate governance principles prepared
for the Warsaw Stock Exchange, issue opinions on the draft
amendments of the Company’s corporate documents
and to develop such drafts in case of own documents
of the Supervisory Board, to monitor the management
of the Company in terms of legal and regulatory compli-
ance, including the compliance with the PKN ORLEN's
Code of Ethics and the corporate governance principles.

Strategy and Development Committee

The task of the Strategy and Development Committee
is to issue opinions and submit recommendations to the Su-
pervisory Board on planned investments and divestments
which exert a material impact on the Company'’s assets.
In particular, the Committee assesses the effect of planned
and conducted already implemented investments and
divestments on the form of the Company’s assets, evalu-
ates the activities, contracts, letters of intent and other
documents relating to the actions aimed at acquisition,
sale, encumbrance or any other disposal of the Company’s
material assets, issues opinions on any strategic documents
which the Management Board submits to the Supervisory
Board, issues opinions on the Company’s development
strategy, including long-term financial plans.
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Nomination and Remuneration Committee

The task of the Nomination and Remuneration Commit-
tee is to help to attain the strategic goals of the Company
by providing the Supervisory Board with opinions and
motions on how to shape the management structure, with
regard to organisational solutions, remuneration schemes
and selection of the staff with the skills required to ensure
the Company’s success. In particular, the tasks of the Com-
mittee include: to initiate and issue opinions on the solutions
in the area of Management Board members nomina-
tion system, to issue opinions on the solutions proposed
by the Management Board in the area of the Company’s
management system, aimed at ensuring efficiency, integrity
and safety of the Company’s management, to periodically
review and recommend the rules for determining incen-
tive schemes to the Management Board members and
top executives, with a view to the Company’s interest,
to periodically review the remuneration system applicable
to Management Board members and managerial staff directly
reporting to the Management Board members, including
managerial contracts and incentive schemes and to submit
to the Supervisory Board the proposals how to shape them
in the context of the Company’s strategic goal attainment,
to submit to the Supervisory Board opinions on the ration-
ale behind performance-driven remuneration,in the context
of evaluating the degree to which the Company'’s specified
tasks and goals are met, to assess the Company’s human

resources management system.

7.6 The rules of PKN ORLEN's Management Board
operations

The PKN ORLEN Management Board's principal objective
is to realise the Company’s interest, which is understood
as building the value of its assets entrusted by its sharehold-
ers, with due respect for the rights and interests of the par-
ties other than the shareholders, involved in the Company
operations, especially creditors and employees.

The Management Board of PKN ORLEN ensures trans-
parency and efficiency of the Company’s management
system, and guarantees that the Company's affairs will
be handled in accordance with applicable law and good
business practice.
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Appointing and recalling PKN ORLEN'’s Management Board
The Management Board of PKN ORLEN consists of five
to nine members, including the President, Vice-Presidents
and others members of the Management Board. Members
of the Management Board are appointed and recalled
by the Supervisory Board. One member of the Management
Board is appointed and recalled by the Supervisory Board
upon the request of the minister in charge of State Treasury.

The term of office of the Management Board members
is a joint term of office, ending on the day when the Annual
General Meeting has been held, approving the financial
statements for the whole second financial year of such term
of office. So determined joint term of office is assumed
to commence on 7 June 2008.

The President, Vice-Presidents, and other members
of the Management Board may be suspended from duty
for significant reasons by the Supervisory Board.

Should the Management Board President be sus-
pended from duty or his/her mandate expires before
the end of the term of office, all his/her powers, except
for the right to the casting vote referred to in § 9 sec. 5
item 2 of the Articles of Association, are to be executed
by the person appointed by the resolution of the Supervi-
sory Board acting as President of the Management Board
until the new Management Board President is appointed

or the current one is restored to his/her position.

Organisation of PKN ORLEN's Management Board activity
Meetings of the Management Board are held when nec-
essary, however, not less frequently than once every
two weeks. Each member of the Management Board
may request in writing for a Management Board meeting
to be convened or certain issues to be placed on the agen-
da. The request should contain the proposed agenda and
the justification for the request. The meeting should be held
within seven days of the request being filed.

The meeting of the Management Board is convened
by the President who manages the activity of the Manage-
ment Board and has to fix the date, venue and the agenda
of the meeting. In exceptional cases the meeting of the Man-
agement Board may be convened by the Vice-President
or two members of the Management Board. The meeting

can also be held without being formally convened if all

the Management Board members are present and none
of them has objected to the meeting being held or any
proposed issues being put on the agenda.

Invited Company employees, advisers and other persons
can attend the meeting with the consent of the person
chairing the meeting of the Management Board.

Meetings of the Management Board are held in the Com-
pany’s seat in Plock or in the Company’s Headquarters
in Warsaw. The person convening the meeting may, how-

ever, determine another venue for the meeting to be held.

The Management Board adopts resolutions at the meeting.
For a resolution to be effective the scheduled meeting
has to be notified to all the members of the Management
Board and at least one half of the Management Board
members have to be present at the meeting. The Man-
agement Board resolutions are passed with a simple
majority of votes (in the event of a voting deadlock,
the President of the Management Board has the casting
vote) provided that for resolutions to grant a procuration,
unanimity of all members of the Management Board
is required. A Management Board member who voted
against a resolution that was adopted may communicate
its dissenting opinion, however, such communication has
to be provided with the reasoning.

Resolutions are adopted in an open vote. A secret
ballot may be ordered at request of each member
of the Management Board. Resolutions are signed by all
members of the Management Board who were present
at the Management Board meeting on which the resolution
was adopted. The resolution is also signed by the member
of the Management Board who filed a dissenting opinion,
with a note: “dissenting opinion” or “votum separatum”.
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Competences of PKN ORLEN'’s Management Board

The Management Board has to handle all the affairs
of PKN ORLEN which are not reserved to be considered
by other authorities of the Company under the provisions
of the Commercial Code or the Articles of Association.
All the members of the Management Board are obliged
and authorised to handle the affairs of PKN ORLEN.

All the maters going beyond the ordinary course of business
are subject to resolutions of the Management Board, how-
ever, the consent of the Management Board is not required
to carry out an activity being an integral part of another
activity which has already been approved by the Manage-
ment Board unless the resolution of the Management

Board provides otherwise. Activities falling within the scope

of the ordinary course of business are activities related

to fuels trading within the meaning of the Company'’s

Articles of Association (i.e. crude oil, petroleum products,

biocomponents, biofuels and other fuels, including natural

gas, industrial gas and fuel gas), and any other activities not
specified in the Management Board Regulations. A resolu-
tion of the Management Board is required, among others to:

* adopt and amend the Management Board Regulations,

* adopt and amend the Organisational Rules and Regula-
tions of PKN ORLEN,

* adopt motions to be submitted to the Supervisory
Board and / or to the General Meeting of Shareholders,
in particular, any motions sent to these bodies for their
consent to perform certain actions, issue opinions, make
an assessment or give an approval, which are required
in accordance with the generally applicable law and / or
the Company'’s Articles of Association,

e convene the General Meetings of Shareholders and
adopt the proposed agenda of the General Meetings

* approve annual and long-term financial plans as well
as the Company’s development strategy

* approve investment tasks and corresponding liabilities
if the resulting expenditures and encumbrances exceed
PLN 10,000,000,

* incur liabilities, manage the property rights and any form
of encumbrance on the Company’s property where
the total value exceeds PLN 20,000,000 (with certain
exceptions to that rule),

e

e dispose and purchase real estate, perpetual usufruct
or an interest in real estate and to establish a limited
property right,

e dispose of, purchase and encumber stakes, shares or
other interest in other entities, including shares admitted
to public trading,

* issue the Company'’s securities,

* approve the annual report on the Company’s business
operations, the Company’s annual, half-yearly and quar-
terly financial statements, the ORLEN Capital Group’s
annual, half-yearly and quarterly financial statements,

* adopt and change the Company’s employees’ remunera-
tion scheme, as well as decisions regarding introduction
and fundamentals of the incentive schemes,

e conclude, amend and terminate a collective labour
agreement applicable in the Company, and other agree-
ments with trade unions,

* establish the principles of granting and revoking powers
of attorney,

¢ formulate the so-called donation policy of the Company,

* grant a procuration,

* establish the internal segregation of duties among
the members of the Management Board,

* set up establishments / offices abroad,

* handle other matters which at least one member
of the Management Board requests to be handled
in the form of a resolution,

* take decisions on the payment of interim dividends.

The Management Board has to regularly provide the Super-
visory Board with exhaustive information on all aspects
of PKN ORLEN's business operations and the risks related
to such operations as well as the methods of manag-
ing such risks. Additionally, the Management Board has
to draw up and adopt annual and long-term financial plans
and the Company development strategy in the form,
to the extent and by the deadlines set by the Supervisory
Board. The Management Board of PKN ORLEN has also
to draw up and submit to the Supervisory Board the an-
nual financial statements of PKN ORLEN and the annual
financial statements of the ORLEN Group for the previous
financial year.
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7.7 Description of the remuneration policy and the rules
for its determination

The remuneration for the Supervisory Board Members

is determined by the Company’s General Meeting.

The remuneration for the Management Board Mem-

bers is determined by the Supervisory Board. As part

of the Supervisory Board, the Nomination & Remuneration

Committee operates whose tasks, among others, include:

* to periodically review and recommend, the rules for de-
termining incentive pay to the Management Board
members and to the senior management, taking into
account the Company’s interest,

* to periodically review, the remuneration system applica-
ble to Management Board members and managerial staff
directly reporting to the Management Board members,
including managerial contracts and incentive systems
and to submit to the Supervisory Board the proposals
how to shape them in the context of the Company’s
strategic goal attainment,

* to submit to the Supervisory Board opinions on the rea-
sons underlying the awarded performance-driven remu-
neration in the context of evaluating the degree to which
the Company'’s specified tasks and goals are met.

The main components of the Management Board Members

remuneration system include:

* monthly fixed base pay,

* annual bonus dependent on the accomplishment level
of quantitative and qualitative targets,

* severance pay for dismissal from the Management
Board Member function,

* compensation for non-competition.

Additional benefits for the Management Board Members:

* company car,

* tools and technical appliances necessary to perform
the duties of the Management Board Member,

* reimbursement of business trips costs and costs of rep-
resentation to the extent and in the amount relevant
to the function held,

¢ life and endowment insurance agreement,

* private health insurance for the Management Board

Member and his/her closest family.

7.8 Rules for awarding bonuses to the key executive
personnel

In 2010 the ORLEN Group's key executive personnel was
subject to the annual MBO bonus system. The regulations
applicable to PKN ORLEN Management Board, executive
directors of PKN ORLEN, management boards of the PKN
ORLEN Group and other key positions in the Group have
certain common features. The persons subject to the above
mentioned systems are remunerated for the accomplish-
ment of individual targets set at the beginning of the bonus
period by the Supervisory Board for the Management
Board Members and by the Management Board Mem-
bers for the key executive personnel. The targets set are
qualitative or quantitative (measurable) and are accounted
for following the end of the year for which they were set,
based on the rules adopted in the applicable Bonus System
Regulations. The bonus systems are structured in a way
so as to promote the cooperation between individual
employees in view to achieve the best possible results
at PKN ORLEN and ORLEN Group level.

In 2010 new MBO bonus standards were developed and
approved for the senior managerial personnel in the ORLEN
Group to be in force as of 201 |. The main goal for imple-
mentation of the changes is to match the bonus system with
PKN ORLEN Management Board's goals and to increase
top management responsibility for ORLEN Group results.
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MICHAL SEDZIWO] (1566-1636)

Michat Sedziwdj of Ostoja coat of arms (Lat. Sendivogius Polonus), born on 2 February 1566 in tukowica, died

in 1636 in Krawarz.

A famous Polish alchemist, scientist, philosopher and diplomat from the 17t century. He studied in Krakow, Leipzig,
Vienna and Altdorf, then he worked at the court of the Emperor Rudolf Il in Prague. In 1599 he came back to Poland

and was admitted to the court of the king Zygmunt Il Waza. He conducted alchemical studies in Krzepice.

He was the author of famous alchemic works, e.g. “Tractatus de lapide philosophorum and cosmopolitani novum
lumen chymicu” (1604) published under various titles and translated into a lot of languages. He developed methods
for obtaining numerous metals, he also studied salts ands sulphur. Wealthy men and kings strived to win him over
believing that he acquired the ability to turn metal into gold. At that time no other Pole in Europe could compete with

him in terms of popularity.

Today it is known that he was the first scientist who discovered oxygen, calling it mysterious food of life. However
at that time he was not associated with discovery of oxygen but rather secret knowledge about production of gold.
During his life he had a reputation of a great alchemist and magician, but in fact he was a down-to-earth scientist,

applying classical empiricism in his research.
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Opinion of the Independent Auditor.................

To the General Meeting
of Polski Koncern Naftowy
ORLEN Spotka Akcyjna

We have audited the accompanying consolidated
financial statements of Polski Koncern Naftowy ORLEN
Spdtka Akcyjna Group, seated in Plock, 7 Chemikow
Street (“the Group”), which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2010,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended and notes to the consolidated financial state-
ments, comprising of a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

Management's and Supervisory
Board'’s Responsibility

for the Consolidated

Financial Statements

Management of the Parent Company is responsible
for the preparation and fair presentation of these consoli-
dated financial statements in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by European
Union and with other applicable regulations and prepa-
ration of the Report on the Group’s activities. Manage-
ment of the Parent Company is also responsible for such
internal control as management determines is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial state-
ments that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

According to the Accounting Act dated 29 September
1994 (Official Journal from 2009, No. 152, item 1223
with amendments) ("the Accounting Act”), Management
of the Parent Company and members of the Supervi-
sory Board are required to ensure that the consolidated
financial statements and the Report on the Group’s acti-
vities are in compliance with the requirement set forth
in “the Accounting Act”.

o

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility, based on our audit, is to express
an opinion on these consolidated financial statements.
We conducted our audit in accordance with section
7 of the Accounting Act, national standards on auditing
issued by Polish National Council of Certified Auditors
and International Standards on Auditing. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
whether the consolidated financial statements are free

from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial state-
ments. The procedures selected depend on our judgement,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstate-
ment of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we con-
sider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of express-
ing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriate-
ness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated

financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suf-
ficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Opinion

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial
statements of PKN ORLEN S.A. Group have been prepared
and presented fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Group as at 3| December 2010 and
its financial performance and its cash flows for the year
then ended, in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union,
and are in compliance with the respective regulations that
apply to the consolidated financial statements, applicable

to the Group.

On behalf of KPMG Audyt Sp. z o.0.
registration number 458
ul. Chtodna 51, 00-867 Warsaw

Certified Auditor No. 10427
Marta Zemka

Certified Auditor No. 10268
Director

Monika Bartoszewicz

29 March 201 |, Warsaw

Other Matters

As required under the Accounting Act, we also report
that the Report on the Group’s activities includes, in all
material respects, the information required by Art. 49
of the Accounting Act and by the Decree of the Ministry
of Finance dated |9 February 2009 on current and periodic
information provided by issuers of securities and the condi-
tions for recognition as equivalent information required
by the law of a non-Member State (Official Journal from
2009, No. 33, item 259) and the information is consistent
with the consolidated financial statements.
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currency (PLN).

on 31 March 201 |
(submission date)

full name of the issuer:  POLSKI KONCERN NAFTOWY ORLEN SPOEKA AKCYJNA
abbreviated name of the issuer: ~ PKN ORLEN
industrial sector in line with classification
of Warsaw Stock Exchange:  OIL&GAS
zip code: 09411
location:  PtOCK
street:  CHEMIKOW
number: 7
telephone: 48 24 256 81 80
fax: 482436777 |1
e-mail:  ir@orlen.pl
NIP.  774-00-01-454
REGON: 610188201
www:  www.orlen.pl

KPMG AUDYT Sp. z o.0.
(Entity authorized to conduct audit)



I Sales revenues 83,547,432 67,927,990 20,863,908 16,963,338

Il. Profit from operations 3,122,649 1,097,076 779,804 273,968
Il Profit before tax 3,070,167 1,440,652 766,698 359,767
IV, Net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent 2,371,358 1,308,521 592,188 326,771
V. Net profit 2,455,467 1,300,167 613,192 324,685
VI. Total comprehensive income attributable to equity holders

of the parent 2,537,678 1,233,166 633,722 307,953
VI, Total comprehensive income 2,658,224 211,414 663,826 302,521
VIIIl. - Net cash provided by operating activities 6,110,199 5,161,793 1,525,871 1,289,030
IX. " Net cash (used in) investing activities (2,920,060) (2,526,615) (729,213) (630,960)
X. Net cash (used in) financing activities (3,297,740) (1,034,966) (823,529) (258,457)
Xl Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (107,601) 1,600,212 (26,871) 399,613
XlI. - Net profit and diluted net profit per share attributable to equity

holders of the parent (in PLN/EUR per share) 5.54 3.06 .38 0.76
Xlll. Non-current assets 30,430,874 29,655,024 7,683,982 7,488,075
XIV.  Current assets 20,718,918 19,433,046 5,231,654 4,906,963
XV, Total assets 51,149,792 49,088,070 12,915,636 12,395,038
XVI. Long-term liabilites 10,684,821 13,223,343 2,697,983 3,338,975
XVII. Short-term liabilities 16,225,018 14,157,516 4,096,916 3,574,859
XVIII. Equity 24,239,953 21,707,211 6,120,737 5,481,204
XIX. Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 21,627,938 19,037,903 5,461,187 4,807,187
XX. Share capital 1,057,635 1,057,635 267,059 267,059
XXI. Number of issued ordinary shares 427,709,061 427,709,061 427,709,061 427,709,061
XXII. Book value and diluted book value per share attributable to equity

holders of the parent (in PLN/EUR per share) 50.57 4451 12.77 I'1.24

The above data for 2010 and 2009 was translated into EUR by the following exchange rates:

* specific items of assets, equity and liabilities — by the average exchange rate published by the National Bank of Poland as at 3| De-
cember 2010 — 3.9603 PLN/EUR;

¢ specific items of statement of comprehensive income and statement of cash flows — by the arithmetic average of average exchange
rates published by the National Bank of Poland as of every last day of month during the period | January — 31 December 2010 —
4.0044 PLN/EUR.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
PREPARED AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2010

(all amounts in PLN thousand)
(Translation of a document originally issued in Polish)

Consolidated statement of financial position

as at 31.12.2009

Note asat 31.12.2010 (restated data)
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 6 27,403,013 26,998,132
Investment property 7 71,976 71,487
Intangible assets 8 1,102,709 690,376
Perpetual usufruct of land 9 96,354 96,043
Investments accounted for under equity method 10 1,501,016 1,401,586
Financial assets available for sale I 42,783 59,633
Deferred tax assets 30.2 163,893 290,820
Other non-current assets 12 49,130 46,947
Total non-current assets 30,430,874 29,655,024
Current assets
Inventories 14 11,294,851 10,619,859
Trade and other receivables I5 6,288,802 5,624,933
Other short-term financial assets 16 224,601 181,005
Income tax receivable 48,273 34,032
Cash and cash equivalents 17 2,820,742 2,941,039
Non-current assets classified as held for sale 18 41,649 32,178
Total current assets 20,718,918 19,433,046
Total assets 51,149,792 49,088,070
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as at 31.12.2009

Note asat 31.12.2010 (restated data)
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Equity
Share capital 19.1 1,057,635 1,057,635
Share premium 9.3 1,227,253 1,227,253
Hedging reserve 19.5.1 63,872 14,849
Foreign exchange differences on subsidiaries from consolidation 19.5.3 (149,492) (266,789)
Retained earnings 19.4 19,428,670 17,004,955
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 21,627,938 19,037,903
Non-controlling interest 19.6 2,612,015 2,669,308
Total equity 24,239,953 21,707,211
LIABILITIES
Long-term liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 20 9,123,987 1,610,532
Provisions 21 635,618 661,921
Deferred tax liabilities 30.2 818,581 836,330
Deferred income 24 16,960 16,855
Other long-term liabilities 22 89,675 97,705
Total long-term liabilities 10,684,821 13,223,343
Short-term liabilities
Trade and other liabilities 23 13,435,998 ['1,494,542
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 20 1,543,740 1,593,695
Income tax liability 23,370 24,169
Provisions 21 1,002,428 847,117
Deferred income 24 74,959 80,519
Other financial liabilities 25 144,523 117,474
Total liabilities 16,225,018 14,157,516
Total equity and liabilities 26,909,839 27,380,859
Total liabilities 51,149,792 49,088,070
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

(all amounts in PLN thousand)
(Translation of a document originally issued in Polish)

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

for the year ended

for the year ended 31.12.2009
Note 31.12.2010 (restated data)
Income statement
Sales revenues 26 83,547,432 67,927,990
Cost of sales 27 (75,566,961) (61,843,276)
Gross profit on sales 7,980,471 6,084,714
Distribution expenses (3,394,612) (3,507,700)
General and administrative expenses (1,365,195) (1,504,707)
Other operating revenues 28.01 771,321 |,258,334
Other operating expenses 28.02 (869,336) (1,233,565)
Profit from operations 3,122,649 1,097,076
Financial revenues 29.1 446,754 1,094,275
Financial expenses 29.2 (751,248) (1,023,074)
Financial revenues and expenses (304,494) 71,201
Share in profit from investments accounted for under equity method 252,012 272,375
Profit before tax 3,070,167 1,440,652
Income tax expense 30 (614,700) (140,485)
Net profit 2,455,467 1,300,167
Items of other comprehensive income:
Hedging instruments valuation 25,502 (4,491)
Hedging instruments settlement 35,020 146,024
Foreign exchange differences on consolidation 153,734 (203,395)
Deferred tax on other comprehensive income items (11,499) (26,891)
202,757 (88,753)
Total net comprehensive income 2,658,224 1,211,414
Net profit attributable to: 2,455,467 1,300,167
equity holders of the parent 2,371,358 1,308,521
non-controlling interest 84,109 (8,354)
Total comprehensive income attributable to: 2,658,224 1,211,414
equity holders of the parent 2,537,678 1,233,166
non-controlling interest 120,546 (21,752)
Net profit and diluted net profit per share attributable to equity holders
of the parent (in PLN per share) 5.54 3.06
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

(all amounts in PLN thousand)
(Translation of a document originally issued in Polish)

Consolidated statement of cash flows

for the year ended

for the year ended
31.12.2009

Note 31.12.2010 (restated data)
Cash flows — operating activities
Net profit 2,455,467 1,300,167
Adjustments for:
Share in profit from investments accounted for under equity method (252,012) (272,375)
Depreciation and amortisation 27 2,422,747 2,562,221
Foreign exchange (gain) (36,860) (122,715)
Interest and dividend, net 389,978 383,602
Loss/(Profit) on investing activities 206,817 (714,716)
Change in receivables 31 (799,146) 655,338
Change in inventories 31 (608,981) (1,662,679)
Change in liabilities 31 2,282,677 2,820,956
Change in provisions 31 715,077 (2,086)
Income tax expense 30 614,700 140,485
Income tax (paid)/received (517,882) 19,255
Other adjustments 31 (762,383) 54,340
Net cash provided by operating activities 6,110,199 5,161,793
Cash flows — investing activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (3,724,370) (2,670,628)
Disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 686,025 827,802
Disposal of shares 53,339 1,354
Acquisition of shares (115,927) (1,019,488)
Acquisition of short-term securities and deposits (174,955) (56,822)
Disposal of other securities 198,711 —
Interest and dividend received 158,737 423,922
Other (1,620) (32,755)
Net cash (used in) financing activities (2,920,060) (2,526,615)
Cash flows — financing activities
Proceeds from loans and borrowings 14,688,673 1,192,817
Repayment of loans and borrowings (17,408,772) (11,461,010)
Interest paid (545,378) (666,133)
Payment of liabilities under finance lease agreements (24,060) (80,384)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interest (10,468) (13,382)
Other 2,265 (6,874)
Net cash (used in) financing activities (3,297,740) (1,034,966)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (107,601) 1,600,212
Effect of exchange rate changes (12,696) (3,397)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the period |7 2,941,039 1,344,224
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the period |7 2,820,742 2,941,039
incl. restricted cash 17 68,289 24,459
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

(all amounts in PLN thousand)
(Translation of a document originally issued in Polish)

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

| January 2010 2,284,888 14,849 (266,789) 17,004,955 19,037,903 2,669,308 21,707,211
Total comprehensive

income — 49,023 117,297 2,371,358 2,537,678 120,546 2,658,224
Change

in non-controlling

interest's structure — — — 52,357 52,357 (168,284) (115,927)
Dividends — — — — — (9,555) (9,555)
31 December 2010 2,284,888 63,872 (149,492) 19,428,670 21,627,938 2,612,015 24,239,953
| January 2009 2,284,888 (99,793) (76,792) 15,704,788 17,813,091 2,718,556 20,531,647
Total comprehensive

income — |14,642 (189,997) 1,308,521 1,233,166 (21,752) 1,211,414
Change

in non-controlling

interest's structure — — — (8,354) (8,354) (16,702) (25,056)
Dividends — — — — — (10,794) (10,794)
31 December 2009 2,284,888 14,849 (266,789) 17,004,955 19,037,903 2,669,308 21,707,211
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Accounting principles, notes and other explanatory information

. GENERAL INFORMATION

.1. Principal activity of the Group, composition of the Management Board and Supervisory Board
of the Parent

Polski Koncern Naftowy ORLEN S.A. seated in Plock, 7 Chemikéw Street (,Company”, ,PKN ORLEN”, ,Issuer”) was established
through transformation of a state-owned enterprise into a joint stock company, on the basis of the Public Notary Act of 29 June 1993.

The Company was registered as Mazowieckie Zakfady Rafineryjne i Petrochemiczne ,Petrochemia Plock” S.A. in the District Court

in Plock. Effective 20 May 1999, the Company changed its business name to Polski Koncern Naftowy Spétka Akcyjna.

On 7 September 1999, Centrala Produktow Naftowych (,CPN") Spotka Akcyjna was incorporated, thus CPN was removed from the com-

mercial register. Effective 12 April 2000, the Company changed its business name to Polski Koncern Naftowy ORLEN Spétka Akcyjna.

According to Warsaw Stock Exchange classification PKN ORLEN belongs to oil and gas sector.
The principal activity of the Polski Koncern Naftowego ORLEN S.A. Capital Group (,Group”, ,Capital Group”, , PKN ORLEN S.A.
Capital Group”) includes among others:

Processing of crude oil and manufacturing of oil derivative products and semi finished products (refinery and petrochemical);
Manufacture of basic chemicals, fertilizers and nitrogen compounds, plastics and synthetic rubber;

Purchase, processing and trade of used lubricant oils and other chemical waste;

Manufacturing, transfer and trade in heating energy and electricity;

Domestic and foreign trade on own account, on a commission and as a consignee, including in particular: the trade in crude oil, oil
derivative and other fuel, sale of industrial and consumer goods;

Research and development activity, project work, construction and production activities on own account and as a consignee, in the areas
of processing, storage, packaging and trade in solid, liquid and gaseous oil fuels, derivative chemical products as well as transportation:
road, rail, water and by pipeline;

Storage of crude oil and liquid fuels, creation and management of oil stock in accordance with appropriate regulations;

Services connected to the principal activity, in particular: sea and land reloading, refining of gas and oil including ethylization, dyeing
and blending of components;

Overhaul of appliances used in principle activities, especially refinery and petrochemical installations, oil storage appliances, petrol
stations and means of transportation;

Operation of petrol stations, bars, restaurants and hotels as well as catering activities;

Financial holding activities, brokerage and other financial activities;

Natural gas and crude oil exploration and extraction;

Services to the entire society, medical services, fire protection, education.

Concessions

Concessions granted by public authoritiesas at periods, for which concessions were granted
31.12.2010 (in years)
Electrical energy: manufacturing, transfer;, distribution and trade 10-22
Heating energy: manufacturing, transfer, distribution and trade 10-20
Liquid and gaseous fuels: manufacturing, transmission, distribution, trade, storage

and transportation |10-45
International profit-making road transportation services 5
Non-reservuar storage of crude oil and liquid fuels 30
Rock salt: exploitation and recognition 4-30
Exploration and recognition of crude oil and natural gas 5
Personal and property security services indefinetely

As at 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009 the Group had no liabilities related to concession services.
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Shareholders’ structure

The shareholders’ structure of PKN ORLEN S.A. as at 31 December 2010 was as follows:

Number Number Nominal value % Share
of shares of voting rights of shares (in PLN) in share capital
State Treasury 117,710,196 117,710,196 147,137,745 27.52%
Aviva OFE 21,744,036 21,744,036 27,180,045 5.08%
Others 288,254,829 288,254,829 360,318,536 67.40%
Total 427,709,061 427,709,061 534,636,326 100.00%

Composition of the Management Board of the Parent

Composition of the Management Board as at 31 December 2010 was as follows:

* Dariusz Krawiec — President of the Management Board, General Director

¢ Stawomir Jedrzejczyk — Vice-President of the Management Board, Chief Financial Officer
¢ Wojciech Kotlarek — Member of the Management Board, Sales

 Krystian Pater — Member of the Management Board, Refinery

* Marek Serafin — Member of the Management Board, Petrochemistry

On 24 March 201 | the Supervisory Board of PKN ORLEN S.A. has chosen the President of the Management Board, Vice-President
of the Management Board and three Management Board Members for a new term. The new term Management Board will be as follows:
¢ Dariusz Krawiec — President of the Management Board, General Director

¢ Stawomir Jedrzejczyk — Vice-President of the Management Board, Chief Financial Officer

* Krystian Pater — Member of the Management Board, Refinery

* Grazyna Piotrowska-Oliwa — Member of the Management Board, Sales

* Marek Serafin — Member of the Management Board, Petrochemistry

The appointed Board of Directors will start its activity after the PKN ORLEN S.A. General Meeting, which will accept the financial
statement for 2010.

Composition of the Supervisory Board of the Parent

Composition of the Supervisory Board as at 31 December 2010 was as follows:

* Maciej Mataczynski — Chairman of the Supervisory Board

¢ Marek Karabuta — Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board

* Angelina Sarota — Secretary of the Supervisory Board

* Grzegorz Borowiec — Member of the Supervisory Board

* Artur Gabor — Member of the Supervisory Board (from 25 June 2010)

* Krzysztof Kotach — Member of the Supervisory Board

* Leszek Jerzy Pawtowicz — Member of the Supervisory Board (from 25 June 2010)
* Piotr Wielowieyski — Member of the Supervisory Board

¢ Janusz Zielinski — Member of the Supervisory Board

On 25 June 2010 Ordinary General Meeting did not appoint for the new term of office Mr. Jarostaw Roclawski to the Member
of the Supervisory Board.

[.2. Statement of the Management Board

[.2.1. In respect of the reliability of consolidated financial statements

The Management Board of PKN ORLEN hereby declares that to the best of their knowledge the foregoing consolidated financial
statements and comparative data were prepared in compliance with the Group accounting principles in force and that they reflect true
and fair view on financial position and financial result of the Group and that the Management Board Report on the Group’s Operations
presents true overview of development, achievement and business situation of Capital Group, including basic risks and exposures.

1.2.2. In respect of the entity authorized to conduct audit of financial statements

The Management Board of PKN ORLEN declares that the entity authorized to conduct audit and conducting the audit of the consolidated
financial statements, was selected in compliance with the law and that the entity and auditors conducting the audit met the conditions
to issue an independent opinion in compliance with relevant regulations.

KPMG Audyt Sp. z o.0. is the entity authorized to conduct audit of unconsolidated financial statements of PKN ORLEN S.A. and con-
solidated financial statements of PKN ORLEN S.A. Capital Group for the year 2010.



2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1. Principles of presentation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles contained in the International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted by the European Union (EU) and were in force as at 31 December 2010. The scope of consoli-
dated financial statements is compliant with Minister of Finance Regulation of 19 February 2009 on current and periodic information
provided by issuers of securities and conditions for recognition as equivalent information required by the law of a non-Member state
(Official Journal no. 33, item 259) with further amendments.

The foregoing consolidated financial statements cover the period from | January to 31 December 2010 and the comparative period
from | January to 31 December 2009.

Presented consolidated financial statements are compliant with all requirements of IFRSs adopted by the EU and present a true and fair
view of the Group's financial position as at 3| December 2010 and comparative data as at 31 December 2009, results of its operations
and cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2010 and comparative data for the year ended 3| December 2009.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Group will continue to operate as a going concern
in the foreseeable future. As at the date of approval of these financial statements there is no evidence indicating that the Group will not

be able to continue its operations as a going concern.

The foregoing consolidated financial statements, except for consolidated cash flow statement, have been prepared using the accrual

basis of accounting.

2.2. Impact of amendments and interpretations of IFRSs on consolidated financial statements of the Group

2.2.1. Binding amendments and interpretations to IFRSs

The amendments adopted from | January 2010 had no impact on the foregoing consolidated financial statements.

2.2.2. IFRSs and interpretations to IFRSs not yet effective

The Group intends to adopt amendments to IFRSs that are published but not effective as at 31 December 2010, in accordance with
their effective date. In the current reporting period, the Group did not make decision to voluntary early adopt amendments and inter-
pretations to standards.

IFRSs and interpretations to IFRSs adopted by EU

Amendments to IFRS | — Limited exemptions from comparative IFRS 7 disclosures for First-time Adopters

The amendment refers to limited exemptions from comparative IFRS 7 disclosures for First-time Adopters. The exemption refers to first
reporting periods beginning earlier than | January 2010.

The amended standard was published on | July 2010. According to the Commission Regulation no 574/2010 all entities shall apply
the amendments to IFRS | and IFRS 7 as from the commencement date of its first financial year starting after 30 June 2010.

The amended standard is not relevant to financial statements of the Group.

Amendments to IAS 24 — Related Parties Disclosures

The amendment introduces exemptions to disclosures of related party transactions, outstanding balances, including contingent liabilities
with: (a) a government that has control, joint control or significant influence over the reporting entity; and (b) another entity that is a re-
lated party because the same government has control, joint control or significant influence over both the reporting entity and the other
entity. The revised standard requires specific disclosures to be provided if a reporting entity take advantage of this exemption. The revised
standard also amends the definitions of a related party which resulted in new relations being included in the definition such as, associates
of the controlling shareholder and entities controlled, or jointly controlled, by key management personnel.

The amended standard was published on 20 July 2010. According to the Commission Regulation no 632/2010 all entities shall apply
the amended standard at the latest, as from the commencement date of its first financial year starting after 31 December 2010.

The amendments to IAS 24 will have no impact on consolidated financial statements of the Group.

Amendments to IAS 32 — Classification of rights issues

The amendment requires that rights, options and warrants issued to acquire a fixed number of entity’s own equity instruments for a fixed
amount of any currency are classified as equity instruments if the entity offers the rights, options or warrants pro rata to all of its existing
owners of the same class of entity’s non-derivative equity instruments.
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Explanatory notes to consolidated financial statements for the year ended 3| december 2010

oS,
N

The amendments to standard were published on 24 December 2009. According to the Commission Regulation no 1293/2009 all
entities shall apply the amendments at the latest, as from commencement date of its first financial year starting after 31 January 2010.

Amendments to IAS 32 are not relevant to consolidated financial statements of the Group due to the fact that the Group did not issue
such instruments at any time in past.

Amendments to IFRIC 14 — Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirements

Amended IFRIC 14 addresses the accounting treatment for prepayments made when there is also a minimum funding requirement.
According to the amendments, the entity is required to recognise certain prepayments as an asset, on the basis that the entity has future
economic benefits, from the prepayment in the form of reduced cash outflows in future years in which minimum funding requirements
payments would otherwise be required.

Amendments to interpretation were published on 20 July 2010. According to the Commission Regulation no 633/2010 all entities
shall apply the amendments at the latest, as from the commencement date of its first financial year starting after 31 December 2010.

Amendments to IFRIC are not relevant to consolidated financial statements of the Group due to the fact, that the Group does not have
any defined benefit plans with minimum funding requirements.

New interpretation IFRIC 19 — Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments

Interpretation clarifies that the equity instruments issued to a creditor of an entity to extinguish all or part of a financial liability, in form
of 'debt for equity swaps’ are considered paid in accordance with IAS 39.41.

The initial recognition of equity instruments issued to extinguish a financial liability is at the fair value of the equity instrument issued, un-
less that fair value cannot be reliably measured, in which the equity instrument shall be measured to reflect the fair value of the financial
liability extinguished. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability (or part of a financial liability) extinguished,
and the initial measurement amount of equity instruments issued should be recognised in profit or loss of the current period.

The interpretation was published on 24 July 201 0. According to the Commission Regulation no 662/2010 all entities shall apply the above
amendments at the latest, as from the commencement date of its first financial year starting after 30 June 2010.

Since the interpretation can relate only to transactions that will occur in the future, it is not possible to determine in advance the effects
the application of the interpretation will have. In the current period the Group did not issue equity instruments to cover financial liabilities.
For the same reason the above interpretation will not have a significant influence on the comparative data disclosed in the consolidated
annual financial statements for the year ended 3| December 2010.

Improvements to International Financial Reporting Standards in 2010

The improvements contain || amendments to 6 standards and | interpretation and are mainly focused on solving discrepancies
and specifying wording. Introduced changes specified required accounting treatment in the situation when previously, free interpreta-
tion was acceptable.

The improvements were published on 19 February 201 I. According to the Commission Regulation no 149/201 1 all entities shall apply
the above improvements at the latest as from the commencement date of its first financial year starting after 30 June 2010 or 3| De-
cember 2010.

Since the improvements can relate only to transactions that will occur in the future, it is not possible to determine in advance the effects
the application of the interpretation will have.

Standards and interpretations waiting for approval of EU
Amendments to IFRS | — Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters

The amendment adds an exemption that an entity can apply, at the date of transition to IFRSs after being subject to severe hyperinflation.
This exemption allows the entity to measure all assets and liabilities held before the functional currency normalisation date at fair value
and use that fair value as a deemed cost of those assets and liabilities in the opening IFRS statement of financial position.

An entity shall apply those amendments for annual periods beginning on or after | July 201 1.

It is expected that at the date of adoption, the amendments to standard will have no impact on future consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 7 Disclosures — Transfers of financial assets

The amendment requires disclosure of information that enables to help users of financial statements:

¢ to understand the relationship between transferred financial assets that are not derecognised in their entirety and the associated li-
abilities; and

* to evaluate the nature of, and risks associated with, the entity’s continuing involvement in derecognised financial assets.

The amendment defines “continuing involvement” for the purposes of applying the disclosure requirements.



An entity shall apply that amendment for annual periods beginning on or after | July 201 |. When applied, it is expected that the amend-
ment to IFRS 7 will increase the current level of disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

New standard and amendments to IFRS 9 — Financial instruments

New standard replaces guidance in IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement about classification and measurement
of financial assets. The standard eliminates existing IAS 39 categories: held for maturity, available for sale and loans and receivables.

At the initial recognition, financial assets will be classified as: financial assets measured at amortised cost or financial assets measured
at fair value.

The 2010 amendments to IFRS 9 replace the guidance in IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement about classifica-
tion and measurement of financial liabilities and derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities. The standard retains almost all
of the existing requirements from IAS 39 on the classification and measurement of financial liabilities and for derecognition of financial
assets and financial liabilities. The standard requires that the amount of change in fair value attributable to changes in the credit risk
of a financial liability designated at initial recognition as fair value through profit or loss, shall be presented in other comprehensive income,
with only the remaining amount of the total gain or loss included in profit or loss of current period. If the requirements would create
or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss, then the whole fair value change is presented in profit or loss of the current period.

The amounts presented in other comprehensive income are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss of the current period, but
may be transferred within equity.

Derivative financial liabilities that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of an unquoted equity instrument whose fair value cannot
be reliably measured, are required to be measured at fair value under IFRS 9.

An entity shall apply IFRS 9 with amendments for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2013.

It is expected that the amendments to the Standard, when initially applied, will have a significant impact on future consolidated financial
statements and comparative data, since they will be required to be retrospectively applied.

Amendments to IAS |2 Income taxes — Deferred tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets

Amendments introduced in 2010 provide the exception to the current measurement principles based on the manner of recovery
in paragraph 52 of IAS 12 for investment property measured using fair value model in IAS 40 by introducing a rebuttable presumption
that that in these for the assets the manner of recovery will be entirely by sale. Management's intention would not be relevant unless
the investment property is depreciable and held within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the asset's
economic benefits over the life of the asset. This is the only instance in which the rebuttable presumption can be rebutted.

An entity shall apply those amendments for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2012.

The impact of the initial application will be dependent on the specific assets held and their fair values at the date of the initial application.
Until the date of the initial application of the Standard the Group is unable to determine the effects the application will have on future
consolidated financial statements.

2.2.3. Presentation changes

e Starting from | January 2010 the Group recognises in the consolidated statement of financial position CO, emission rights granted
free of charge as intangible assets and deferred income at the fair value of CO, emission rights at the date of their receipt.
The Group recognises provision for estimated CO, emissions in the reporting period. In the consolidated result the cost of recognised
provision is compensated with settlement of deferred income on CO, emission rights granted free of charge.
In the financial statements for the previous reporting periods intangible assets were compensated, and presented net with deferred
income and provision for CO, emissions. The change in presentation had no impact on consolidated statement of comprehensive
income for the year ended 3| December 2009, nor, due to the sale of CO, emissions rights in 2009, on the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 3| December 2009.

In segment data relating to consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 3 | December 2009 (disclosed in note
5.1 to the consolidated financial statement) a reclassification adjustments of PLN 1,304,031 thousand was made from the position
of sales revenues and operating expenses of the refining segment to the position of sales revenues and operating expenses of the retail
segment. The adjustment reflects sales volumes generated through DOFO (Dealer Owned Franchise Operated) channel, previously
presented in the refining segment.

Starting from the December 2010 the Group recognises government grants received related to non-current tangible and intangible
assets directly as a decrease of the value of non-current tangible or intangible asset. Grant settlement is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income in operating activities as a decrease in depreciation.

In the financial statements for previous reporting periods government grants received related to non-current tangible and intangible
assets were presented as deferred income in correspondence with other operating income.

In the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2009 the value of government grants decreased the value of non-current
tangible assets, deferred income and other long term liabilities by PLN 72,305 thousand. In the statement of comprehensive income
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for the year ended 31 December 2009 the value of government grants decreased the depreciation costs and other operating income
by PLN 5,425 thousand, with no effect on the result of the period.

According to the Management Board the above mentioned changes ensure better presentation of results of Group’s operations.

2.2.4. Functional currency and presentation currency of financial statements and methods applied to translation of data
for consolidation purposes

The functional and presentation currency of the foregoing consolidated financial statements is Polish Ztoty.

Financial statements of foreign entities, for consolidation purposes, are translated into PLN using the following methods:

* particular assets, equity and liabilities — at spot exchange rate as at the end of the reporting period;

e respective items of statement of comprehensive income and statement of cash flows are translated at the average rate (arithmetic
average of average exchange rates published by the National Bank of Poland (“NBP”) in the reporting period).

average exchange rate for the reporting period exchange rate at the end of the reporting period
CURRENCIES 31.12.2010 31.12.2009 31.12.2010 31.12.2009
PLN/EUR 4.0044 4.3406 3.9603 4.1082
PLN/USD 3.0402 3.1236 2.9641 2.8503
PLN/CzZK 0.1585 0.1639 0.1580 0.1554

Accounting policies for foreign currency transactions are disclosed in note 2.3.2

2.3. Applied accounting policies

2.3.1. Changes in accounting policies and estimates

An entity shall change an accounting policy only if the change:

¢ is required by an IFRS; or

e results in the consolidated financial statements providing reliable and more relevant information about the effects of transactions, other
events or conditions on the entity’s financial position, financial performance or cash flows.

In case of change in accounting policy it is assumed that the new policy had always been applied. The amount of the resulting adjustment
is made to the equity. For comparability, the entity shall adjust the comparative information for the earliest prior period presented as if
the new accounting policy had always been applied, unless it is impracticable to determine either the period-specific effects or the cu-
mulative effect of the change.

ltems of consolidated financial statements based on an estimate may need revision if changes occur in the circumstances on which
the estimate was based or as a result of new information or more experience.

2.3.2. Transactions in foreign currencies

A foreign currency transaction shall be recorded, on initial recognition in the functional currency, by applying to the foreign currency
amount the spot exchange rate between the functional currency and the foreign currency at the date of the transaction.

At the end of each reporting period:

e foreign currency monetary items, including units of currency held by the Group and receivables and liabilities due in a defined or de-
finable units of currency shall be translated using the closing rate, i.e. the spot rate at the end of the reporting period;

* non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency shall be translated using the exchange rate
at the date of the transaction; and

* non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency shall be translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair value was determined.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at rates different from those at which
they were translated on initial recognition during the period or in previous financial statements shall be recognised by the Group
in consolidated profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for the monetary items which hedge the currency risk and are
accounted in accordance with the cash flow hedge accounting principles.

2.3.3. Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group include data of PKN ORLEN S.A., its subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities (joint
ventures) prepared as at the end of the same reporting period as unconsolidated financial statements of the Parent Company and using
uniform accounting principles in relation to similar transactions and other events in similar circumstances. Data of subsidiaries and jointly
controlled entities (joint ventures) that together do not significantly impact the financial statements of the Capital Group are not consolidated.



2.3.3.1. Investments in subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities under the Parent’s control. It is assumed that the Parent Company controls another entity if it holds directly

or undirectly — through its subsidiaries — more than 50% of the voting rights in an entity, unless in exceptional circumstances, it can be

clearly demonstrated that such ownership does not constitute control. Control also exists when the Parent Company owns half or less

of the voting power of an entity when there is:

* power over more than half of the voting rights by virtue of an agreement with other investors,

* power to govern the financial and operating policies of the entity under a statute or an agreement,

* power to appoint or remove the majority of the members of the board of directors or equivalent governing body and control
of the entity is by that board or body, or

* power to cast the majority of votes at meetings of the board of directors or equivalent governing body and control of the entity
is by that board or body.

Subsidiaries are consolidated using the full conolidation method.

Non-controlling interests shall be presented in the consolidated statement of financial position within equity, separately from the equity
of the owners of the Parent Company.

2.3.3.2. Investments in jointly controlled entities

A jointly controlled entity is a joint venture that involves the establishment of a corporation, partnership or other entity in which each
venturer has an interest. The entity operates in the same way as other entities, except that a contractual arrangement between the ven-
turers establishes joint control over the economic activity of the entity.

The existence of a contractual arrangement distinguishes interests that involve joint control from investments in associates in which
the investor has significant influence. The requirement ensures that no single venturer is in a position to control the activity unilaterally.

[t is assumed that the party has joint control when the strategic financial and operating decisions require the unanimous consent
of the parties sharing control. Investments in jointly controlled entities are accounted for using the proportionate method. The applica-
tion of proportionate consolidation means that the venturer assumes its proportionate share in assets, liabilities and equity, income
and expenses of the jointly controlled entity, which are added together with the like items in consolidated financial statements and then
performs adequate consolidation procedures, including eliminations. Intra group balances, revenues and expenses, as well as unrealized
profits and losses and cash flows from the transactions with jointly controlled entity are proportionately eliminated.

2.3.3.3. Investment in associates

Investments in associates (entities over which the investor has significant influence and that are neither controlled nor jointly controlled)
are accounted for using the equity method, based on financial statements of associates prepared as at the end of same reporting period
as unconsolidated financial statements of the Parent Company and using uniform accounting principles in relation to similar transactions
and other events in similar circumstances.

[t is assumed that the Investor has significant influence over another entity, if it has ability to participate in financial and operating decisions
of the entity. Particularly, the significant influence is evidenced when the Group holds directly or indirectly more than 20%, and no more
than 50% of the voting rights of an entity and participation in financial and operating decisions is not contractually or actually restrained
and is actually executed.

2.3.3.4. Consolidation procedures

The consolidated financial statements are prepared using the line by line method and the proportionate method. When investor has
significant influence over another entity, equity method is used to evaluate shares in entity.

Consolidated financial statements are the financial statements of a Group presented as those of a single economic entity.

In preparing consolidated financial statements using line by line method, an entity combines the financial statements of the Parent Com-
pany and its subsidiaries line by line by adding together like items of assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses and then performs
adequate consolidation procedures, including eliminations. Intra-group balances, revenues and expenses, as well as unrealized profits
and losses and cash flows from intra-group transactions are eliminated. Unrealized losses are eliminated after assets, to which they relate
are tested for impairment. Unrealized profits and losses are settled proportionately with non controlling interest.

In line by line method the following steps are then taken:

* the carrying amount of the Parent’s investment in each subsidiary and the Parent’s portion of equity of each subsidiary are eliminated,

* non-controlling interests in the profit or loss of consolidated subsidiaries for the reporting period are identified,

* non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified and presented separately from the parent’s owner-
ship interests in them,

intra group balances are eliminated,

unrealized profits or losses from intra group transactions are eliminated,

intra group revenues and expenses are eliminated.
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The application of proportionate consolidation means that the venturer assumes its proportionate share in assets, liabilities and equity,
income and expenses of the jointly controlled entity, which are added together with the like items in consolidated financial statements
and then performs adequate consolidation procedures, including eliminations. Intra group balances, revenues and expenses, as well
as unrealized profits and losses and cash flows from the transactions with jointly controlled entity are proportionately eliminated. Unreal-
ized losses are eliminated after assets, to which they relate are tested for impairment.

Under the equity method, the investment in an associate is initially recognised at cost and the carrying amount is increased or decreased
to recognise the investor’s share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition. The investor’s share of the profit
or loss of the investee is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss. Distributions received from an investee reduce the carrying amount
of the investment. Adjustments to the carrying amount may also be necessary for changes in the investor’s proportionate interest
in the investee arising from changes in the investee’s other comprehensive income. Such changes include those arising from the re-
valuation of property, plant and equipment and from foreign exchange translation differences. The investor’s share of those changes
is recognised in other comprehensive income of the investor.

2.3.4. Business combinations

An entity shall account for each business combination by applying the acquisition method. Applying the acquisition method requires:

¢ identifying the acquirer;

* determining the acquisition date;

* recognising and measuring the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and any non-controlling interest in the acquiree; and
* recognising and measuring goodwill or a gain from a bargain purchase.

Business combinations under common control (within the Group) are accounted by applying the acquisition method or uniting of interest
method, choosing the method that adequately reflects the economic nature of the transaction.

The fair value of assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities for the purpose of allocating the acquisition cost is determined in accordance
with principles set in attachment B to IFRS 3.

2.3.5. Operating segments

An operating segment is a component of an entity:

* that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses (including revenues and expenses relating
to transactions with other components of the same entity),

* whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the Group’s chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources
to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and

e for which discrete financial information is available.

The operations of the Group were divided into the following segments:

¢ the refining segment, which includes refinery products processing and wholesale, oil production and sale as well as supporting pro-
duction,

¢ the retail segment, which includes sales at petrol stations,

¢ the petrochemical segment, which includes the production and wholesale of petrochemicals and production and sale of chemicals

and corporate functions, which are reconciling items and include activities related to management and administration and other support

functions as well as remaining activities not allocated to separate segments.

Segment revenues are revenues reported in the statement of comprehensive income that are directly attributable to a segment
and the relevant portion of revenues that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to a segment, including revenues from sales to external
customers and revenues from transactions with other segments.

Segment expenses are expenses resulting from the operating activities of a segment that are directly attributable to the segment
and the relevant portion of the Group's expenses that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to a segment, including expenses relating
to sales to external customers and expenses relating to transactions with other segments.

Segment expenses do not include:

® income tax expense,

¢ interest, including interest incurred on advances or loans from other segments, unless the segment's operations are primarily of a fi-
nancial nature,

* losses on sales of investments or losses on extinguishment of debt unless the segment’s operations are primarily of a financial nature,

¢ general and administrative expenses and other expenses arising at the level of the Group as a whole, unless they are directly attribut-
able to the segment and can be allocated to the segment on a reasonable basis.

Segment result is calculated on the level of operating result.

Segment assets are those operating assets that are employed by that segment in operating activity and that are either directly attributable
to the segment or can be allocated to the segment on a reasonable basis. Particularly segment assets do not include assets connected
with income tax.



The revenues, result, assets of a given segment are defined before inter-segment adjustments are made, after adjustments within
a given segment.

Sales prices used in transactions between segments are close to market prices.

2.3.6. Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are assets that:
* are held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes, and
* are expected to be used during more than one period (one year or the operating cycle, if longer than one year).

Property, plant and equipment include both fixed assets (assets that are in the condition necessary for them to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management) as well as construction in progress (assets that are in the course of construction or develop-
ment necessary for them to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management).

Property, plant and equipment are initially stated at cost. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase
price, including any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset into use. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment includes
also the initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located, the obligation
for which is connected with acquisition or construction of an item of property, plant and equipment.

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position prepared at the end of the reporting period
at the carrying amount. The carrying amount is the amount at which an asset is initially recognised (cost) after deducting any accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation of an item of property, plant and equipment begins when it is available for use, ie when it is in the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management, over the period reflecting its estimated economic
useful life, considering the residual value. Fixed assets are depreciated with straight-line method and in justified cases units of production
method of depreciation. Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost
of the item is depreciated separately over the period reflecting its economic useful life.

The depreciable amount of an asset is determined after deducting its residual value from the initial value.

The following standard economic useful lives are used for property, plant and equipment:

Buildings and constructions 10-40 years
Machinery and equipment 4-35 years
Vehicles and other 2-20 years

Appropriateness of the applied depreciation rates is verified periodically (at least once a year). The adjustments are accounted for prospectively.

The cost of significant repairs and regular maintenance programs is recognised as property, plant and equipment and depreciated in ac-
cordance with their economic useful lives. The cost of current maintenance of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an expense
when it is incurred.

The Group assesses (once a year) the residual value of property, plant and equipment.

Property, plant and equipment are tested for impairment, when there are indicators or events that may imply that the carrying amount
of those assets may not be recoverable.

2.3.7. Investment property

An investment property shall be measured initially at its cost. Transaction costs shall be included in the initial measurement. The cost
of a purchased investment property comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable expenditure. Directly attributable expenditure
includes, for example, professional fees for legal services, property transfer taxes and other transaction costs. For internally constructed
investment property the cost is set at the date of construction completion when the asset is brought into use, in accordance with rules
set for property, plant and equipment.

After initial recognition, a Group shall measure all of its investment property at fair value, estimated based on a valuation performed
by and independent expert. Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable, willing parties
in an arm’s length transaction.

A gain or loss arising from a change in the fair value of investment property shall be recognised in profit or loss for the period in which
it arises. A Group determines fair value without any deduction for transaction costs it may incur on sale or other disposal.

If a Group determines that the fair value of an investment property is not reliably determinable on a continuing basis, the Group shall
measure that investment property in accordance with rules set for property, plant and equipment.

An investment property shall be derecognised on disposal or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no
future economic benefits are expected from its disposal.
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2.3.8. Intangible assets
An intangible asset is an identifiable non-monetary asset without physical substance.

An asset is identifiable if it either:

* is separable, i.e. is capable of being separated or divided from the Group and sold, transferred, licensed, rented or exchanged, either
individually or together with a related contract, identifiable asset or liability, or

* arises from contractual or other legal rights, regardless of whether those rights are transferable or separable from the Group.

An intangible asset shall be recognised if, and only if:
* it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the Group, and
* the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

If the definition criteria of an intangible asset are not met, the cost incurred to acquire or self develop an asset are recognised in profit
or loss when incurred. If an asset was acquired in a business combination it is part of a goodwill as at acquisition date.

An intangible asset shall be measured initially at cost. An intangible asset that is acquired in a business combination, is recognised initially
at fair value.

After initial recognition, an intangible asset shall be presented in the consolidated financial statements in its net carrying amount.

Intangible assets with finite useful life are amortised using straight-line method. Amortisation shall begin when the asset is available for use,
i.e. when it is in the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. The as-
set shall be amortised over the period reflecting its estimated useful life. The amortisation period and the amortisation method shall be
reviewed periodically (at least at each financial year-end). The changes are reflected in the future accounting periods (prospectively).

The depreciable amount of an asset with a finite useful life is determined after deducting its residual value. Excluding particular cases,
the residual value of an intangible asset with a finite useful life shall be assumed to be zero.

The following standard economic useful lives are used for intangible assets:

Concessions, licenses, patents and similar 2—15 years

Software 2-10 years

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life shall not be amortised. Their value is decreased by the eventual impairment allowances.
Additionally, the useful life of an intangible asset that is not being amortised shall be reviewed each period to determine whether events
and circumstances continue to support an indefinite useful life assessment for that asset.

2.3.8.1. Goodwill

Goodwill acquired in a business combination shall, from the acquisition date, be allocated to each of the acquirer’s cash-generating units,
(or groups of cash-generating units), that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units or groups of units.

The acquirer shall recognise goodwill as of the acquisition date measured as the excess of a) over b) below:

a) the aggregate of:

¢ the consideration transferred, which generally requires acquisition-date fair value;

¢ the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree; and — in a business combination achieved in stages, the acquisition-date
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree.

b) the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.

Occasionally, an acquirer will make a bargain purchase, which is a business combination in which the amount in point (b) exceeds the ag-
gregate of the amounts specified in point (a). If that excess remains, after reassessment of correct identification of all acquired assets
and liabilities, the acquirer shall recognise the resulting gain in profit or loss on the acquisition date as other operating profit for the period.

The acquirer shall measure goodwill in the amount recognised at the acquisition date less any accumulated impairment allowances.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated shall be tested for impairment annually, and whenever there is an indication
that the unit may be impaired. The annual impairment test may be performed at any time during an annual period, provided the test
is performed at the same time every year.

A cash-generating unit to which no goodwill has been allocated shall be tested for impairment only when there are indicators that
the cash-generating unit might be impaired.

An impairment loss recognised for goodwill shall not be reversed in a subsequent period.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the acquirer shall report in its consolidated financial statements provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete.
During the measurement period, the acquirer shall retrospectively adjust the provisional amounts recognised at the acquisition date



to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date and, if known, would have af-
fected the measurement of the amounts recognised as of that date. During the measurement period, the acquirer shall also recognise
additional assets or liabilities if new information is obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date and,
if known, would have resulted in the recognition of those assets and liabilities as of that date. The measurement period ends as soon
as the acquirer receives the information it was seeking about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date or learns that
more information is not obtainable. However, the measurement period shall not exceed one year from the acquisition date.

2.3.8.2. Rights

Carbon dioxide emission rights (CO,)
CO, emission rights are initially recognised as intangible assets, which are not amortised (assuming the high residual value), but tested
for impairment.

Granted emission allowances should be presented as separate items as intangible assets in correspondence with deferred income at fair value
as at the date of registration (grant in scope of IAS 20). Purchased allowances should be presented as intangible assets at purchase price.

For the estimated CO, emission during the reporting period, a provision should be created in operating activity costs (taxes and charges).

Grants should be recognised on a systematic basis to ensure proportionality with the related costs which the grants are intended
to compensate. Consequently, the cost of recognition of the provision in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income is com-
pensated by a decrease of deferred income (grants) with taking into consideration the proportion of the estimated quantity of emission
(accumulated) to the quantity of evaluated annual emission. The surplus of grant over the estimated emission in the reporting period
is recognised as other operating income.

Granted/purchased CO, emission allowances are amorised against the book value of provision, as its settlement. Outgoing of allowances
is recognised using FIFO method (first in, first out).

Nitrous suboxid